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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Baker Hughes Company ("Baker Hughes," "the Company," "we," "us," or "our") is an energy technology company with a diversified portfolio of technologies and services that
span the energy and industrial value chain. Built on a century of experience and conducting business in over 120 countries, our innovative technologies and services are taking
energy forward.

OUR VISION & STRATEGY

With the breadth of our portfolio, leading technology, and unique partnership models, we are positioned to deliver outcome-based solutions across the energy and industrial
markets. By integrating health, safety & environment ("HSE") into everything we do, we protect our people, our customers, and the environment.

The oil and gas macroeconomic environment continues to be complex. While we believe that the world's reliance on hydrocarbons will not disappear, and oil and gas will
continue to remain relevant in meeting global energy demand, we also acknowledge the need to transition to new energy sources. Over the last several years, this transition has
been progressing, with governments and society focused on a long-term goal of net-zero emissions while trying to balance the "energy trilemma" - energy security, sustainability,
and affordability. There is a growing consensus that the energy transition will likely take longer than many expected due to the energy trilemma.

We believe the industry is going through a transformation that requires a change in how we work with our existing and new customers expecting new partnerships and
commercial models and new technology solutions to deliver sustainable productivity improvements and leverage economies of scale, with a lower carbon footprint. That is why our
strategy is focused on improving our core competitiveness and delivering higher-productivity solutions today, while positioning to lead the energy transition and solving the energy
trilemma. Our unique portfolio is expected to benefit regardless of how quickly the energy transition develops.

Our strategy is based on three key pillars:

• Transform the core: We are transforming our current business to improve margins and cash flow, which we are achieving through portfolio rationalization, cost
improvement, and new business models.

• Invest for growth: We are driving organic and inorganic growth in high potential markets where we have a strong position, including industrial power and processes,
industrial asset management, non-metallics, and chemicals.

• Position for new energy frontiers: We are making strategic investments to drive lower carbon emissions in the energy and industrial sectors, including hydrogen;
geothermal; carbon capture, utilization and storage ("CCUS"); and clean power solutions.

We expect to benefit from our strategy in the following ways:

• Scope and scale: We have a global presence and a broad, diversified portfolio. Our products, services, and expertise serve the upstream, midstream/liquefied natural gas
("LNG") and downstream sectors of the oil and gas industry, as well as broader chemical and industrial segments. We deliver through our two operating segments: Oilfield
Services & Equipment ("OFSE") and Industrial & Energy Technology ("IET") as discussed below under "Products and Services," and each are among the top providers for
the majority of the product lines in the markets they serve.

• Technology: Our culture is built on a heritage of innovation and invention through research and development, with complementary capabilities. Technology remains a
differentiator for us, and a key enabler to drive the efficiency and productivity gains our customers need. We also have a range of technologies that support our customers'
efforts to reduce their carbon footprint. We remain committed to investing in our products and services to maintain our leadership position across our offerings, including
$658 million research and development ("R&D") spend and being granted more than 2,000 patents worldwide in 2023. We have also made strategic acquisitions to
strengthen our core technology portfolio, including Altus Intervention which adds significant well intervention capabilities to our OFSE segment.

Baker Hughes Company 2023 Form 10-K | 1



• Energy transition solutions: We are positioned to support our customers' efforts to reduce their carbon footprint with a range of emissions-abatement products and
services, which we refer to as "new energy." This includes more efficient power generation and compression technology, as well as sensor technology that reduces flaring
and overall carbon emissions, technology for CCUS, hydrogen production, transportation, storage and distribution, and geothermal solutions. Over the past several years,
we have made progress in strategic investments and acquisitions in emerging energy technologies to advance CCUS, hydrogen, clean power and e-fuels with companies
such as Mosaic, Nemesys, HIF Global, and NET Power, among others. We also continue to expand our low to zero-carbon solutions capabilities, helping customers to
detect, quantify, and reduce emissions more efficiently and accurately, and complementing our existing solutions available today.

• Digital capabilities: We expect to benefit from the emerging demand for intelligent operations and artificial intelligence ("AI") based solutions as part of our customers'
digital transformation initiatives. In 2023, we launched several key digital solutions across our portfolio for existing customers, including Cordant™ for industrial and energy
customers and the Leucipa™ automated field production solution for oilfield customers. We also continued our investments in digital partners, including Corva. In addition to
enhancing our technology portfolio with new AI applications, we are embedding digital elements in our core OFSE product lines, helping them to deliver efficiency,
predictability, and a better experience for our customers and ourselves.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Our two operating segments are organized based on the nature of our markets and customers and consist of similar products and services and growth profiles. We sell to our
customers through direct and indirect channels. Our primary sales channel is through our direct sales force, which has a strong regional focus with local teams close to the
customer, who are able to draw support from centers of excellence in each of our major product lines. Our products and services are sold in highly competitive markets and the
competitive environment varies by product line. See discussion below by segment.

Oilfield Services & Equipment

The OFSE segment designs and manufactures products and provides related services for onshore and offshore oilfield operations across the lifecycle of an asset, ranging from
exploration, appraisal, and development to production, rejuvenation, and decommissioning.

Beyond its traditional oilfield concentration, OFSE is also expanding its capabilities and technology portfolio to meet the challenges of the energy transition, including focusing
on new energy areas, such as geothermal and CCUS, strengthening its digital architecture, and addressing key energy market themes.

The OFSE segment is organized into four product lines.

• Well Construction focuses on drilling and includes drilling services (directional drilling, logging-while-drilling, surface logging, and remote operations), drill bits
(polycrystalline, roller cone, hybrid, and in-bit sensing), and drilling & completion fluids (emulsion-based, water-based, specialty, drill-in, and completion fluids; and waste
management).

• Completions, Intervention, & Measurements encompasses completions (wellbore construction, upper and lower completions, unconventional multistage completions,
intelligent production systems, workover systems, and fishing and through-tubing services), pressure pumping (cementing, production enhancement, coiled tubing, and
tubular running services), and wireline services (openhole logging services, cased-hole logging services, and perforating and drill stem-testing services).

• Production Solutions spans artificial lift systems (electrical submersible pumping systems, surface pumping systems, rigless deployment systems, and sensors and
gauges) and oilfield & industrial chemicals (upstream, downstream, and Aquaness  wholesale chemicals).

• Subsea & Surface Pressure Systems includes subsea projects and services (subsea trees, controls, manifolds, wellheads, premium casing connectors, installation and
commissioning, repairs and

TM
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maintenance, well intervention, life-of-field solutions, and plug and abandonment), flexible pipe systems (subsea risers, subsea flowlines and jumpers, onshore reinforced
thermoplastic pipe, and rehabilitation), and surface pressure control systems (surface trees and wellheads).

These product lines are supported by an OFSE digital group, which combines the segment's domain expertise with a deep understanding of digital technology to improve
operational safety, performance, and sustainability. Reservoir analysis proficiencies are rooted in evaluation technologies, a team of reservoir experts, and software. Together, these
capabilities provide customers with a greater understanding of the subsurface, enabling smoother, faster drilling and precise wellbore placement that can lead to improved recovery
and project economics. OFSE also provides integrated well services and solutions to plan and execute projects ranging from well construction and production through well
abandonment, in addition to integrated services and solutions for the subsea environment.

OFSE customers include large integrated major and super-major oil and natural gas companies; U.S. and international independent oil and natural gas companies; national or
state-owned oil and natural gas companies; engineering, procurement, and construction contractors; geothermal companies; and other oilfield services companies. OFSE believes
that its principal competitive differentiators in the industries and markets it serves are the quality, efficiency, reliability, and availability of its products and services. A continued
commitment to service delivery, HSE standards, technical proficiency, and competitive pricing is also a key factor in its success.

OFSE products and services are sold in highly competitive markets. While OFSE may have contracts that include multiple well projects and that may extend over a period
ranging from two to four years, its services and products are generally provided on a well-by-well basis. Most contracts cover pricing of the products and services, along with various
limitations on liability, but do not necessarily establish an obligation to use OFSE products and services. OFSE competitors include SLB and Halliburton (Well Construction;
Completions, Intervention, & Measurements; Production Solutions; Subsea & Surface Pressure Systems); ChampionX (Production Solutions); and TechnipFMC, Aker Solutions,
and NOV (Subsea & Surface Pressure Systems).

Industrial & Energy Technology

The IET segment combines a broad array of domain expertise, technologies, software, and services for energy customers including on-and offshore, LNG, pipeline and gas
storage, refining, petrochemical, distributed gas, nuclear, hydrogen, carbon capture, utilization and storage, clean power and renewables. It also provides cutting edge technology
for consumers of energy and/or organizations who are reliant on infrastructure integrity. IET solutions unlock the ability to transform, transfer, and transport energy efficiently, while
capturing and cutting emissions, addressing a fundamental challenge behind the energy trilemma: reducing environmental impact, while maximizing efficiency, safety, productivity,
reliability and availability.

Effective October 1, 2023, IET re-aligned its product lines and began operating through five product lines - Gas Technology Equipment, Gas Technology Services, Industrial
Products, Industrial Solutions, and Climate Technology Solutions.

•    Gas Technology Equipment delivers highly efficient mechanical and electric drive compression and power generation technology for projects across the natural gas value
chain. The product line's portfolio includes drivers, driven equipment, flow control, and turnkey solutions:

• Drivers include aero-derivative gas turbines, heavy-duty gas turbines, small- to medium-sized industrial gas turbines, steam turbines, and hot gas and
turboexpanders.

• Driven equipment includes generators and reciprocating, centrifugal, integrated zero emission compressors, and centrifugal pumps.

• Turnkey solutions includes power generation and gas compression modules, waste heat/energy/pressure recovery, energy storage, modularized small and large
liquefaction plants, CO2 compression, and storage/use solutions.

• Gas Technology Services provides advanced aftermarket support and uptime availability in critical environments and through every stage of our customers' equipment
and plant lifecycle. The product line's portfolio includes:
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• Designing, manufacturing, maintaining, upgrading rotating equipment combining sophisticated hardware technologies with enterprise-class software products.

• Analytics to connect customers' assets, providing them with the data, safety and security needed to improve operations reliably and efficiently.

• Genuine spare parts, system upgrades, conversion solutions, digital advanced services, and turnkey solutions to refurbish and improve the output from a single
machine up to an entire plant.

• Industrial Products includes a broad portfolio of component products and service offerings that enable industrial safety and productivity across diverse industry verticals.
The product line's portfolio includes:

• Waygate Technologies, which comprises non-destructive testing technology, software, and services, including industrial radiography, ultrasonic sensors, testing
machines and gauges, non-destructive testing film, and remote visual inspection.

• Process & Pipeline Services, which comprises pre-commissioning and maintenance services to improve throughput and asset integrity for process facilities and
pipelines as well as inline inspection solutions to support pipeline integrity.

• Valves and Gears, which comprises flow technology including industrial valves, regulators, control systems, gears and other flow and process control technologies.

• Industrial Solutions offers a unique suite of hardware, software, and edge device solutions that enable asset performance and process optimization. Industrial Solutions
combines several product lines to leverage our critical equipment hardware capability to migrate to full plant offerings and through Cordant, a full-stack, edge-to-enterprise
solution that encompasses our hardware, software and services offerings. The product line's portfolio includes:

• Precision Sensors & Instrumentation device technology including the Panametrics®, Druck®, and Reuter-Stokes® product brands, provides instrumentation and
sensor-based technologies to better detect and analyze pressure, flow, gas, moisture, radiation, and related conditions.

• Condition Monitoring includes the Bently Nevada® and System 1® product brands, providing rack-based vibrating monitoring equipment and sensors for both
power generation and oil and gas operations, as well as industrial applications. The product line also provides integrated asset performance management.

• Climate Technology Solutions ("CTS") includes CCUS, hydrogen, clean power, and emissions abatement capabilities to enable energy operators as well as users of
energy in the broader industry, in particular the hard-to-abate sectors, to achieve their emission reduction goals. This product line is the primary driver of the Company's new
energy orders and is designed to accelerate the decarbonization of both energy and hard-to-abate industries.

IET customers for Gas Technology Equipment and Gas Technology Services product lines are upstream, midstream, and downstream, onshore, and offshore, and small to large
scale. Midstream and downstream customers include LNG plants, pipelines, storage facilities, refineries, and a wide range of industrial and engineering, procurement, and
construction companies. Products and services for the remaining IET product lines are primarily sold in a diversified arena to a broad range of customers and across multiple
verticals including aerospace, automotive, nuclear, oil and gas, mining, cement, metals, refinery and petrochemical, food and beverage, pulp & paper, and textile.

IET believes that its principal competitive factors in the industries and markets it serves are product range coverage, product technology, efficiency, product reliability and quality,
availability, project execution and service capabilities, emissions, and price. IET differentiates itself from competitors with its expertise in technology and project management, local
presence, and partnerships, to provide fully integrated equipment and services solutions with state-of-art technology from design and manufacture through to operations.

IET competes across a wide range of industries, including oil and gas, power generation, aerospace, and light and heavy industrials. IET competitors for Gas Technology
Equipment product line includes Siemens Energy, Solar (a Caterpillar company), and MAN Energy Solutions. Our Gas Technology Services product line competes with
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independent service providers such as Masaood John Brown, EthosEnergy, and Sulzer. IET competitors for the Industrial Products product line include Emerson, Flowserve, and
Metso Outotec. Competitors for the Industrial Solutions product line include Emerson, Honeywell Process Solutions, and ABB. CTS competitors are varied across application. For
CCUS, competitors include Aker Carbon Capture, Svante, and SLB. For hydrogen, competitors include Siemens Energy, Howden (a Chart Industries company), and Burckhardt.

CONTRACTS

We conduct our business under various types of contracts in the upstream, midstream, and downstream sectors of the oil and gas industry, including fixed-fee or turnkey
contracts, transactional agreements for products and services, and long-term aftermarket service agreements. We also conduct business in a number of industrial markets and
provide critical equipment hardware capability for full plant offerings, asset performance management and process optimization.

We benefit from stable relationships with many of our customers based on long-term project contracts and master service agreements. Several of those contracts require us to
commit to a fixed price based on the customer's technical specifications with little or no relief available due to changes in circumstances. In some cases, failure to deliver products or
perform services within contractual commitments may lead to liquidated damages claims. We seek to mitigate these exposures through close collaboration with our customers.

We strive to negotiate the terms of our customer contracts consistent with what we consider to be industry best practices. In connection with oil & gas operations, our customers
typically indemnify us for certain claims arising from: the injury or death of their employees and often their contractors; the loss of or damage to their facility and equipment, and
often that of their contractors; pollution originating from their equipment or facility; and all liabilities related to the well and subsurface operations, including loss or damage to the well
or reservoir, loss of well control, fire, explosion, or any uncontrolled flow of oil or gas. Conversely, we typically indemnify our customers for certain claims arising from: the injury or
death of our employees and often that of our subcontractors; the loss of or damage to our equipment; and surface pollution originating from our equipment while under our control.
Where the above indemnities do not apply or are not consistent with industry best practices (e.g., in connection with industrial and/or digital sectors), we typically provide a capped
indemnity for damages caused to the customer by our negligence and include an overall limitation of liability clause. It is also our general practice to include a limitation of liability for
consequential loss, including loss of profits and loss of revenue, in all customer contracts.

Our indemnity structure may not protect us in every case. Certain U.S. states have enacted oil and natural gas specific anti-indemnity statutes that can void the allocation of
liability agreed to in a contract. Applicable law or the negotiated terms of a customer contract may also limit indemnity obligations in the event of gross negligence or willful
misconduct, or in the event of breaches of applicable laws or breach of confidentiality and/or intellectual property rights. We sometimes contract with customers that are not the end
user of our products. It is our practice to seek to obtain an indemnity from our customer for any end-user claims, but this is not always possible. Similarly, government agencies and
other third parties may make claims in respect of which we are not indemnified and for which responsibility is assessed proportionate to fault. We have an established process to
review any risk deviations from our standard contracting practices.

The Company maintains a commercial general liability insurance policy program that covers against certain operating hazards, including product liability claims and personal
injury claims, as well as certain limited environmental pollution claims for damage to a third party or its property arising out of contact with pollution for which the Company is liable;
however, clean up and well control costs are not covered by such program. All of the insurance policies purchased by the Company are subject to deductible and/or self-insured
retention amounts for which we are responsible for payment, specific terms, conditions, limitations, and exclusions. There can be no assurance that the nature and amount of
Company insurance will be sufficient to fully indemnify us against liabilities related to our business.
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ORDERS AND REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

Remaining performance obligations, a defined term under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"), are unfilled customer orders for products and product
services excluding any purchase order that provides the customer with the ability to cancel or terminate without incurring a substantive penalty, even if the likelihood of cancellation
is remote based on historical experience. For product services, an amount is included for the expected life of the contract.

We recognized orders of $30.5 billion and $26.8 billion in 2023 and 2022, respectively. We recognized OFSE orders of $16.3 billion and $14.1 billion, and IET orders of $14.2
billion and $12.7 billion in 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the remaining performance obligations totaled $33.5 billion. As of December 31, 2023, OFSE
remaining performance obligations totaled $3.5 billion, and IET remaining performance obligations totaled $29.9 billion.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We engage in R&D activities across both operating segments directed toward the development of new products, services, technology, and other solutions, as well as bringing
about a significant improvement to existing products and services, and the design of specialized products to meet specific customer needs. We also continue to invest and develop
a range of technologies that support our customers' efforts to reduce their carbon footprint. For the year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred $658 million of R&D expense.

In OFSE, we continue to fund a range of formation evaluation, drilling, completions, and production capabilities and products. In parallel, and in strong collaboration with the IET
technology organization, we are investing in strategic themes that fuel our future product and service portfolios. These include themes such as digital, automation, electrification,
chemistry and materials, electronics, CCUS, and geothermal.

Specifically for OFSE, in our Well Construction product line, we are improving reliability in high-temperature and high shock and vibration environments (harsh-drilling
conditions), through a combination of optimized design, automated operations, and integrated solutions that leverage our drilling tools, drill bits, and drilling fluids technologies. In
our Completions, Intervention, and Measurements product line, we are investing in intelligent solutions and advanced measurements while creating a leadership position in the well-
intervention domain through the integration of our wireline measurement capabilities with the conveyance and intervention capabilities. In our Production Solutions product line, we
are leveraging our artificial lift technologies with our chemical solutions to provide an optimized and automated portfolio of production-enhancing solutions. In our Subsea and
Surface Pressure Solutions product line, we continue to develop subsea production systems that improve performance and reduce emissions through lighter design, automated
operations, and electrification. Our offshore flexible pipe systems optimized for higher pressure temperature and CO2 content continue to deliver greater sustainability and
performance.

In IET, we continue to invest in and develop foundational technologies which will enable our journey for the energy transition. Such technologies include advanced materials,
advanced manufacturing technologies, novel process technologies, and digital technologies such as advanced sensing & diagnostics, data sciences, and artificial intelligence.
Within Gas Technology Equipment and Gas Technology Services product lines, we are focusing on our latest generation of gas turbines for energy efficiency and reduced carbon
footprint such as our LM9000  and Nova LT  products, as well as Allam Cycle turboexpander, CCUS, and hydrogen and geothermal technologies. Within Industrial Technology,
we are investing in advanced digital solutions designed to improve the efficiency, reliability, and safety of oil and gas, aerospace, energy, and broader industrial production and
operations. This includes our Orbit 60 Bently Nevada product for critical asset monitoring in turbine systems, including wind, hydro, and gas turbines. The IET segment is also
enhancing its process and safety valve business bringing new digital applications including analytics to our customers. Investments in Industrial Technology also include
technologies to measure, monitor, and minimize carbon emissions, new inspection technologies for nondestructive evaluation of materials and structures as well as solutions for
industrial asset management.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Our technology, brands and other intellectual property ("IP") rights are important elements of our business. We rely on patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret laws, as
well as non-disclosure and employee invention

TM TM

Baker Hughes Company 2023 Form 10-K | 6



assignment agreements to protect our IP rights. Many patents and patent applications comprise the Baker Hughes portfolio and are owned by us. Other patents and patent
applications applicable to our products and services are licensed to us by General Electric ("GE") and, in some cases, third parties. In particular, we have an IP cross-license
agreement with GE that allows both parties to have continued and permanent rights to commercially utilize certain IP of the other pursuant to the terms of the agreement. The IP
cross-licenses remain in place following GE exiting its ownership position in us. We do not consider any individual patent to be material to our business operations.

We follow a policy of seeking patent and trademark protection in numerous countries and regions throughout the world for products and methods that appear to have
commercial significance. We believe that maintenance, protection and enforcement of our patents, trademarks, and related IP rights is central to the conduct of our business, and
aggressively pursue protection of our IP rights against infringement, misappropriation, or other violation worldwide as may be necessary to protect our business. Additionally, we
consider the quality and timely delivery of our products, the service we provide to our customers, and the technical knowledge and skills of our personnel to be other important
components of the portfolio of capabilities and assets supporting our ability to compete.

SEASONALITY

Our operations can be affected by seasonal events, which can temporarily affect the delivery and performance of our products and services, and our customers' budgetary
cycles. Examples of seasonal events that can impact our business are set forth below:

• In OFSE, adverse weather conditions, such as hurricanes in the Gulf of Mexico or extreme heat in the Middle East during the summer months, may impact our operations or
our customers' operations, cause supply disruptions and result in a loss of revenue and/or damage to our equipment and facilities, which may or may not be insured. For
more information on seasonal and weather conditions, see the "Operational Risks" section of Part 1 of Item 1A herein.

• Severe weather during the winter months normally results in reduced activity levels in the North Sea in OFSE generally in the first quarter and may interrupt or curtail our
operations, or our customers' operations, in those areas and result in a loss of revenue.

• Many of our international OFSE customers may increase activity for certain products and services in the fourth quarter as they seek to fully utilize their annual budgets.

• Our broader IET businesses typically experience higher customer activity as a result of spending patterns in the second half of the year.

RAW MATERIALS

We purchase various raw materials and component parts for use in manufacturing our products and delivering our services. The principal raw materials we use include steel
alloys, chromium, nickel, titanium, barite, beryllium, copper, lead, tungsten carbide, synthetic and natural diamonds, gels, sand and other proppants, printed circuit boards and other
electronic components, and hydrocarbon-based chemical feed stocks. Raw materials that are essential to our business are normally readily available from multiple sources but may
be subject to price volatility. We have also seen prices remain elevated for ferrous and non-ferrous metals and other raw materials. Our procurement teams utilize advanced
planning and may enter into strategic agreements with our global suppliers to minimize price impacts and other availability challenges. We anticipate some pricing and fulfillment
volatility for certain raw materials, components, and certain logistics lanes to continue through 2024.

In addition to raw materials and component parts, we also use the products and services of metal fabricators, machine shops, foundries, forge shops, assembly operations,
contract manufacturers, logistics providers, packagers, indirect material providers, and others in order to produce and deliver products to customers. These materials and services
are generally available from multiple sources.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE ("ESG")

Environmental

We believe we have an important role to play in society as an industry leader and partner. We view ESG as a lever to transform the performance of our Company. In 2019, we
made a commitment to reduce Scope 1 and 2 carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from our operations by 50% by 2030 and achieve net-zero emissions by 2050. This goal
encompasses emissions from our operations ("Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions") in alignment with the Paris Agreement and the specific recommendations of the United Nations
("UN") Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5 C.

We continue to make progress on emissions reductions. We reported in our 2022 Corporate Sustainability Report a 28% reduction in our Scope 1 and 2 carbon dioxide
equivalent emissions compared to our 2019 base year. This reduction was primarily due to implementing energy efficiency initiatives, facility consolidation, increasing electric power
consumption from renewable energy sources, and improvements in our vehicle fleet, among other reasons. We plan to continue to employ a broad range of emissions reduction
initiatives across manufacturing, supply chain, logistics, energy sourcing, and generation. Our latest Corporate Sustainability report is available on the Company section of our
website at www.bakerhughes.com. Information contained on or connected to our website is not incorporated by reference into this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2023 ("Annual Report") and should not be considered part of this Annual Report or any other filing we make with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

Our sustainability commitments include our formal participation in the UN Global Compact ("UNGC") and our commitment to the UNGC's Ten Principles including human rights,
labor, environment, and anti-corruption, as well as the UNGC's Sustainable Development Goals. We have annually renewed our commitment to the UNGC since joining in 2019.

Social & Human Capital

At Baker Hughes, our people are central contributors to our purpose of taking energy forward. As an energy technology company with operations around the world, we believe
that a diverse workforce is critical to our success, and we aim to attract the best and most diverse talent to support the energy transition. We strive to be an inclusive and safe
workplace, with opportunities for our employees to grow and develop in their careers, supported by learning and development opportunities, competitive compensation, benefits,
health and wellness programs, and by programs that build connections between our employees and their communities.

As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately 58,000 employees. More than 45,000 of our employees work outside the U.S. in over 85 different countries with more than 155
nationalities represented. This diversity of global perspectives makes our Company stronger, more resilient, and more responsive to our global customers.

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion ("DEI")

We believe unique ideas and perspectives fuel innovation and our differences make us stronger. We value difference in gender, race, ethnicity, age, gender identity, sexual
orientation, ability, cultural background, religion, veteran status, experience, thought, and more across the globe. We recognize the importance of diverse teams, an equitable
workplace and an inclusive culture in driving innovation and competitiveness as both are critical to our business success and our mission of taking energy forward for our customers
and the industry. We believe that our DEI strategic framework and our commitment to DEI will enable us to continue to recruit and retain a diverse workforce, promote an inclusive
culture, expand our supplier diversity, and be a stronger partner to our customers and our community.

As we continue to prioritize DEI, we are focused on progressing on diversity, equity and inclusion across our organization, with a particular emphasis on supporting gender
representation. In 2023, the percentage of people who identify as women in our workforce, senior leadership positions, and on the Board of Directors ("the Board"), was 19%, 18%,
and 33%, respectively. Specific to the U.S., 38% of our employees identify as people of color.

We work to ensure we have access to and support diverse pipelines of talent across the globe while prioritizing development and retention. We hold leadership accountable for
integrating DEI principles into their respective parts

o

Baker Hughes Company 2023 Form 10-K | 8



of the business. Our enterprise-wide strategy allows us to measure the outcomes and progress of our DEI efforts, assign goals, develop accountability, and ensure transparency.
And our corporate memberships with respected nonprofits, such as Ally Energy, Catalyst, Disability:IN, and the Women's Energy Network, provide partnership and guidance to
support our goals. Our talent acquisition efforts as well as our eight global employee resource groups support the engagement, development and retention of diverse talent.

Talent Acquisition: We have enacted a number of initiatives to support our global goals related to DEI. We have conducted training on unconscious bias and have launched
pilot projects on blind resumes and debiasing job descriptions, interview templates, and assessments as well as expanded our talent acquisition focus to include executive search
services and initiatives with universities to expand our new talent pipeline.

Employee Resource Groups ("ERGs"): ERGs consist of employees who have joined together based on shared interests, characteristics, or life experiences. These groups
can have a powerful influence on driving change by elevating the conversation and awareness around key issues and engaging with the communities where we operate while also
providing opportunities for employee development, education, and professional growth. In 2023, we continued our support of the ERGs in several ways, including the opportunity for
ERGs to nominate charitable organizations to receive grants from the Baker Hughes Foundation. We also formalized and enhanced support and impact for our five communities of
interest groups, which bring together employees based on shared interests and enable employees to share information and ideas, find opportunities to participate in philanthropy
and volunteerism, and learn best practices by engaging with colleagues on a specific topic or area of interest. These efforts have helped our DEI focus and have fostered closer
connections between employees in communities around the world.

Inclusive Culture: We have several programs and initiatives that cultivate an inclusive culture. The Baker Hughes Culture & Inclusion Council, comprised of executives across
the organization, supports the success of our DEI mission and workplace culture ambitions and meets regularly to review progress and discuss ways in which to continue to
advance our efforts. The DEI Community of Practice facilitates sharing best practices across the enterprise. Our DEI Knowledge Center, located on the Baker Hughes intranet,
enables us to provide our workforce with tools, resources, and learning opportunities that raise awareness, foster inclusive behaviors, and build cross-cultural competences.

Compensation and Benefits

We are committed to paying for performance and supporting our employees' wellbeing, as well as the wellbeing of their families, by offering flexible and competitive benefits
tailored by location to meet the specific needs of our employees. We regularly assess our total compensation and benefits programs through benchmarking with industry peers and
local markets. We strive to ensure that our compensation programs are fair and equitable for all employees. Healthcare plans and life insurance are a core benefit of the Company
and are provided in most locations. Baker Hughes offers various leaves of absence options for certain quality-of-life needs, including family care. We also continue to assess and
provide programs that support our employees' work arrangements such as flexible schedules, compressed work weeks, hybrid work, remote work, and other options.

Learning and Development

Learning and Development is a personal journey at Baker Hughes. We empower our employees to follow their passion for personal knowledge, job related skills, development,
and the domain expertise needed for professional and personal growth. In alignment with this, in 2023, we built upon the progress in our social learning communities, by
transitioning to an improved learning delivery platform. This change in the learning ecosystem simplified the user experience for our learners and enabled rich analytics for the team
to continuously make the learning experience more engaging, impactful, and easy.

Our learning communities CORE Values, CORE Strengths and JOURNEY continue to provide opportunities for all employees to learn, share and practice their learning with
their peers no matter where they are in their career. CORE Values, is a curated learning space centered around our Baker Hughes Values: Grow, Care, Collaborate, and Lead, and
the behaviors associated with each. CORE Strengths adds focus to the critical skills (for example Data Analytics, Project Management, Change Management) that will help
transform our organization, and JOURNEY is targeted for people leaders to help them transition into their leadership roles. We continue to offer in-person learning opportunities to
complement the robust virtual learning catalog with workshops and team development.
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Our formal leadership development programs play a pivotal role in attracting, retaining, and developing talent and increasing the pipeline of diverse talent into and within the
organization. As an example, Aspire is a two-year rotational leadership program for recent graduates and early-career employees to grow functional and leadership skills through
challenging assignments, learning plans, and global cross-functional projects.

Health, Safety, Environment, and Wellness

HSE is at the core of our culture as we are committed to doing the right thing to protect our employees, customers, the communities where we live and work, and the
environment. We take a risk-based approach with proactive and preventive programs to deliver safe, secure, and sustainable operations. We have established a stringent set of
standards which meet or exceed global HSE regulatory requirements.

Our commitment to HSE starts at the highest levels of our Company and is embedded throughout all layers of the organization. We encourage and empower all employees to
take an active role in "owning" HSE by stopping work when conditions and/or behaviors are unsafe and reporting observations, near misses, and stop-work events through open
reporting channels. Our employees are required to complete recurring HSE training. We offer over 200 unique HSE courses including foundational training required for all
employees, workplace and job-specific training, and human-performance leadership training for managers. Our ambition is to make every day a "Perfect HSE Day"—one without
serious injuries, accidents, or harm to the environment. In 2023, we achieved 199 Perfect HSE Days, down 8% versus 2022.

Our commitment to HSE goes beyond safety alone. Occupational health and wellness is a key competency jointly managed within our HSE and Human Resources ("HR")
teams. The importance of physical health, ergonomics, preventative health care, and mental wellness cannot be overstated in promoting a healthy, engaged, and productive
workplace. We work with our health benefit providers and internal teams to offer employees health and wellness programs, telemedicine access, health screenings, immunizations,
fitness reimbursements, and virtual wellness tools.

In 2023, the mental health and emotional well-being of our employees continued to be a critical priority. We hosted numerous events with Baker Hughes leaders and external
experts, further embedded mental well-being into leadership engagements, and provided resources and tools to employees. Our Employee Assistance Program ("EAP") provides
employees and their family members direct access to professional coaches for in-the-moment counseling or referrals to community experts and extended care providers to navigate
daily life and cope with major life events.

Community Involvement

Baker Hughes seeks to make a positive impact in the communities where we conduct business around the world. Consistent with our purpose and values, we work to advance
environmental quality, educational opportunities, health, and wellness. We benefit our communities through financial contributions, in-kind donations of goods and services, and
volunteer projects. The Baker Hughes Foundation makes strategic philanthropic contributions, matches Baker Hughes employee charitable contributions, and awards volunteer
recognition grants for outstanding employee community service.

Governance

The Board believes the purpose of corporate governance is to maximize shareholder value in a manner consistent with legal requirements and the highest standards of integrity.
The Board has adopted and adheres to corporate governance practices, which the Board and management believe promote this purpose, are sound, and represent best practices.
The Board periodically reviews these governance practices, Delaware law (the state in which the Company is incorporated), the rules and listing standards of Nasdaq and the SEC
regulations, as well as best practices suggested by recognized governance authorities.

The Board monitors and provides oversight over our ESG policies, programs, and practices regarding corporate responsibility and sustainability and plays an active role in
overseeing our human capital management efforts. Our Human Capital and Compensation Committee provides oversight of our social strategy, policies, programs, and initiatives
focusing on DEI as well as pay equity, culture, talent development, succession planning, and executive compensation and benefits. Our Governance and Corporate Responsibility
Committee provides oversight of the
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Company's environmental matters, including monitoring its sustainability strategy and initiatives, the management of employee health, safety, and wellness matters, and oversight of
our positions on corporate social responsibilities and public issues of significance which affect investors and other key stakeholders. The Audit Committee provides oversight over
the Company's risk assessment and risk management policies and processes, including data privacy, and compliance reporting.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION

Environmental Matters

We are committed to the health and safety of people, protection of the environment and compliance with environmental laws, regulations and our policies. Our past and present
operations include activities that are subject to extensive domestic (including U.S. federal, state and local) and international regulations concerning, among other things, air and
water quality, waste management, occupational health and safety, and land protection. Environmental regulations continue to evolve, and changes in standards of enforcement of
existing regulations, as well as the enactment of new legislation, may require us and our customers to modify, supplement or replace equipment or facilities, obtain new or updated
permits to conduct regulated activities, initiate investigatory and/or remedial measures, apply specific HSE criteria addressing employee protection and/or to change or discontinue
present methods of operation. Our environmental compliance expenditures and our capital costs for environmental control equipment may change accordingly.

Ongoing environmental compliance costs, such as obtaining environmental permits, installation and maintenance of pollution control equipment and waste disposal, are
expensed as incurred. Based upon current information, we believe that our overall environmental regulatory compliance obligations, including investigatory and/or remediation
obligations, environmental compliance costs and capital expenditures for environmental control equipment, will not have a material adverse effect on our capital expenditures,
earnings or competitive position because we have either established adequate reserves or our compliance cost, based on available information, is not expected to be material to our
consolidated financial statements.

While we seek to embed and verify sound environmental practices throughout our business, we are, and may in the future be, involved in investigation and/or remediation
projects at current and former properties, typically related to historical operations and operations of our predecessor companies. In some cases, our remediation activities are
conducted as specified by a government agency-issued consent decree or agreed order. Remediation costs at these properties are accrued using currently available facts, existing
environmental permits, technology and presently enacted laws and regulations. For sites where we have primary responsibility for the remediation, our cost estimates are developed
based on internal evaluations and are not discounted. We record accruals when it is probable that we will be obligated to pay amounts for environmental site evaluation,
investigation and/or remediation or related activities, and such amounts can be reasonably estimated. Accruals are recorded even if significant uncertainties exist over the ultimate
cost of the remediation. Our total accrual for environmental remediation was $58 million and $63 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Other Regulatory Matters

We are subject to regulation by various U.S. federal regulatory agencies and by the applicable regulatory authorities in countries in which our products are manufactured or
sold. Such regulations principally relate to the ingredients, classification, labeling, safety, manufacturing, packaging, transportation, advertising, and marketing of our products.
Additionally, as a U.S. entity operating through subsidiaries in non-U.S. jurisdictions, we are subject to foreign exchange control, transfer pricing and customs laws that regulate the
import and export of goods as well as the flow of funds between us and our subsidiaries. In particular, the shipment of goods, services and technology across international borders
subjects us to extensive trade laws and regulations. Our import activities are governed by the unique customs laws and regulations in each of the countries where we operate.
Pursuant to their laws and regulations, governments may impose economic sanctions against certain countries, persons and entities that may restrict or prohibit transactions
involving such countries, persons and entities, which may limit or prevent our conduct of business in certain jurisdictions. We are also required to be in compliance with transfer
pricing, securities laws, and other statutes and regulations, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other countries’ anti-corruption and anti-bribery regimes.
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As a result of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine that began in February of 2022, governments in the U.S., United Kingdom ("U.K."), European Union ("EU"), and other
countries enacted sanctions against Russia and certain Russian interests. As previously announced on March 19, 2022, we suspended any new investments in our Russia
operations, but continued to comply with applicable laws and regulations as we fulfilled existing contractual obligations. Over the course of the second quarter of 2022, we closely
monitored the developments in Ukraine and Russia and changes to sanctions all of which continued to make ongoing operations increasingly complex and significantly more
challenging. As a result, we completed a number of actions during the course of 2022 including the sale of part of our OFSE Russia business and suspended substantially all of our
remaining operational activities in Russia. In 2023, our focus in Russia has been to continue to close local entities within the scope of western sanctions and local regulation. For
further information see "Note 20. Restructuring, Impairment and Other" and "Note 21. Business Dispositions and Acquisitions" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in
Item 8 herein.

We are also subject to laws relating to data privacy and security and consumer credit, protection and fraud. An increasing number of governments worldwide have established
laws and regulations, and industry groups also have promoted various standards, regarding data privacy and security, including with respect to the protection and processing of
personal data. The legal and regulatory environment related to data privacy and security is increasingly rigorous, with new and constantly changing requirements applicable to our
business, and enforcement practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. We are also subject to labor and employment laws, including regulations established
by the U.S. Department of Labor and other local regulatory agencies, which sets laws governing working conditions, paid leave, workplace safety, wage and hour standards, and
hiring and employment practices.

While there are no current environmental or regulatory matters that we expect to be material to our results of operations, financial position or cash flows or have a material
adverse effect on our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position, there can be no assurances that existing or future environmental laws and other laws, regulations and
standards applicable to our operations or products will not lead to such a material adverse impact.

AVAILABILITY OF INFORMATION FOR STOCKHOLDERS

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Exchange Act"), are made available free of charge on our internet website at www.bakerhughes.com as soon as
reasonably practicable after these reports have been electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC, and can be found at their internet website www.sec.gov. In addition, our
Corporate Sustainability reports are available on the Company section of our website at www.bakerhughes.com. Information contained on or connected to our website is not
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should not be considered part of this Annual Report or any other filing we make with the SEC.

We have a Code of Conduct to provide guidance to our directors, officers, and employees on matters of business conduct and ethics, including compliance standards and
procedures. We also require our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and principal accounting officer to sign a Code of Ethical Conduct Certification annually.

The Code of Conduct, referred to as Our Way: The Baker Hughes Code of Conduct, and the Code of Ethical Conduct Certifications are available on the Investor section of our
website at www.bakerhughes.com. We will disclose on a current report on Form 8-K or on our website information about any amendment or waiver of these codes for our executive
officers and directors. Waiver information disclosed on our website will remain on the website for at least 12 months after the initial disclosure of a waiver. Our Governance
Principles and the charters of our Audit Committee, Finance Committee, Human Capital and Compensation Committee, and Governance and Corporate Responsibility Committee
of the Board are also available on the Investor section of our website at www.bakerhughes.com. In addition, a copy of the Code of Conduct, Code of Ethical Conduct Certifications,
Governance Principles, and the charters of the committees referenced above are available in print at no cost to any shareholder who requests them.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF BAKER HUGHES COMPANY

The following table shows, as of February 5, 2024, the name of each of our executive officers, together with his or her age and office presently or previously held. There are no
family relationships among our executive officers.

Name Age Position and Background
Lorenzo Simonelli 50 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Lorenzo Simonelli has been the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the
Company since October 2017, and a Director, President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company since July 2017. Prior to joining the Company in July 2017,
Mr. Simonelli was Senior Vice President, GE and President and Chief Executive
Officer, GE Oil & Gas from October 2013 to July 2017. Before joining GE Oil & Gas,
he was the President and Chief Executive Officer of GE Transportation from July
2008 to October 2013. Mr. Simonelli joined GE in 1994 and held various finance
and leadership roles from 1994 to 2008.

Nancy Buese 54 Chief Financial Officer
Nancy Buese is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Prior to joining the
Company in November 2022, she served as Executive Vice President ("EVP") and
Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") of Newmont Corporation, a gold mining company,
since October 2016. Prior to her role at Newmont, Ms. Buese spent more than a
decade as EVP & CFO of MarkWest Energy Partners, a leader in gathering,
processing, and transportation of hydrocarbons, as well as EVP & CFO of MPLX (a
subsidiary of Marathon Petroleum) following MPLX’s acquisition of MarkWest. She
began her career in public accounting, starting as an accountant for Arthur
Andersen and rising to be a partner at Ernst & Young until 2003.

James E.
Apostolides

46 Senior Vice President, Enterprise Operational Excellence
James E. Apostolides is the Senior Vice President of Enterprise Operational
Excellence of the Company. He previously served as Senior Vice President of
Enterprise Excellence from February 2020 to September 2022. In July 2017, he
was appointed VP of Materials Management, Logistics, and Cash Operations. He
began his career in 1999 with GE and held roles of increasing responsibility,
including managerial positions in Shop Operations, Materials, Sourcing, and
Fulfillment across multiple continents.

Maria Claudia
Borras

 

55 Executive Vice President, Oilfield Services and Equipment
Maria Claudia Borras is the Executive Vice President, Oilfield Services and
Equipment of the Company. She previously served as Executive Vice President, of
Oilfield Services from July 2017 to September 2022. Prior to joining the Company
in July 2017, she served as the Chief Commercial Officer of GE Oil & Gas from
January 2015 to July 2017. Prior to joining GE Oil & Gas, she held various
leadership positions at Baker Hughes Incorporated including President, Latin
America from October 2013 to December 2014, President, Europe Region from
August 2011 to October 2013, Vice President, Global Marketing from May 2009 to
July 2011 and other leadership roles at Baker Hughes Incorporated from 1994 to
April 2009.

Ganesh
Ramaswamy

 

55 Executive Vice President, Industrial & Energy Technology
Ganesh Ramaswamy is the Executive Vice President, Industrial & Energy
Technology. Prior to joining the Company in January 2023, he served as President
of Global Services for Johnson Controls from December 2019 to December 2022.
Prior to joining Johnson Controls, he served at Danaher Corporation from April
2015 to December 2019 in various executive roles including Group Executive for
Marking & Coding; President of Videojet Technologies; and Senior Vice President
of High Growth Markets at Beckman Coulter Diagnostics. Prior to his career with
Danaher, he held executive roles at Hoya Corporation, including as President of
Pentax Medical, from June 2011 to April 2015. He began his career in product
development and general management at GE Global Research and GE
Healthcare.

Georgia Magno 45 Chief Legal Officer
Georgia Magno is the Chief Legal Officer of the Company. She previously served
as Vice President and General Counsel for the IET segment. Georgia joined the
Company in 2010, first as General Counsel for the global supply chain and holding
subsequent legal roles across commercial, operational, and product line
organizations in multiple countries including Italy and the U.S. Prior to joining the
Company, she was an international litigator with the law firms of Cleary Gottlieb
and Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves various risks. When considering an investment in the Company, one should carefully consider all of the risk factors described
below, as well as other information included and incorporated by reference in this Annual Report. There may be additional risks, uncertainties and matters not listed below, that we
are unaware of, or that we currently consider immaterial. Any of these may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows and, thus, the
value of an investment in the Company.

OPERATIONAL RISKS

We operate in a highly competitive environment, which may adversely affect our ability to succeed. Our investments in new technologies, equipment, and facilities may
not provide competitive returns.

We operate in a highly competitive environment for marketing our products and services and securing equipment across our portfolio. Our ability to continually provide
competitive products and services can impact our ability to defend, maintain or increase prices for our products and services, maintain market share, and negotiate acceptable
contract terms with our customers. In order to be competitive, we must provide new and differentiating technologies, reliable products and services that perform as expected and
that create value for our customers.

We continue to invest in new technologies, equipment, and facilities and to expand our capabilities and technology portfolio to meet the challenges of a net-zero future. These
efforts include expanding into new energy areas such as geothermal and carbon capture, utilization and storage, strengthening our digital architecture and addressing key energy
market themes. Our ability to defend, maintain or increase prices for our products and services is in part dependent on the industry's capacity relative to customer demand, on our
ability to differentiate the value delivered by our products and services from our competitors' products and services and to provide innovative and competitive products and services
to meet our client's evolving needs with respect to new energy areas. Managing development of competitive technology and new product introductions on a forecasted schedule
and at a forecasted cost can impact our financial results. If we are unable to continue to develop and produce competitive and innovative technology or deliver it to our clients in a
timely and cost-competitive manner in response to changes in the market, customer requirements, competitive pressures, or as a result of the energy transition to lower carbon
emitting technology, or if competing technology accelerates the obsolescence of any of our products or services, any competitive advantage that we may hold, and in turn, our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

We have, and may in the future enter into, agreements with third parties to jointly develop certain technologies which may include financial or other commitments. Under the
terms of these agreements, we may agree to share in the associated development and marketing costs for the developed technologies. There can be no assurances that we will be
able to successfully develop these technologies in collaboration with these third parties that will adequately meet our customers' needs. Also, there can be no assurances that these
joint development agreements will be commercially viable, successful or profitable. As a result, these joint development agreements could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The potential transition risks posed by moving to a lower carbon economy could have an adverse effect on the demand for our technologies and services.

There is increased focus by governments and our customers, investors and other stakeholders on a climate change, sustainability, and energy transition matters. Transitioning
to a low-carbon economy will likely require extensive policy, legal, technology, and market changes.

These changes may result in the enactment of climate change-related regulations, policies and initiatives (at the government, regulator, corporate and/or investor community
levels); technological advances with respect to the generation, transmission, storage and consumption of energy; increased availability of, and increased demand from consumers
and industry for, energy sources other than oil and natural gas and development of, and increased demand from consumers and industry for, lower-emission products and services
as well as more efficient products and services.
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Our future success may depend on our ability to effectively execute on our energy transition strategy and the pace at which the energy transition unfolds. Our strategy depends
on our ability to develop additional innovative technologies and work with our customers and partners to advance new energy solutions such as geothermal, CCUS, hydrogen
energy, and other integrated solutions. If the energy transition occurs faster than anticipated or faster than we can transition, or if we are unable to execute our energy transition
strategy as planned, demand for our technologies and services or access to capital could be adversely affected. If the energy transition occurs slower than anticipated, we could be
developing technologies and services that are not responsive to the commercial needs of our customers.

In addition, negative attitudes toward or perceptions of our industry or fossil fuel products and their relationship to the environment have led governments, non-governmental
organizations, and companies to implement initiatives to conserve energy and promote the use of alternative energy sources, which may reduce the demand for and production of
oil and gas in areas of the world where our customers operate, and thus reduce future demand for our products and services. In addition, initiatives by investors and financial
institutions to limit funding to companies in fossil fuel-related industries may adversely affect our liquidity or access to capital.

Disruptions in our supply chain, the high cost or unavailability of raw materials, equipment, and supplies essential to our business could adversely affect our ability to
execute our operations on a timely basis.

Our manufacturing operations are dependent on having sufficient raw materials, component parts and manufacturing capacity, including labor, available to meet our
manufacturing plans on a timely basis, at a reasonable cost while minimizing inventories. Additional disruptions within our supply chain resulting from factors including, but not
limited to, pandemic, inflation, rising interest rates, and shortages in labor supply, have had and may continue to have an impact on our business and reputation. Many of the raw
materials essential to our business require the use of rail, storage, and trucking services to transport the materials to our job sites. These services, particularly during times of high
demand, may cause delays in the arrival of or otherwise constrain our supply of raw materials. These constraints could have a material adverse effect on our business and
consolidated results of operations. In addition, price increases imposed by our vendors for raw materials and transportation providers used in our business, and the inability to pass
these increases through to our customers, could have a material adverse effect on our business and consolidated results of operations. As a result of these or any other factors, our
ability to execute our operations on a timely basis, including our ability to meet our manufacturing plans and revenue goals, control costs, and avoid shortages or over-supply of raw
materials and component parts, could be adversely affected.

The partial or complete loss of GE as a supplier, as well as contracts with our aeroderivative joint venture (the "Aero JV") with GE may adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We currently have an extensive commercial relationship with GE. Although we have a long-term contractual framework in place with GE, if GE were to discontinue or reduce its
business with the Company, fail to perform its obligations under existing contracts, such as our long-term supply agreement for heavy-duty gas turbines, or experience significant
disruptions, including under the intellectual property related agreements with GE, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be adversely affected.

In addition to our contracts and arrangements with GE as a direct supplier, we and GE formed the Aero JV in 2019. The Aero JV is jointly controlled by GE and us, and as a
result, realizing the benefits of this joint venture depends on the continued cooperation between the parties. In addition, the business and financial performance of the Aero JV may
be adversely affected if GE were to fail to perform its obligations under its contracts with the Aero JV. We in turn use certain products purchased through the Aero JV for the
manufacture of various end products, and therefore, failure of the Aero JV to perform for any reason could prevent us from fulfilling our contractual obligations, which may adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

If we are unable to attract and retain key personnel, we may not be able to execute our business strategy effectively and our operations could be adversely affected.

Our operations and future success depend on our ability to recruit, train, and retain key personnel. People are a key resource to developing, manufacturing, and delivering our
products and providing technical services and
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solutions to our customers around the world. A competent, well-trained, highly skilled, motivated, and diverse workforce has a positive impact on our ability to attract and retain
business. Difficulties in hiring or retaining key employees, or the unexpected loss of experienced employees resulting in the depletion of our institutional knowledge base, could have
an adverse impact on our business performance, reputation, financial condition, or results of operations. Additionally, successfully executing organizational change as we restructure
the Company, management transitions at leadership levels of the Company, and motivation and retention of key employees is critical to our business success. Factors that may
affect our ability to attract and retain sufficient numbers of qualified employees include: employee morale, our brand reputation as an employer of choice, competition from other
employers, our location strategy for key roles, investments in technology and systems, and availability of qualified individuals with the desired skills and experiences needed to grow
our business. Other factors that have, and could continue to impact our workforce, are: changes to our office environments and the impact this could have on our Company culture,
the adoption of new work models, and our requirements and/or expectations about when or how often certain employees work on-site or remotely, which may not meet the
expectations of our employees.

The implementation of our plan to restructure our corporate organization and operating segments may not achieve the results we anticipate, which could adversely
affect our business.

In the second half of 2022, we announced a plan to undertake certain corporate realignments and restructure our four operating segments to focus on two operating segments,
OFSE and IET, in order to simplify and streamline our organizational structure, and create better flexibility and economies of scale across the two operating segments. Restructuring
activities may be more costly than anticipated, and could lead to the diversion of management's attention from other business priorities. As a result of these or any other factors, we
may not realize the anticipated benefits associated with the restructuring plan. There can be no assurance that the restructuring plan will result in cost savings or will materially
increase our profitability. Even if the restructuring plan generates the benefits that we have anticipated, there may be other unforeseeable and unintended factors or consequences
that occur as a result of the restructuring, which could adversely affect our business.

Our business could be impacted by both geopolitical and terrorism threats, including armed conflict, in countries where we or our customers do business and our
business operations may be impacted by civil unrest and/or government expropriations.

Geopolitical and terrorism threats continue to grow in a number of key countries where we currently or may in the future do business. Geopolitical and terrorism threats,
including armed conflict among countries, has had and could in the future lead to, among other things, a loss of our investment in the country, adverse impact to our employees, and
impairment of our or our customers' ability to conduct operations.

Further, the broader consequences of geopolitical and terrorism threats, which may include further sanctions that prohibit our ability to do business in specific countries,
embargoes, supply chain disruptions, the potential inability to service our remaining performance obligations and potential contractual breaches and litigation, regional instability and
geopolitical shifts, and the extent of any such threats effect on our business and results of operations as well as the global economy, cannot be predicted.

Certain geopolitical conflicts, such as between Russia and Ukraine and between Israel and Hamas, have had and may continue to have the effect of heightening many other
risks disclosed in our public filings, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Such risks include, but are not limited to, adverse
effects on regional and global macroeconomic conditions; increased volatility in the price and demand of oil and natural gas, increased exposure to cyber attacks; limitations in our
ability to implement and execute our business strategy; risks to employees and contractors that we have in the region; disruptions in global supply chains; exposure to foreign
currency fluctuations; potential nationalizations and assets seizures; constraints or disruption in the capital markets and our sources of liquidity; our potential inability to service our
remaining performance obligations and potential contractual breaches and litigation. Any such risks may require us to record asset impairments and experience adverse operating
impacts which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Control of oil and natural gas reserves by national oil companies may impact the demand for our services and products and create additional risks in our operations.

Much of the world's oil and natural gas reserves are controlled by national oil companies. National oil companies may require their contractors to meet local content
requirements or other local standards, such as conducting our operations through joint ventures with local partners that could be difficult or undesirable for us to meet. The failure to
meet the local content requirements and other local standards may adversely impact our operations in those countries. In addition, our ability to work with national oil companies is
subject to our ability to negotiate and agree upon acceptable contract terms.

Our operations involve a variety of operating hazards and risks that could cause losses.

The products that we manufacture and the services that we provide are complex, and the failure of our equipment to operate properly or to meet specifications may greatly
increase our customers' costs. In addition, many of these products are used in inherently hazardous industries, such as the offshore oilfield business. These hazards include
blowouts, explosions, unplanned or uncontrolled releases, nuclear-related events, fires, collisions, capsizings, and severe weather conditions. We may incur substantial liabilities or
losses as a result of these hazards. Our insurance and contractual indemnity protection may not be sufficient or effective to protect us under all circumstances or against all risks.
The occurrence of a significant event, against which we were not fully insured or indemnified or the failure of a customer to meet its indemnification obligations to us, could
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

The potential physical risks posed by climate change could adversely affect our operations and those of our customers.

The physical risks of climate change can include extreme variability in weather patterns such as increased frequency and severity of significant weather events (e.g. flooding,
hurricanes and tropical storms), natural hazards (e.g., increased wildfire risk), rising mean temperature and sea levels, and long-term changes in precipitation patterns (e.g. drought,
desertification, or poor water quality). Such effects have the potential to affect business continuity and operating results, particularly at facilities in coastal areas or areas prone to
chronic water scarcity, and could disrupt our operations or those of our customers or suppliers, including through direct damage to physical assets and indirect impacts from supply
chain disruption and market volatility. While we evaluate and incorporate potential ranges of physical risks, it is difficult to predict with certainty the timing, frequency or severity of
such events, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. See also "Seasonal and weather conditions,
including severe weather associated with climate change, could adversely affect demand for our services and operations."

Seasonal and weather conditions, including severe weather associated with climate change, could adversely affect demand for our services and operations.

Variation from normal weather patterns, such as cooler or warmer summers and winters, can have a significant impact on demand for our services and operations. Adverse
weather conditions, such as hurricanes in the Gulf of Mexico or extreme winter conditions in Canada or the North Sea, may interrupt or curtail our operations, or our customers'
operations, cause supply disruptions and result in a loss of revenue and damage to our equipment and facilities, which may or may not be insured. Repercussions of severe or
unseasonable weather conditions, including as a result of climate change, may include evacuation of personnel and curtailment of services, weather-related damage to offshore
drilling rigs resulting in suspension of operations, weather-related damage to our facilities and project work sites, inability to deliver materials to job sites in accordance with contract
schedules, decreases in demand for oil and natural gas during unseasonably warm winters, and loss of productivity. As a result of the above repercussions or any others, demand
for our services and operations may be adversely affected.

Our business has and may continue to be adversely affected by a public health emergency or outbreak of a contagious disease or virus.

In the past, the markets have experienced volatility in oil demand due to the economic impacts of public health emergencies. If demand for our products and services decline as
a result of a public health emergency, the utilization of our assets and the prices we are able to charge our customers for our products and services could
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decline. The spread of a pandemic could result in instability in the markets and decreases in commodity prices resulting in adverse impacts on our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

In addition, the outbreak and spread of contagious diseases and measures to contain the disease may adversely impact our workforce and operations, operations of our
customers, and those of our vendors and suppliers. The extent to which these public health emergencies adversely impact our business would depend on future developments,
which are highly uncertain and unpredictable, depending on the severity and duration of the emergency and effectiveness of actions taken globally to contain or mitigate its effects.
There is considerable uncertainty regarding such containment or mitigation measures and potential future measures which may result in labor disruptions, employee attrition, and
could negatively impact our ability to attract and retain qualified employees, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

CREDIT AND CUSTOMER CONTRACTING RISKS

Providing services on an integrated, turnkey, or fixed price basis could require us to assume additional risks.

We may choose to enter into integrated or turnkey contracts with our customers that require us to provide services and equipment outside of our core business. Providing
services on an integrated or turnkey basis may also subject us to additional risks, such as costs associated with unexpected delays or difficulties in drilling operations, project
management interface risk, and risks associated with subcontracting and consortium arrangements. These integrated or turnkey contracts may be fixed price contracts that do not
allow us to recover for cost over-runs unless they are directly caused by the customer.

We may not be able to satisfy technical requirements, testing requirements or other specifications required under our service contracts and equipment purchase
agreements.

Our products are used in deepwater, and other harsh environments, and severe service applications. Our contracts with customers and customer requests for bids typically set
forth detailed specifications or technical requirements for our products and services, which may also include extensive testing requirements. In addition, scrutiny of the offshore
drilling industry and LNG industry has resulted in more stringent technical specifications for our products and more comprehensive testing requirements for our products to ensure
compliance with such specifications. We cannot provide assurance that our products, including products supplied through joint ventures, will be able to satisfy the specifications or
that we will be able to perform the full-scale testing necessary to prove that the product specifications are satisfied in future contract bids or under existing contracts, or that the
costs of modifications to our products to satisfy the specifications and testing will not adversely affect our results of operations.

We sometimes enter into consortium or similar arrangements for certain projects, which could impose additional costs and obligations on us.

We sometimes enter into consortium or similar arrangements for certain projects. Under such arrangements, each party is responsible for performing a certain scope of work
within the total scope of the contracted work, and the obligations expire when all contractual obligations are completed. The failure or inability, financially or otherwise, of any of the
parties to perform their obligations could impose additional costs and obligations on us. These factors could result in unanticipated costs to complete the project, liquidated damages
or contract disputes.

Our contracts may be terminated early in certain circumstances.

Our contracts with customers generally may be terminated by the customer for convenience, default, or extended force majeure (which could include inability to perform due to
a pandemic or as a result of civil unrest or armed conflicts). Termination for convenience may require the payment of an early termination fee by the customer, but the early
termination fee may not fully compensate us for the loss of the contract. Termination by the customer for default or extended force majeure due to events outside of our control
generally will not require the customer to pay an early termination fee.
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Our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected if our customers terminate some of our contracts, and we are unable to
secure new contracts on a timely basis and on substantially similar terms, if payments due under our contracts are suspended for an extended period of time, or if a number of our
contracts are renegotiated. Our remaining performance obligation ("RPO") is comprised of unfilled customer orders for products and product services (expected life of contract sales
for product services). The actual amount and timing of revenues earned may be substantially different than the reported RPO. The total dollar amount of the Company's RPO as of
December 31, 2023 was $33.5 billion.

The credit risks of having a concentrated customer base in the energy industry could result in losses.

Having a concentration of customers in the energy industry may impact our overall exposure to credit risk as our customers may be similarly affected by prolonged changes in
economic and industry conditions. Some of our customers may experience extreme financial distress as a result of falling commodity prices and may be forced to seek protection
under applicable bankruptcy laws, which may affect our ability to recover any amounts due from such customers. Furthermore, countries that rely heavily upon income from
hydrocarbon exports have been and may in the future be negatively and significantly affected by a drop in oil prices, which could affect our ability to collect, timely or at all, from our
customers in these countries, particularly national oil companies. Laws in some jurisdictions in which we will operate could make collection difficult or time consuming. We perform
ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and do not expect to require collateral in support of our trade receivables. While we maintain reserves for potential credit losses, we
cannot assure such reserves will be sufficient to meet write-offs of uncollectible receivables or that our losses from such receivables will be consistent with our expectations.
Additionally, in the event of a bankruptcy of any of our customers, we may be treated as an unsecured creditor and may collect substantially less, or none, of the amounts owed to
us by such customer.

Our customers' activity levels and spending for our products and services and ability to pay amounts owed us could be impacted by the reduction of their cash flow
and the ability of our customers to access equity or credit markets.

Our customers' access to capital is dependent on their ability to access the funds necessary to develop economically attractive projects based upon their expectations of future
energy prices, required investments, and resulting returns. Limited access to external sources of funding has caused and may continue to cause customers to reduce their capital
spending plans to levels supported by internally generated cash flow. In addition, a reduction of cash flow resulting from declines in commodity prices, a reduction in borrowing
bases under reserve-based credit facilities or the lack of available debt or equity financing may impact the ability of our customers to pay amounts owed to us and could cause us to
increase our reserve for credit losses.

LEGAL AND REGULATORY RISKS

Compliance with and changes in laws could be costly and could affect operating results. In addition, government disruptions could negatively impact our ability to
conduct our business.

We conduct business in more than 120 countries that can be impacted by expected and unexpected changes in the legal and business environments in which we operate. In
particular, goods, services, data, finances, and technology that cross international borders subjects us to extensive trade laws and regulations. Our import activities are governed by
the unique customs laws and regulations in each of the countries where we operate. Pursuant to their laws and regulations, governments may impose economic sanctions against
certain countries, persons and entities that may restrict or prohibit transactions involving such countries, persons and entities, which may limit or prevent our conduct of business in
certain jurisdictions.

Compliance-related issues could limit our ability to do business in certain countries, impact our earnings, bring reputational harm, or result in governmental investigations
leading to fines, penalties or other remedial measures. Changes that could impact the legal environment include new legislation, new regulations, new policies, investigations, and
legal proceedings and new interpretations of existing legal rules and regulations, in particular, changes in export control laws or exchange control laws, additional restrictions on
doing business in countries subject to sanctions, and changes in laws in countries where we operate. In addition, changes and uncertainty in the political environments in which our
businesses operate can have a material effect on the laws, rules, and regulations that affect our operations. Government disruptions may also delay or halt the granting and renewal
of permits, licenses and other items required by us and our customers to conduct our business. The continued
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success of our global business and operations depends, in part, on our ability to continue to anticipate and effectively manage these and other political, legal and regulatory risks.
Given the highly dynamic nature of these restrictions and the unprecedented nature of these changes in the last two years, and the uncertainty in the political landscape and unrest
in certain areas of the world, our future success depends on the ability of our organization to react to such changes rapidly and appropriately to assure compliance as we continue
to conduct business globally.

Our failure to comply with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA") and other similar laws could have a negative impact on our ongoing operations.

Our ability to comply with the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act, and various other anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws depends on the success of our ongoing compliance program,
including our ability to successfully manage our agents, distributors and other business partners, and supervise, train, and retain competent employees. We could be subject to
sanctions and civil and criminal prosecution, fines and penalties, as well as legal expenses and reputational harm in the event of a finding of a violation of any of these laws by us or
any of our employees.

Anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism financing laws could have adverse consequences for us.

Non-compliance with anti-money laundering, anti-terrorism financing and various other financial laws may subject us to sanctions, civil and criminal prosecution, fines and
penalties, as well as legal expenses and potential reputational harm. While we strive to continuously improve our programs and pursue effective compliance, we cannot be sure our
programs and controls are or will remain effective to ensure our compliance with all applicable anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism financing laws and regulations.

Changes in tax laws, tax rates, tariffs, adverse positions taken by taxing authorities, and tax audits in the countries where we operate could have a material adverse
impact on our results of operations.

We are subject to changes in tax laws, rates, treaties, regulations, and tariffs in the various jurisdictions where we operate, any of which, including in the interpretation there of,
could have a material adverse impact on our tax expense and results of operations. Further, the examinations and subsequent tax assessments by various tax authorities could
increase the Company's tax liabilities. Any changes to tax laws or rates or unfavorable positions taken by tax authorities have and could preclude our ability to fully utilize tax loss
carryforwards and tax credits which could increase the amount of valuation allowances required against deferred tax assets and could adversely affect our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

We could be subject to litigation and environmental claims arising out of our products and services which could adversely affect our reputation, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

The technical complexities of our operations expose us to a wide range of significant health, safety and environmental risks and we are from time to time subject to litigation in
the U.S. and in foreign countries, for example claims involving services or equipment such as personal injury or loss of life, product failure (including as a result of a cyber attack) or
damage to or destruction of property, employment and labor, customer privacy, or regulatory risks. While we have insurance coverage against operating hazards to the extent
deemed prudent by our management and to the extent insurance is available, our insurance may not cover all expenses related to litigation claims arising from our business.
Moreover, we may not be able to maintain insurance at levels of risk coverage or policy limits that we deem adequate. We may therefore incur significant expenses defending any
such suit or government charge and may be required to pay amounts or otherwise change our operations in ways that could adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

We may be subject to litigation if another party claims that we have infringed upon, misappropriated or otherwise violated its intellectual property rights.

The tools, techniques, methodologies, programs and components we use to provide our products and services may infringe upon, misappropriate or otherwise violate the
intellectual property rights of others or be challenged on that basis. Regardless of the merits, any such claims may result in significant legal and other costs and may distract
management from running our core business. Resolving such claims could increase our costs, including through royalty payments to acquire licenses, if available, from third parties
and through the development of replacement technologies. If a license to resolve a claim were not available, we might not be able to continue providing a
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particular service or product, which could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Compliance with, and rulings and litigation in connection with, environmental regulations and the environmental impacts of our operations may adversely affect our
business and operating results.

We and our business are subject to extensive domestic and international environmental, health and safety regulations. In addition to environmental, health and safety regulatory
compliance obligations, we may face liability arising out of the normal course of business, including alleged personal injury, property damage, and human health risks due to
exposure to hazardous substances or processes at our current or former facilities. Additionally, we may be impacted by material changes in environmental, health and safety
regulations or subject to substantial liability for environmental impacts caused by our (or our predecessors') operations. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations and
associated expenditures, including but not limited to our capital expenditures for environmental control equipment, are forecasted and may be inconsistent based on multiple
variables. Our compliance cost forecasts may be substantially different from actual results, which may be affected by factors such as: changes in law that impose new or increased
restrictions on air or other emissions, wastewater management, waste disposal, hydraulic fracturing, or wetland and land use practices; changes in standards of enforcement of
existing environmental laws and regulations; a change in our share of any remediation costs or other unexpected, adverse outcomes with respect to sites where we have been
named as a potentially responsible party ("PRP"), (including Superfund sites, the allocation of PRP liability at other sites, or discovery of additional issues at existing sites) where
additional expenditures may be required to comply with environmental legal obligations; and the accidental, unauthorized discharge of hazardous materials.

Investor and public perception related to the Company's ESG performance as well as current and future ESG reporting requirements may affect our business and our
operating results.

In recent years, companies across all industries are facing increasing scrutiny from a variety of stakeholders, including investor advocacy groups, proxy advisory firms, certain
institutional investors and lenders, investment funds and other influential investors and rating agencies, related to their ESG and sustainability practices. If we do not adapt to or
comply with investor or other stakeholder expectations and standards on ESG matters (or meet sustainability goals and targets that we have set), as they continue to evolve, or if
we are perceived to have not responded appropriately or quickly enough to growing concern for ESG and sustainability issues, regardless of whether there is a regulatory or legal
requirement to do so, we may face increased litigation risk, reputational damage and our business, financial condition and/or stock price could be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, our continuing efforts to research, establish, accomplish and accurately report on the implementation of our ESG strategy, including our emissions reduction
commitments, may also create additional operational risks and expenses and expose us to reputational, legal and other risks. While we create and publish voluntary disclosures
regarding ESG matters from time to time, some of the statements in those voluntary disclosures may be based on hypothetical expectations and assumptions that may or may not
be representative of current or actual risks or events or forecasts of expected risks or events, including the costs associated therewith. Such expectations and assumptions are
necessarily uncertain and may be prone to error or subject to misinterpretation given the long timelines involved and the lack of an established single approach to identifying,
measuring and reporting on many ESG matters.

Our voluntary disclosures of ESG data are evaluated and rated by various organizations that assess corporate ESG performance. These organizations provide information to
investors on corporate governance and related matters and have developed ratings processes for evaluating companies on their approach to ESG matters. Unfavorable ESG
ratings, or our inability to meet the ESG standards set by specific investors, may lead to negative investor sentiment and reputational damage, which could have an adverse impact,
among other things, on our stock price and cost of capital.

Regulatory requirements related to ESG or sustainability reporting have been adopted and may continue to be introduced in various jurisdictions. For example, the EU
Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive became effective in 2023 and applies to both EU and certain non-EU entities. In October 2023, California enacted the Climate
Corporate Data Accountability Act and the Climate Related Financial Risk Act that will require large public and private companies that do business within the state to disclose their
Scopes 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions, with third party assurance of GHG emissions information for certain entities, and issue public
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reports on their climate-related financial risk and related mitigation measures. In 2023, California also enacted the Voluntary Carbon Market Disclosures Act, which requires
companies that operate within the state and make certain climate-related claims to provide enhanced disclosures around the achievement of such claims. We expect regulatory
disclosure requirements related to ESG matters to continue to expand globally, which has and may continue to increase our cost and burden of compliance and subject us to
increased legal and reputational risk.

To achieve our stated emission reduction goals, we have implemented internal decarbonization projects and may also need to rely on external factors, such as the greater
deployment of carbon reduction and removal technologies and adoption of government policies that we expect would accelerate the adoption of energy transition technologies.
There have been policy responses to support the energy transition in the U.S. with the passage of the Inflation Reduction Act. In addition, geopolitical instability has increased
energy prices compared to the prior year and raised energy security concerns, which may result in many governments reassessing energy transition strategies, extending the
timeline to ensure adequate and reasonably priced energy supplies. It is difficult to predict with certainty how these policy, economic, and energy security issues will impact the
energy transition. Our failure or perceived failure to pursue or fulfill our reductions and elimination of carbon equivalent emissions commitments within the timelines we announce, or
changes to these commitments or related timelines could have a negative impact on investor sentiment, ratings outcomes for evaluating our approach to ESG matters, our stock
price and cost of capital and expose us to government enforcement actions and private litigation, among other material adverse impacts.

International, national, and state governments and agencies continue to evaluate and promulgate legislation and regulations that are focused on reducing GHG
emissions. Compliance with GHG emission regulations applicable to our or our customers' operations may have significant implications that could adversely affect our
business and operating results in the fossil-fuel sectors.

In the United States, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") has taken steps to regulate GHG emissions as air pollutants under the U.S. Clean Air Act of 1970, as
amended. The EPA's Greenhouse Gas Reporting Rule requires monitoring and reporting of GHG emissions from, among others, certain mobile and stationary GHG emission
sources in the oil and natural gas industry and the EPA has recently proposed to expand the scope of the rule, which in turn may impact (and include) data from our equipment or
operations. In addition, the U.S. government has proposed rules in the past setting GHG emission standards for, or otherwise aimed at reducing GHG emissions from, the oil and
natural gas and power industries. International developments focused on restricting GHG emissions include the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, which
includes implementation of the Paris Agreement and the Kyoto Protocol by the signatories; the Glasgow Climate Pact; the EU Emission Trading System; Article 8 of the EU Energy
Efficiency Directive and the United Kingdom's Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting framework; and the EU's carbon border adjustment mechanism. Caps or fees on carbon
emissions, including in the U.S. (such as proposed methane fees under the Inflation Reduction Act), have been and may continue to be established and the cost of such caps or
fees could disproportionately affect the fossil-fuel sectors. The implementation of these agreements and other existing or future regulatory mandates, may adversely affect the
demand for our products and services, require us or our customers to reduce GHG emissions or impose taxes on us or our customers, all of which could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations.

Voluntary initiatives to reduce GHG emissions, as well as increased climate change awareness, may result in increased costs for the oil and gas industry to curb
greenhouse gas emissions and could have an adverse impact on demand for oil and natural gas.

There are various corporate and non-governmental initiatives that are focused on voluntary reductions of GHG emissions. These developments, and public perception relating
to climate change, may shift demand from oil and natural gas towards an investment in relatively lower carbon emitting energy sources and alternative energy solutions, which could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Changes in laws or regulations relating to data privacy and security, or any actual or perceived failure by us to comply with such laws or regulations, or contractual or
other obligations relating to data privacy or security, may adversely affect our business and operating results.

We have access to sensitive, confidential, proprietary or personal data or information in certain of our businesses that is or may become subject to various data privacy and
security laws, regulations, standards,
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contractual obligations or customer-imposed controls in the jurisdictions in which we operate. The legal and regulatory environment related to data privacy and security is
increasingly rigorous, with new and constantly changing requirements applicable to our business, and enforcement practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable
future. These laws and regulations are and may be interpreted and applied differently over time and from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and it is possible that they will be interpreted and
applied in ways that may adversely affect our business and operating results.

In the U.S., various federal and state regulators, including governmental agencies like the Federal Trade Commission, have adopted, or are considering adopting, laws,
regulations and standards concerning personal information, privacy and data security. Certain state laws may be more stringent or broader in scope, or offer greater individual
rights, with respect to personal information than federal, international or other state laws, and such laws may differ from each other, all of which may complicate compliance efforts.
Internationally, laws, regulations and standards in many jurisdictions apply broadly to the collection, use, retention, security, disclosure, transfer and other processing of personal
information or other data. For example, the collection, use, storage, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data regarding individuals located in the European
Economic Area and the U.K. is subject to strict regulations, and compliance may require adhering to stringent legal and operational obligations and the dedication of substantial time
and financial resources.

The various and evolving federal, state and international laws, regulations and standards can differ significantly from one another and, given our global footprint, this may
significantly complicate our compliance efforts and impose considerable costs, such as costs related to organizational changes and implementing additional protection technologies,
which are likely to increase over time. In addition, compliance with applicable requirements may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies, distract
management or divert resources from other initiatives and projects, all of which could adversely affect our business and operating results. Any failure or perceived failure by us to
comply with any applicable federal, state or international laws, regulations, standards, or contractual or other obligations, relating to data privacy and security could result in damage
to our reputation and our relationship with our customers, as well as proceedings or litigation by governmental agencies, customers or individuals, which could subject us to
significant fines, sanctions, awards, penalties or judgments, all of which could adversely affect our business and operating results.

TECHNOLOGY RISKS

An inability to obtain, maintain, protect, defend or enforce our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our business.

There can be no assurance that the steps we take to obtain, maintain, protect, defend and enforce our intellectual property rights will be completely adequate. Our intellectual
property rights may fail to provide us with significant competitive advantages, particularly in foreign jurisdictions where we have not invested in an intellectual property portfolio or
that do not have, or do not enforce, strong intellectual property rights. The weakening of protection of our trademarks, patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights
could also adversely affect our business.

We are a party to a number of licenses that give us rights to intellectual property that is necessary or useful to our business. Our success depends in part on the ability of our
licensors to obtain, maintain, protect, defend and sufficiently enforce the licensed intellectual property rights we have commercialized. Without protection for the intellectual property
rights we own or license, other companies might be able to offer substantially identical products for sale, which could adversely affect our competitive business position and harm
our business products. Also, there can be no assurances that we will be able to obtain or renew from third parties the licenses to use intellectual property rights we need in the
future, and there is no assurance that such licenses can be obtained on reasonable terms. We would be adversely affected in the event that any such license agreement was
terminated without the right for us to continue using the licensed intellectual property.

Increased cybersecurity vulnerabilities and threats, and more sophisticated and targeted cyber attacks and other security incidents, pose risks to our systems, data
and business, and our relationships with customers and other third parties.

In the course of conducting our business, we may hold or have access to sensitive, confidential, proprietary or personal data or information belonging to us, our employees or
third parties, including customers, partners or
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suppliers. Increased cybersecurity vulnerabilities and threats, and more sophisticated and targeted cyber attacks and other security incidents, pose risks to our and our customers',
partners', suppliers' and third-party service providers' systems, data, and business, and the confidentiality, availability and integrity of our and our employees' and customers' data.
We utilize various procedures and controls to monitor and mitigate our exposure including maintaining a dedicated Cyber Fusion Center and engaging third party experts. For more
information see the "Risk Management & Strategy" section of Part 1 of Item 1C herein. While we attempt to mitigate these risks, we remain vulnerable to cyber attacks and other
security incidents, including ransomware incidents. Given our global footprint, the large number of customers, partners, suppliers and service providers with which we do business,
and the increasing sophistication and complexity of cyber attacks, an incident could occur and persist for an extended period without detection. Any investigation of a cyber attack or
other security incident would be inherently unpredictable and it would take time before the completion of any investigation and before there is availability of full and reliable
information. During such time we would not necessarily know the extent of the harm or how best to remediate it, and certain errors or actions could be repeated or compounded
before they are discovered and remediated, all or any of which would further increase the costs and consequences of such an incident. We may be required to expend significant
resources to protect against, respond to, and recover from any cyber attacks and other security incidents. As cyber attacks continue to evolve, we may be required to expend
significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any information security vulnerabilities. In addition, our
remediation efforts may not be successful. The inability to implement, maintain and upgrade adequate safeguards could materially and adversely affect our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

In addition to our own systems, we use third-party service providers, who in turn may also use third-party providers, to process certain data or information on our behalf. Due to
applicable laws and regulations or contractual obligations, we may be held responsible for cybersecurity incidents attributed to our service providers to the extent affecting
information we share with them. Although we contractually require these service providers to implement and maintain reasonable security measures, we cannot control third parties
and cannot guarantee that a security breach will not occur in their systems.

Despite our and our service providers' efforts to protect our data and information, we and our service providers have been and may in the future be vulnerable to security
breaches, ransomware attacks, theft, misplaced or lost data, programming errors, phishing attacks, denial of service attacks, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, malware,
employee errors and/or malfeasance or similar events, including those perpetrated by criminals or nation-state actors, that could potentially lead to the compromise, unauthorized
access, use, disclosure, modification or destruction of data or information, improper use of our systems, defective products, loss of access to our data, production downtimes and
operational disruptions. In addition, a cyber attack or any other significant compromise or breach of our data security, media reports about such an incident, whether accurate or not,
or, under certain circumstances, our failure to make adequate or timely disclosures to the public, law enforcement agencies or affected individuals following any such event, whether
due to delayed discovery or a failure to follow existing protocols, could adversely impact our operating results and result in other negative consequences, including damage to our
reputation or competitiveness, harm to our relationships with customers, partners, suppliers and other third parties, distraction to our management, remediation or increased
protection costs, significant litigation or regulatory action, fines and penalties. Given the increased prevalence of customer-imposed cybersecurity controls and other related
contractual obligations towards customers or other third parties, a cyber attack or other security incident also could result in breach of contract or indemnity claims against us by
customers or other counterparties.

While we currently maintain cybersecurity insurance, such insurance may not be sufficient in type or amount to cover us against claims related to cybersecurity breaches or
attacks, failures or other data security-related incidents, and we cannot be certain that cyber insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all,
or that an insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the
occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could materially and adversely
affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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INDUSTRY AND MARKET RISKS

Volatility of oil and natural gas prices can adversely affect demand for our products and services.

Prices of oil and gas products are set on a commodity basis. As a result, the volatility in oil and natural gas prices can impact our customers' activity levels and spending for our
products and services. Current energy prices are important contributors to cash flow for our customers and their ability to fund exploration and development activities. Expectations
about future prices and price volatility are important for determining future spending levels.

Demand for our products and services is subject to factors beyond our control and depends substantially on expenditures by our customers. Changes in the global
economy could impact our customers' spending levels and our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Demand for our services and products is highly correlated with global economic growth and substantially dependent on the levels of expenditures by our customers. Across our
products and services, customer demand may be reduced due to global economic factors beyond our control, including but not limited to inflation, rising interest rates, fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates, and declining availability of credit. Specifically, for example, past oil and natural gas industry downturns have resulted in reduced demand for oilfield
products and services and lower expenditures by our customers, which in the past has resulted, and may in the future result, in a prolonged reduction in oil and natural gas prices
that may require us to record asset impairments, and we could experience decreased revenue, decreased profitability and reduction in cash flows. Such potential impairment
charges and adverse operating metrics could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Supply of oil and natural gas is subject to factors beyond our control, which may adversely affect our operating results.

Productive capacity for oil and natural gas is dependent on our customers' decisions to develop and produce oil and natural gas reserves and on the regulatory environment in
which our customers and we operate. The ability to produce oil and natural gas can be affected by the number and productivity of new wells drilled and completed, as well as the
rate of production and resulting depletion of existing wells.

Currency fluctuations or devaluations may impact our operating results.

Fluctuations or devaluations in foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar can impact our revenue and our costs of doing business and create volatility, as well as the costs of
doing business of our customers.

Changes in economic and/or market conditions may impact our ability to borrow and/or cost of borrowing.

The condition of the capital markets and equity markets in general may affect the price of our common stock and our ability to obtain financing, if necessary. Actions by the
Federal Reserve in the last year to increase interest rates, and the potential for further increases or an extended period of elevated interest rates, has resulted, and could continue
to result, in increased borrowing costs or make the cost of borrowing funds commercially unattractive. Furthermore, if our credit rating is downgraded, it could increase borrowing
costs under credit facilities and issuances of commercial paper, as well as increase the cost of renewing or obtaining, or make it more difficult to renew, obtain, or issue new debt
financing.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR STOCK

The market price and trading volume of our Class A common stock may be volatile, which could result in rapid and substantial losses for our shareholders.

The market price of our Class A common stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations. In addition, the trading volume in our Class A common stock
may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. If the market price of our Class A common stock declines significantly, our shareholders may be unable to sell their
shares of our Class A common stock at or above their purchase price, if at all. We cannot assure our shareholders that the market price of our Class A common stock will not
fluctuate or decline significantly in the future. Some of the factors that could negatively affect the price of our Class A common stock or result in
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fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our Class A common stock include: variations in our quarterly operating results; failure to meet our earnings estimates; publication of
research reports about us or our industry; additions or departures of our executive officers and other key management personnel; adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we
may incur or securities we may issue in the future; actions by shareholders; changes in market valuations of similar companies; speculation in the press or investment community;
changes or proposed changes in laws or regulations or differing interpretations thereof affecting our business or enforcement of these laws and regulations, or announcements
relating to these matters; adverse publicity about our industry generally or individual scandals, specifically; and general market and economic conditions.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law might discourage or delay acquisition attempts for us that might be considered favorable.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that a shareholder may consider
favorable by permitting the Board to issue one or more series of preferred stock, requiring advance notice for shareholder proposals and nominations, and placing limitations on
convening shareholder meetings. These provisions may also discourage acquisition proposals, delay, or prevent a change in control, which could harm our stock price.

Our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain litigation
that may be initiated by our shareholders, which could limit our shareholders' ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.

Pursuant to our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty
owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General
Corporation Law or (4) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation further provides that any
person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our common stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the foregoing provision. The forum
selection clause in our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation may limit our shareholders' ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.

This exclusive forum provision applies to certain state law claims and will not apply to claims under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. In addition, our shareholders will not
be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. This choice of forum provision may limit a shareholder's ability
to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our
directors, officers and employees.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

RISK MANAGEMENT & STRATEGY

Overall Process

We protect our digital systems and data through a comprehensive cybersecurity management program, which includes a dedicated cybersecurity function, risk assessments,
policies and procedures, and technical measures and related services from third party service providers. We have a dedicated Chief Information Security Officer ("CISO") with
overall responsibility for the cybersecurity program, including threat detection and response, vulnerability management, governance, risk and compliance, security strategy and
architecture, security engineering and operations, product and operational technology security. As part of our cybersecurity management program, we operate a Cyber Fusion
Center ("CFC") to monitor both internal and external cybersecurity threats, conduct initial assessment of severity, coordinate incident response resources, reduce incident response
time, and
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shift toward a proactive cyber-defense model, which includes a dedicated threat intelligence program that leverages custom intelligence platforms as well as industry specific
professional associations and ongoing threat hunting. Through our cybersecurity risk management program, we monitor cybersecurity vulnerabilities and potential attack vectors
and evaluate the potential operational and financial effects of any threat and countermeasures made to defend against such threats.

We have established policies and procedures, including our Incident Response Plan ("IRP"), for assessing, identifying, managing, and responding to cybersecurity and privacy
threats and incidents, including protocols for assessing potential material impact from cybersecurity threats and incidents, escalating to executive leadership and the Board,
engaging external stakeholders, and reporting incidents based on applicable legal requirements. Our IRP provides guidance in the event of a cybersecurity incident, including
processes with assigned roles and responsibilities to triage, assess severity, escalate, contain, investigate, and remediate incidents, as well as to comply with potentially applicable
legal obligations and mitigate brand and reputational damage. We conduct regular cybersecurity tabletop exercises to test established policies and procedures for responding to
cybersecurity threats and incidents. In addition, employees and stakeholders can report cybersecurity threats, cybersecurity and data privacy incidents, or other concerns through
external and internal reporting channels.

Enterprise Risk Management Process Integration

Cybersecurity risk management processes are an integral part of our enterprise risk management, which is overseen by the Audit Committee of the Board. Our processes
include periodic program maturity assessments, ongoing information technology risk assessments, and third-party security risks assessments.

Our cybersecurity risk management efforts have also been integrated into the overall Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") process, which includes assessment of
cybersecurity risks that could result in significant operational disruption to the Company, such as production disruption, business downtime, loss of containment or other operation
interruptions, as well as risks that could have significant reputational and compliance/regulatory impact. Cybersecurity risks identified and tracked through our ERM risk register
have assigned risk owners at the executive leadership level and risk delegates who are responsible to identify and manage risk mitigation actions. Key risk indicators are updated
quarterly by risk delegates and communicated to our executive leadership and the Audit Committee.

We leverage recognized cybersecurity frameworks to drive strategic direction and maturity improvement and engage third party security experts for risk assessments, risk
mitigation actions, and program enhancements. We also include cybersecurity training as part of our required annual employee training program. In addition, cybersecurity and
privacy training and awareness is integrated and continues throughout the year, utilizing various delivery methods such as phishing campaigns, training sessions, and informational
articles.

Third Party Security Experts

We engage third party security experts to supplement our internal CFC team as well as for assessments, penetration tests and program enhancements, including vulnerability
assessments, security framework maturity assessments and identification of areas for continued focus and improvement. In addition, our third-party experts work with us to conduct
cybersecurity tabletop exercises and internal phishing awareness campaigns. We use the findings of these exercises to improve our practices, procedures, and technologies. We
also engage third party security experts to support our cybersecurity threat and incident response management and maintain information security risk insurance coverage.

Identification of Threats Associated with Third Parties

Baker Hughes utilizes a third-party risk management ("TPRM") program to identify, assess, monitor, and mitigate risks associated with third-party relationships, including
cybersecurity risks. We conduct initial risk assessments of third-party suppliers and service providers based on various factors to classify each into a risk category. Our TPRM
program is designed to apply our most rigorous processes to those suppliers and service providers that are classified into the highest risk category. These processes include due
diligence assessments of third-party suppliers and service providers that have access to Baker Hughes networks, confidential information, and information systems in order to
assess the risks from cybersecurity threats that could impact our suppliers and third-party service providers. We leverage external partners to assist with the regular assessment of
our top priority
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suppliers and third-party service providers to identify, review and address risks, including deeper reviews of their cybersecurity controls. We track the identified deficiencies and
include with other cybersecurity metrics based on their severity. We also require that our suppliers and third-party service providers have in place appropriate technical and
organizational security measures and security-control principles based on recognized cybersecurity standards.

Incidents & Risks

We have not experienced a material cybersecurity incident and although we are subject to ongoing and evolving cybersecurity threats, we are not aware of any material risks
from cybersecurity threats that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial
condition. For more information on our cybersecurity risks, see "Technology Risks" identified in the "Risk Factors" section of Part 1 of Item 1A herein.

GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors

Oversight responsibilities for our cybersecurity and digital trust compliance programs and risks lie with the Audit Committee of the Board. The Board is actively engaged in the
oversight of our cybersecurity program and oversees all operational, financial, strategic, and reputational risks with oversight of specific risks undertaken with the committee
structure including risks related to cybersecurity, privacy, and technology.

The Audit Committee receives reports on the Company's cybersecurity program and developments from our Chief Information Officer ("CIO"), who reports to the Chief
Executive Officer, and our CISO, who reports to the CIO, at each of our regular meetings, which occur five times a year. These reports typically include analyses of recent
cybersecurity threats and incidents at the Company and across the industry, as well as a review of our own security controls, assessments and program maturity, and risk mitigation
status, as well as a review of our third-party service providers. Our digital technology, legal, and the corporate audit functions also routinely present to the Audit Committee on key
cybersecurity topics and, on at least an annual basis, the Board receives reports on the Company's cybersecurity program and developments from the CIO and CISO.

Management

Our programs are focused on building digital trust through sound oversight of cybersecurity and data privacy protections and the responsible use of data and technology. We
operate a CFC, and we have a cross-functional approach to addressing cybersecurity-related risks through the functional compliance structures in our digital technology and legal
organizations with oversight from the corporate audit and controllership functions. The cybersecurity and legal functions employ full time cybersecurity and privacy roles with
expertise in managing cybersecurity and privacy compliance and risks and responding to incidents.

Our senior executive leadership is actively engaged in the oversight and strategic direction of our cybersecurity and digital trust compliance programs. The senior executive
leadership-level Cybersecurity Steering Committee ("CSC") is responsible for assessing cybersecurity risks, providing direction and oversight for risk mitigation action, and assisting
the Audit Committee in overseeing the Company’s cybersecurity risks. The CSC also receives monthly reports on the Company's cybersecurity program and developments from our
CISO and legal representatives. The CSC is chaired by our CISO. The senior executive leadership members include the CIO, Chief Legal Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief
Compliance Officer, and Senior Vice President of Operations Excellence.

The CISO has over 25 years of business experience in information technology and cybersecurity and is a long-standing certified information systems security professional
("CISSP") with the International Information System Security Certification Consortium.

We have an Incident Response Team ("IRT") that consists primarily of representatives from the CFC, legal, corporate communications, finance, and other relevant stakeholders.
The IRT follows the guidance as outlined in the IRP to respond to cybersecurity incidents and escalate as necessary to the CSC based on a defined severity matrix. Internal legal
and finance stakeholders are responsible for assessing materiality of risks in consultation with the IRT, CSC, the CEO, and external advisors.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We own or lease numerous properties throughout the world. We consider our manufacturing plants, equipment assembly, maintenance and overhaul facilities, grinding plants,
drilling fluids and chemical processing centers, and primary research and technology centers to be our principal properties. The following sets forth the location of our principal
owned or leased facilities for our business segments as of December 31, 2023:

Oilfield Services & Equipment:
Houston, Pasadena, and The Woodlands, Texas; Claremore, Oklahoma - all located in the United States; Leduc, Canada;
Celle, Germany; Tananger, Norway; Aberdeen and Montrose, Scotland; Nailsea and Newcastle, England; Macae and Niteroi,
Brazil; Singapore, Singapore; Suzhou, China; Kakinada, India; Abu Dhabi and Dubai, United Arab Emirates; Dammam and
Dhahran, Saudi Arabia; Luanda, Angola; Port Harcourt, Nigeria

Industrial & Energy Technology:
Deer Park, Texas; Jacksonville, Florida; Billerica, Massachusetts; Minden, Nevada; Twinsburg, Ohio - all located in the United
States; Florence, Massa, Avenza, Bari, and Talamona, Italy; Le Creusot, France; Leicester, England; Shannon, Ireland; Hurth
and Wunstorf, Germany; Pilsen, Czech Republic; Shanghai, China; Doha, Qatar; Boufarik, Algeria; Coimbatore, India

We lease our corporate headquarters in Houston, Texas. We also own or lease numerous other facilities such as service centers, blend plants, workshops and sales and
administrative offices throughout the geographic regions in which we operate. We also have a significant investment in service vehicles, tools and manufacturing and other
equipment. All of our owned properties are unencumbered. We believe that our facilities are well maintained and suitable for their intended purposes and are operating at a level
consistent with the requirements of the industry in which we operate.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information with respect to Item 3. Legal Proceedings is contained in "Note 19. Commitments and Contingencies" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item
8 herein.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Our barite mining operations, in support of our OFSE segment, are subject to regulation by the Federal Mine Safety and Health Administration under the Federal Mine Safety
and Health Act of 1977. Information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K is included in Exhibit 95 to this Annual Report.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the ticker symbol 'BKR'. As of January 26, 2024, there were
approximately 5,663 stockholders of record.

The following table contains information about our purchases of Class A common stock equity securities during the fourth quarter of 2023.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Period

Total Number
of Shares

 Purchased 

Average
Price Paid

Per Share 

Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of
a Publicly Announced Plan

or Programs 

Maximum Dollar Value
of Shares that May Yet Be

Purchased Under the Plan or Programs 

October 1-31, 2023 1,504,251 $ 34.84 1,494,491 $ 2,461,020,155 
November 1-30, 2023 6,396,260 34.39 6,356,047 $ 2,242,451,793 
December 1-31, 2023 790,967 31.77 788,251 $ 2,217,416,302 
Total 8,691,478 $ 34.23 8,638,789 

Represents Class A common stock purchased from employees to satisfy the tax withholding obligations primarily in connection with the vesting of restricted stock units.

Average price paid for Class A common stock purchased from employees to satisfy the tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of restricted stock units and shares purchased
in the open market under our publicly announced purchase program.

In July 2021, the Board authorized the Company to repurchase up to $2 billion of its Class A common stock. In October 2022, the Board authorized an increase to our repurchase program of
$2 billion of additional Class A common stock, increasing its existing repurchase authorization of $2 billion to $4 billion. The repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any
time and does not have a specified expiration date. During the three months ended December 31, 2023, our agents repurchased a number of our Class A common stock that complied with
Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act.

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, we repurchased and subsequently canceled 8.6 million shares of Class A common stock at an average price of $34.23 per share for a
total of $296 million.

(1) (2) (3) (4) (3) (4)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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Corporate Performance Graph

The following graph compares the yearly change in our cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock (assuming reinvestment of dividends into common stock at the
date of payment) with the cumulative total return on the published Standard & Poor's ("S&P") 500 Stock Index, the cumulative total return on the S&P 500 Oil and Gas Equipment
and Services Index, and the Philadelphia Oil Service Index ("OSX") over the preceding five year period. Although the Company is not a component of the OSX, this index
represents a large group of companies with similar industry exposure, many of which provide the same or similar equipment and services as the Company.

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return
BKR, S&P 500 Stock Index, S&P 500 Oil and Gas Equipment and Services Index, and OSX

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Baker Hughes Company ("BKR") $ 100.00 $ 122.94 $ 104.35 $ 124.14 $ 156.30 $ 185.32 
S&P 500 Stock Index 100.00 131.47 155.65 200.29 163.98 207.04 
S&P 500 Oil and Gas Equipment and Services Index 100.00 110.54 70.49 89.93 148.98 152.38 
Philadelphia Oil Service Index ("OSX") 100.00 99.45 57.60 69.55 112.31 114.47 

The comparison of total return on investment (change in year-end stock price plus reinvested dividends) assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2018 in Baker
Hughes common stock, the S&P 500 Index, the S&P 500 Oil and Gas Equipment and Services Index, and the OSX.

The corporate performance graph and related information shall not be deemed "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by
reference into any future filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that Baker Hughes specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data contained herein.

For management's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations for fiscal year 2022 as compared to fiscal year 2021 please refer to Part II, Item 7.
"Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations" on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission ("SEC") on February 14, 2023.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

We are an energy technology company with a broad and diversified portfolio of technologies and services that span the energy and industrial value chain. We operate through
our two business segments: OFSE and IET. We sell products and services primarily in the global oil and gas markets, within the upstream, midstream and downstream segments,
as well as broader industrial and new energy markets.

During 2023, Baker Hughes built strong momentum across the Company with significant improvement in our financial results over 2022. In OFSE, we saw key commercial
successes and solid margin improvements, and in IET, we benefited from robust growth in LNG orders, driving RPO to levels that provides meaningful revenue visibility. Overall, we
capitalized on market tailwinds to deliver strong revenue growth across both segments, began realizing the full benefits of our cost-out initiatives, and continued to transform how we
operate. We also achieved significant growth in new energy orders compared to 2022 as we continue to experience growing demand for decarbonization solutions across the
Company's IET and OFSE portfolios.

As we look to 2024, we remain balanced on the oil and gas outlook but continue to see areas of strength across our portfolio despite persisting economic uncertainty. We
continue to believe in a multiyear upstream spending cycle, which, we believe, will be more durable and less sensitive to commodity price swings relative to prior cycles and led by
international and offshore markets. Continued discipline from the world's largest producers and the pace of oil demand growth in the face of economic uncertainty, will remain
important factors to monitor as we look into 2024. Oil and gas prices have experienced volatility in the fourth quarter of 2023 and beginning of 2024, and this will likely have some
influence on upstream development plans, particularly for shorter-cycle spending budgets.

Additionally, the conflict in the Middle East has added another element of uncertainty across the oil and gas markets. While this conflict has not had a material impact on our
operations, a further escalation in geopolitical tensions across the region could impact the Company. We will continue to monitor and assess the impact of the conflict in the Middle
East on our business. Furthermore, in IET, the aeroderivative supply chain continues to show signs of tightness, which we will continue to manage operationally.

We also remain optimistic on the LNG outlook, seeing a continued shift towards the development of natural gas and LNG. As a result, the LNG project pipeline remains strong,
both in the U.S. and internationally. As the world increasingly recognizes the crucial role natural gas is expected to play in the energy transition, serving as both a transition and
destination fuel, we believe it will be fundamental in satisfying the world's energy needs for many decades to come.

Financial Results

In 2023, the Company generated revenue of $25.5 billion, compared to $21.2 billion in 2022, increasing $4.4 billion or 21%. The increase in revenue was primarily driven by
higher volume in IET on Gas Technology Equipment project backlog execution and stronger activity in OFSE. Income before tax was $2,655 million in 2023 compared to $22 million
in 2022, increasing $2,633 million. The increase in income before tax was driven by higher volume and price in both segments and structural cost-out initiatives, positive effect from
the change in fair value on certain equity securities, and lower restructuring and impairment charges.
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Our journey of transformation continues. The business has undertaken significant structural changes, and we see the cost-out performance coming through our operating
results. We have made significant progress; however, there is still more work to do to further identify areas to simplify and create efficiencies and modernize how the business
operates, including actions launched in OFSE to remove duplication and further streamline the business.

Baker Hughes remains committed to a flexible capital allocation policy that balances returning cash to shareholders and investing in growth opportunities. We increased our
quarterly dividend in the third quarter of 2023 by one cent to $0.20 per share. For the full year of 2023, we returned a total of $1.3 billion to shareholders in the form of dividends and
share repurchases. We continue to invest in the Baker Hughes portfolio through strategic acquisitions. In 2023, we completed the acquisition of Altus Intervention, a leading
international provider of well intervention services and downhole technology, which significantly enhances OFSE's existing portfolio. We also completed the sale of the Nexus
Controls business in April 2023.

Outlook

Our business is exposed to a number of macro factors, which influence our outlook and expectations given the current volatile conditions in the industry. All of our outlook
expectations are purely based on the market as we see it today and are subject to changing conditions in the industry.

• OFSE North America activity: After trending lower most of 2023 due to lower activity from private exploration & production operators and in gas basins, North American
activity has recently stabilized. However, we see a slow start to 2024 and anticipate only a modest recovery in activity during the second half of 2024.

• OFSE International activity: We expect spending outside of North America to experience moderate growth in 2024, as compared to 2023.

• IET LNG projects: We remain optimistic on the LNG market long-term and view natural gas as a transition and destination fuel. We continue to view the long-term
economics of the LNG industry as positive.

We have other businesses in our portfolio that are more correlated with various industrial metrics, including global GDP growth. We also have businesses within our portfolio
that are exposed to new energy solutions, specifically focused around reducing carbon emissions of the energy and broader industry, including hydrogen, geothermal, CCUS,
energy storage, clean power and emissions abatement solutions. We expect to see continued growth in these businesses as new energy solutions become a more prevalent part of
the broader energy mix.

Overall, we believe our portfolio is well positioned to compete across the energy value chain and deliver comprehensive solutions for our customers. We remain optimistic about
the long-term economics of the oil and gas industry, but we are continuing to operate with flexibility. Over time, we believe the world's demand for energy will continue to rise, and
that hydrocarbons will play a major role in meeting the world's energy needs for the foreseeable future. As such, we remain focused on delivering innovative, low-emission, and
cost-effective solutions that deliver step changes in operating and economic performance for our customers.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

The following discussion and analysis summarizes the significant factors affecting our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity position as of and for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes of the Company.

Our revenue is predominately generated from the sale of products and services to major, national, and independent oil and natural gas companies worldwide, and is dependent
on spending by our customers for oil and natural gas exploration, field development and production. This spending is driven by a number of factors, including our customers'
forecasts of future energy demand and supply, their access to resources to develop and produce oil and natural gas, their ability to fund their capital programs, the impact of new
government regulations, and their expectations for oil and natural gas prices as a key driver of their cash flows.
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Oil and Natural Gas Prices

Oil and natural gas prices are summarized in the table below as averages of the daily closing prices during each of the periods indicated.

2023 2022
Brent oil prices ($/Bbl) $ 82.49 $ 100.93 
WTI oil prices ($/Bbl) 77.58 94.90 
Natural gas prices ($/mmBtu) 2.53 6.45 

Energy Information Administration ("EIA") Europe Brent Spot Price per Barrel

EIA Cushing, OK West Texas Intermediate ("WTI") spot price

EIA Henry Hub Natural Gas Spot Price per million British Thermal Unit

Outside North America, customer spending is influenced by Brent oil prices. The average Brent oil prices decreased to $82.49/Bbl in 2023 from $100.93/Bbl in 2022 and ranged
from a low of $71.03/Bbl in March 2023, to a high of $97.10/Bbl in September 2023.

In North America, customer spending is influenced by WTI oil prices, which similarly to Brent oil prices, on average decreased to $77.58/Bbl in 2023 from $94.90/Bbl in 2022,
and ranged from a low of $66.61/Bbl in March 2023, to a high of $93.67/Bbl in September 2023.

In North America, natural gas prices, as measured by the Henry Hub Natural Gas Spot Price, averaged $2.53/mmBtu in 2023, representing a 61% decrease over the prior year.
Throughout the year, Henry Hub Natural Gas Spot Prices ranged from a high of $3.78/mmBtu in January 2023, to a low of $1.74/mmBtu in June 2023. According to the U.S.
Department of Energy, working natural gas in storage at the end of 2023 was 3,476 billion cubic feet ("Bcf"), which was 20%, or 585 Bcf, below the corresponding week in 2022.

Baker Hughes Rig Count

The Baker Hughes rig counts are an important business barometer for the drilling industry and its suppliers. When drilling rigs are active they consume products and services
produced by the oil service industry. Rig count trends are driven by the exploration and development spending by oil and natural gas companies, which in turn is influenced by
current and future price expectations for oil and natural gas. The counts may reflect the relative strength and stability of energy prices and overall market activity; however, these
counts should not be solely relied on as other specific and pervasive conditions may exist that affect overall energy prices and market activity.

We have been providing rig counts to the public since 1944. We gather all relevant data through our field service personnel, who obtain the necessary data from routine visits to
the various rigs, customers, contractors and other outside sources as necessary. We base the classification of a well as either oil or natural gas primarily upon filings made by
operators in the relevant jurisdiction. This data is then compiled and distributed to various wire services and trade associations and is published on our website. We believe the
counting process and resulting data is reliable; however, it is subject to our ability to obtain accurate and timely information. Rig counts are compiled weekly for the U.S. and Canada
and monthly for all international rigs. Published international rig counts do not include rigs drilling in certain locations, such as onshore China because this information is not readily
available.

Rigs in the U.S. and Canada are counted as active if, on the day the count is taken, the well being drilled has been started but drilling has not been completed and the well is
anticipated to be of sufficient depth to be a potential consumer of our drill bits. In international areas, rigs are counted on a weekly basis and deemed active if drilling activities
occurred during the majority of the week. The weekly results are then averaged for the month and published accordingly. The rig count does not include rigs that are in transit from
one location to another, rigging up, being used in non-drilling activities including production testing, completion and workover, and are not expected to be significant consumers of
drill bits.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)
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The rig counts are summarized in the table below as averages for each of the periods indicated.

2023 2022
North America 864 898 
International 948 851 
Worldwide 1,812 1,749 

2023 Compared to 2022

The worldwide rig count was 1,812 in 2023, an increase of 4% as compared to 2022 primarily due to an increase in activity internationally partially offset by a decline in North
America. The rig count in North America decreased 4% and the international rig count increased 11% in 2023 compared to 2022.

Within North America, the decrease was primarily driven by the U.S. rig count, which was down 5% on average when compared to the same period last year, partially offset by
an increase in the Canada rig count, which was up 1% on average. Internationally, the increase in the rig count was driven by increases in the Africa, Europe, Asia-Pacific, Middle
East, and Latin America regions of 24%, 22%, 11%, 8%, and 6%, respectively.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The discussions below relating to significant line items from our consolidated statements of income (loss) are based on available information and represent our analysis of
significant changes or events that impact the comparability of reported amounts. Where appropriate, we have identified specific events and changes that affect comparability or
trends and, where reasonably practicable, have quantified the impact of such items. In addition, the discussions below for revenue and cost of revenue are on a total basis as the
business drivers for product sales and services are similar. All dollar amounts in tabulations in this section are in millions of dollars, unless otherwise stated. Certain columns and
rows may not add due to the use of rounded numbers.

Our results of operations are evaluated by the Chief Executive Officer on a consolidated basis as well as at the segment level. The performance of our operating segments is
primarily evaluated based on segment operating income (loss), which is defined as income (loss) before income taxes and before the following: net interest expense, net other non-
operating income (loss), corporate expenses, restructuring, impairment and other charges, inventory impairments, and certain gains and losses not allocated to the operating
segments.

In evaluating the segment performance, the Company primarily uses the following:

Volume: Volume is defined as the increase or decrease in products and/or services sold period-over-period excluding the impact of foreign exchange and price. The volume
impact on profit is calculated by multiplying the prior period profit rate by the change in revenue volume between the current and prior period. Volume also includes price, which is
defined as the change in sales price for a comparable product or service period-over-period and is calculated as the period-over-period change in sales prices of comparable
products and services.

Foreign Exchange ("FX"): FX measures the translational foreign exchange impact, or the translation impact of the period-over-period change on sales and costs directly
attributable to change in the foreign exchange rate compared to the U.S. dollar. FX impact is calculated by multiplying the functional currency amounts (revenue or profit) with the
period-over-period FX rate variance, using the average exchange rate for the respective period.

(Inflation)/Deflation: (Inflation)/deflation is defined as the increase or decrease in direct and indirect costs of the same type for an equal amount of volume. It is calculated as
the year-over-year change in cost (i.e. price paid) of direct material, compensation and benefits, and overhead costs.

Productivity: Productivity is measured by the remaining variance in profit, after adjusting for the period-over-period impact of volume and price, foreign exchange and
(inflation)/deflation as defined above. Improved or lower period-over-period cost productivity is the result of cost efficiencies or inefficiencies, such as cost decreasing or increasing
more than volume, or cost increasing or decreasing less than volume, or changes in sales mix among segments. This also includes the period-over-period variance of transactional
foreign exchange, aside from those foreign currency devaluations that are reported separately for business evaluation purposes.
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Orders and Remaining Performance Obligations

Our consolidated statements of income (loss) displays sales and costs of sales in accordance with SEC regulations under which "goods" is required to include all sales of
tangible products and "services" must include all other sales, including other services activities. For the amounts shown below, we distinguish between "equipment" and "product
services," where product services refers to sales under product services agreements, including sales of both goods (such as spare parts and equipment upgrades) and related
services (such as monitoring, maintenance and repairs), which is an important part of our operations. We refer to "product services" simply as "services" within Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Orders: We recognized orders of $30.5 billion and $26.8 billion in 2023 and 2022, respectively. We recognized OFSE orders of $16.3 billion and $14.1 billion, and IET orders of
$14.2 billion and $12.7 billion in 2023 and 2022, respectively. Within IET, Gas Technology orders were $10.4 billion and $9.2 billion, Industrial Technology orders were $3.2 billion
and $3.1 billion, and CTS orders were $0.6 billion and $0.4 billion in 2023 and 2022, respectively. References to total new energy orders incorporates CTS in IET of $0.6 billion and
OFSE of $0.2 billion.

Remaining Performance Obligations ("RPO"): As of December 31, 2023, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)
performance obligations was $33.5 billion. As of December 31, 2023, OFSE remaining performance obligations totaled $3.5 billion, and IET remaining performance obligations
totaled $29.9 billion.

Revenue and Operating Income

Summarized financial information for the Company's segments is shown in the following tables.

Year Ended December 31, $ Change
2023 2022 From 2022 to 2023

Revenue:
Well Construction $ 4,387 $ 3,854 $ 533 
Completions, Intervention & Measurements 4,170 3,559 611 
Production Solutions 3,854 3,587 267 
Subsea & Surface Pressure Systems 2,950 2,230 720 
Oilfield Services & Equipment 15,361 13,229 2,131 

Gas Technology Equipment 4,232 2,599 1,633 
Gas Technology Services 2,600 2,440 160 

Total Gas Technology 6,832 5,039 1,793 
Industrial Products 1,962 1,697 265 
Industrial Solutions 983 884 99 
Controls 41 208 (167)

Total Industrial Technology 2,987 2,789 198 
Climate Technology Solutions 326 98 228 

Industrial & Energy Technology 10,145 7,926 2,219 
Total $ 25,506 $ 21,156 $ 4,350 

The sale of our controls business was completed in April 2023.

 (1)

(1)
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The following table presents Oilfield Services & Equipment revenue by geographic region:

Year Ended December 31, $ Change
2023 2022 From 2022 to 2023

North America $ 4,116 $ 3,764 $ 352 
Latin America 2,761 2,099 662 
Europe/CIS/Sub-Saharan Africa 2,655 2,483 172 
Middle East/Asia 5,829 4,883 946 
Oilfield Services & Equipment $ 15,361 $ 13,229 $ 2,131 

North America $ 4,116 $ 3,764 $ 352 
International 11,245 9,465 1,779 

Impacted by the discontinuation of our Russia operations that occurred in 2022.

The following table presents segment operating income through to net income (loss) for the Company.

Year Ended December 31, $ Change
2023 2022 From 2022 to 2023

Segment operating income:
Oilfield Services & Equipment $ 1,746 $ 1,201 $ 546 
Industrial & Energy Technology 1,310 1,135 175 

Total segment operating income 3,055 2,336 719 
Corporate (380) (416) 36 
Inventory impairment (35) (31) (4)
Restructuring, impairment and other (323) (705) 382 
Operating income 2,317 1,185 1,133 
Other non-operating income (loss), net 554 (911) 1,464 
Interest expense, net (216) (252) 36 
Income before income taxes 2,655 22 2,633 
Provision for income taxes (685) (600) (85)
Net income (loss) $ 1,970 $ (578) $ 2,547 

Charges for inventory impairments are reported in "Cost of goods sold" in the consolidated statements of income (loss).

Fiscal Year 2023 to Fiscal Year 2022

Revenue increased $4,350 million, or 21%, driven by increased activity across both segments. OFSE increased $2,131 million and IET increased $2,219 million. Total segment
operating income increased $719 million, primarily driven by OFSE and to a lesser extent IET.

Oilfield Services & Equipment

OFSE revenue of $15,361 million increased $2,131 million, or 16%, in 2023 compared to 2022, as a result of increased activity as evidenced by an increase in the global rig
count. International revenue was $11,245 million in 2023, an increase of $1,779 million from 2022, primarily driven by the Middle East/Asia and Latin America regions, partially offset
by lower volume due to the discontinuation of our Russia operations that occurred in 2022. North America revenue was $4,116 million in 2023, an increase of $352 million from
2022.

OFSE segment operating income was $1,746 million in 2023 compared to $1,201 million in 2022. The increase in operating income was primarily driven by higher volume, price
and cost-out initiatives, partially offset by inflationary pressure and lower cost productivity.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Industrial & Energy Technology

IET revenue of $10,145 million increased $2,219 million, or 28%, in 2023 compared to 2022. The increase was primarily driven by higher volume in Gas Technology Equipment
and, to a lesser extent, in CTS, Industrial Technology and Gas Technology Services.

IET segment operating income was $1,310 million in 2023 compared to $1,135 million in 2022. The operating income performance in 2023 was driven by higher volume, price
and cost-out initiatives, partially offset by unfavorable business mix and cost productivity, inflationary pressure, and higher research and development costs related to new energy
investments.

Corporate

In 2023, corporate expenses were $380 million compared to $416 million in 2022. The decrease of $36 million was driven by savings related to our corporate optimization
process.

Inventory Impairment

In 2023, we recorded inventory impairments of $35 million, predominately in the OFSE segment related to exit activities at specific locations. In 2022, we recorded inventory
impairments of $31 million, primarily in the IET segment as part of suspending our Russia operations. Charges for inventory impairments are reported in "Cost of goods sold" in the
consolidated statements of income (loss).

Restructuring, Impairment and Other

In 2023, we recognized $323 million of restructuring, impairment, and other charges. We continued to incur charges in 2023 related to our plan initiated in 2022 that consisted
primarily of employee termination expenses driven by actions taken to facilitate our reorganization into two segments and to optimize our corporate structure. Restructuring charges
for 2023 also include costs related to exit activities at specific locations in our segments to align with the current market outlook and to rationalize our manufacturing supply chain
footprint. In the fourth quarter of 2023, we incurred additional costs related to a planned workforce reduction, primarily in OFSE.

In 2022, we recognized $705 million of restructuring, impairment, and other charges primarily related to the suspension of substantially all of our operations in Russia, and the
impairment of certain long-lived assets in the OFSE segment for the subsea production systems business due to a decrease in the estimated future cash flows driven by a decline in
our long-term market outlook for this business.

Other Non-Operating Income (Loss), Net

In 2023, we incurred $554 million of other non-operating income. Included in this amount was a gain of $555 million from the change in fair value for certain equity investments.

In 2022, we incurred $911 million of other non-operating losses primarily due to the loss of $451 million from the sale of part of the OFSE business in Russia and a loss of $265
million from the change in fair value for certain equity investments. Additionally, in December 2022, the Company, Baker Hughes Holdings, LLC ("BHH LLC") and GE entered into an
agreement which resulted in the termination of the Tax Matters Agreement ("TMA"), and as a result, we incurred a charge of $81 million, of which $21 million was a cash payment to
GE as a net settlement of claims asserted under the TMA. The TMA governed the administration and allocation between the parties of tax liabilities and benefits arising prior to, as a
result of, and subsequent to the merger in 2017, including the respective rights, responsibilities, and obligations of the parties with respect to various other tax matters.

Interest Expense, Net

In 2023, we incurred net interest expense of $216 million, which includes interest income of $84 million. Net interest expense decreased $36 million compared to 2022, primarily
driven by higher interest income.
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Income Taxes

In 2023, the provision for income taxes was $685 million. The difference between the U.S. statutory tax rate of 21% and the effective tax rate is primarily related to income in
jurisdictions with tax rates higher than in the U.S. and losses with no tax benefit due to valuation allowances, partially offset by income subject to U.S. tax at an effective rate less
than 21% due to valuation allowances.

In 2022, the provision for income taxes was $600 million. The difference between the U.S. statutory tax rate of 21% and the effective tax rate is primarily related to losses with
no tax benefit due to valuation allowances, restructuring charges for which a majority has no tax benefit, and earnings in jurisdictions with tax rates higher than in the U.S.

In 2021, as part of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development's ("OECD") Inclusive Framework, 140 member countries agreed to the implementation of the
Pillar Two Global Minimum Tax ("Pillar Two") of 15%. The OECD continues to release additional guidance, including administrative guidance on how Pillar Two rules should be
interpreted and applied by jurisdictions as they adopt Pillar Two. A number of countries have utilized the administrative guidance as a starting point for legislation that is effective
January 1, 2024. Baker Hughes is continuing to evaluate the potential impact on future periods of Pillar Two, pending legislative adoption by individual countries.

COMPLIANCE

In the conduct of all of our activities, we are committed to maintaining the core values of our Company, as well as high safety, ethical, and quality standards as also reported in
our Quality Management System. We believe such a commitment is integral to running a sound, successful, and sustainable business. We devote significant resources to maintain
a comprehensive global ethics and compliance program ("Compliance Program") which is designed to prevent, detect, and appropriately respond to any potential violations of the
law, the Code of Conduct, and other Company policies and procedures.

Highlights of our Compliance Program include the following:

• Comprehensive internal policies over such areas as anti-bribery; travel, entertainment, gifts and charitable donations to government officials and other parties; payments to
commercial sales representatives; and, the use of non-U.S. police or military organizations for security purposes. In addition, there are policies and procedures to address
customs requirements, visa processing risks, export and re-export controls, economic sanctions, anti-money laundering and anti-boycott laws.

• Global and independent structure of Chief Compliance Officer and other compliance professionals providing compliance advice, customized training and governance, as
well as investigating allegations across all regions and countries where we do business.

• Comprehensive employee compliance training program that combines instructor-led and web-based training modules tailored to the key risks that employees face on an
ongoing basis.

• Due diligence and monitoring procedures for third parties who conduct business on our behalf, including channel partners (sales representatives, distributors, resellers), and
administrative service providers.

• Due diligence procedures for acquisition activities.

• Specifically tailored compliance risk assessments and audits focused on country and third party risk.

• Compliance Review Board comprised of senior officers of the Company that meets quarterly to monitor effectiveness of the Compliance Program, as well as segment
compliance review boards that meet quarterly.

• Technology to monitor and report on compliance matters, including an internal investigations management system, a conflict of interest reporting and management system,
a web-based anti-boycott reporting tool, global trade management systems and comprehensive watch list screening.
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• Data privacy compliance policies and procedures to ensure compliance with applicable data privacy requirements.

• A compliance program designed to create an "Open Reporting Environment" where employees are encouraged to report any ethics or compliance matter without fear of
retaliation, including a global network of trained employee ombudspersons, and a worldwide, 24-hour business helpline operated by a third party and available in
approximately 200 languages.

• Centralized finance organization with company-wide policies.

• Anti-corruption audits of high-risk countries, as well as risk-based compliance audits of third parties.

• We have region-specific processes and procedures for management of HR related issues, including pre-hire screening of employees; a process to screen existing
employees prior to promotion into select roles where they may be exposed to finance and/or corruption-related risks; and implementation of a global new hire training
module which includes compliance training for all employees.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our objective in financing our business is to maintain sufficient liquidity, adequate financial resources, and financial flexibility in order to fund the requirements of our business.
We continue to maintain solid financial strength and liquidity. At December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $2.6 billion compared to $2.5 billion at December 31,
2022.

In the U.S. we held cash and cash equivalents of approximately $0.6 billion as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and outside the U.S. of approximately $2.0 billion and $1.9
billion as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. A substantial portion of the cash held outside the U.S. at December 31, 2023 has been reinvested in active non-U.S.
business operations. If we decide at a later date to repatriate certain cash to the U.S., we may incur other additional taxes that would not be significant to the total tax provision.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had $637 million and $605 million, respectively, of cash held in countries with currency controls that limit the flow of cash out of the
jurisdiction or limit our ability to transfer funds without potentially incurring substantial costs. These funds are available to fund operations and growth in their respective jurisdictions,
and we do not currently anticipate a need to transfer these funds to the U.S.

In November 2023, BHH LLC entered into a $3 billion committed unsecured revolving credit facility ("the New Credit Agreement") with commercial banks maturing in November
2028. The New Credit Agreement contains certain representations and warranties, certain affirmative covenants and negative covenants, in each case we consider customary.
Upon the occurrence of certain events of default, our obligations under the New Credit Agreement may be accelerated. Such events of default include payment defaults to lenders
under the New Credit Agreement and other customary defaults. No such events of default have occurred. The New Credit Agreement is fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a
senior unsecured basis by Baker Hughes. In addition, we have authorization to issue up to $3 billion of commercial paper. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no
borrowings under the New Credit Agreement and no outstanding commercial paper.

Certain Senior Notes contain covenants that restrict our ability to take certain actions. See "Note 9. Debt" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report for further details. At December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with all debt covenants. Our next debt maturity is June 2024.

We continuously review our liquidity and capital resources. If market conditions were to change, for instance due to the uncertainty created by geopolitical events, a global
pandemic or a significant decline in oil and gas prices, and our revenue was reduced significantly or operating costs were to increase significantly, our cash flows and liquidity could
be negatively impacted. Additionally, it could cause the rating agencies to lower our credit ratings. There are no ratings triggers that would accelerate the maturity of any borrowings
under our committed credit facility; however, a downgrade in our credit ratings could increase the cost of borrowings under the credit facility and could also limit or preclude our
ability to issue commercial paper. Should this occur, we could seek alternative sources of funding, including borrowing under the credit facility.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, we dispersed cash to fund a variety of activities including certain working capital needs, capital expenditures, business acquisitions,
the payment of dividends, repayment of long-term debt, and repurchases of our common stock.

Cash Flows

Cash flows provided by (used in) each type of activity were as follows for the years ended December 31:

(In millions) 2023 2022
Operating activities $ 3,062 $ 1,888 
Investing activities (817) (1,564)
Financing activities (2,028) (1,592)

Operating Activities

Cash flows from operating activities generated cash of $3,062 million and $1,888 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Our largest source of operating cash is payments from customers, of which the largest component is collecting cash related to our sales of products and services including
advance payments or progress collections for work to be performed. The primary use of operating cash is to pay our suppliers, employees, tax authorities, and others for a wide
range of goods and services.

In 2023, cash generated from operating activities were primarily driven by net income adjusted for certain noncash items (including depreciation, amortization, gain on equity
securities, stock-based compensation cost, deferred tax benefit, and the impairment of certain assets). Net working capital cash generation was $42 million mainly due to strong
progress collections on equipment contracts, mostly offset by an increase in receivables and inventory as we continue to build for growth. Included in our 2023 cash flows from
operating activities are payments of $142 million made primarily for employee severance as a result of our restructuring activities.

In 2022, cash generated from operating activities were primarily driven by net losses adjusted for certain noncash items (including depreciation, amortization, loss on business
dispositions, stock-based compensation cost, deferred tax provision, loss on equity securities, and the impairment of certain assets). Working capital, which includes contract and
other deferred assets, generated cash of $122 million in 2022 mainly due to strong progress collections on equipment contracts and an increase in accounts payable, partially offset
by the increase in receivables and inventory as we build for revenue growth.

Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities used cash of $817 million and $1,564 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Our principal recurring investing activity is the funding of capital expenditures including property, plant and equipment ("PP&E") and software, to support and generate revenue
from operations. Expenditures for capital assets were $1,224 million and $989 million for 2023 and 2022, respectively, partially offset by cash flows from the disposal of PP&E of
$208 million and $217 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively. Proceeds from the disposal of assets are primarily related to equipment that was lost-in-hole, predominantly in OFSE,
and PP&E no longer used in operations that was sold throughout the period.

We had proceeds from the sale of certain equity securities of $372 million and $26 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively. In addition, in 2023, we completed the acquisition of
businesses for total cash consideration of $301 million, net of cash acquired, which consisted primarily of the acquisition of Altus Intervention in the OFSE segment. We also
completed the sale of businesses and received total cash consideration of $293 million, which consisted primarily of the sale of our Nexus Controls business in the IET segment.

The Central Bank of Argentina maintains currency controls that limit our ability to access U.S. dollars and remit cash from our Argentine operations. There is an indirect foreign
exchange mechanism known as a Blue Chip Swap

Baker Hughes Company 2023 Form 10-K | 41



that enables companies to transfer U.S. dollars out of and into Argentina, effectively at a parallel U.S. dollar exchange rate. In 2023, we entered into transactions in order to remit
cash from our Argentine operations resulting in a net loss and a net cash outflow of $66 million, which is included in other investing activities.

In 2022, we completed the acquisition of businesses for total cash consideration of $767 million, net of cash acquired, including BRUSH Power Generation, Quest Integrity,
AccessESP, and Mosaic Materials.

Financing Activities

Cash flows from financing activities used cash of $2,028 million and $1,592 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In 2023, we repaid long-term debt of $651 million primarily related to certain senior notes that matured in December. Additionally, we increased our quarterly dividend by one
cent to $0.20 per share during the third quarter of 2023. We paid dividends of $786 million and $726 million to our Class A stockholders, and we made distributions of nil and $17
million to GE in 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In 2023, we repurchased and canceled 16.3 million shares of Class A common stock for a total of $538 million. In 2022, we repurchased and canceled 29.7 million shares of
Class A common stock for a total of $828 million.

Cash Requirements

We believe cash on hand, cash flows from operating activities, the available revolving credit facility, access to both commercial paper and our uncommitted lines of credit, and
availability under our existing shelf registrations of debt will provide us with sufficient capital resources and liquidity in the short-term and long-term to manage our working capital
needs, meet contractual obligations, fund capital expenditures and dividends, repay debt, repurchase our common stock, and support the development of our short-term and long-
term operating strategies.

Our capital expenditures can be adjusted and managed by us to match market demand and activity levels. Based on current market conditions, capital expenditures in 2024 will
be made at a rate that we estimate would equal up to 5% of annual revenue. The expenditures are expected to be used primarily for normal, recurring items necessary to support
our business. We also anticipate making income tax payments in the range of $800 million to $850 million in 2024.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our material cash commitments from known contractual and other obligations consist primarily of obligations for long-term debt and related interest, leases for property and
equipment, and purchase obligations as part of normal operations. Certain amounts included in our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2023 are based on our estimates
and assumptions about these obligations, including their duration, anticipated actions by third parties and other factors.

See "Note 9. Debt" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein for information regarding scheduled maturities of our long-term debt. See "Note 8.
Leases" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein for information regarding scheduled maturities of our operating leases.

As of December 31, 2023, we had expected cash payments for estimated interest on our long-term debt and finance lease obligations of $253 million payable within the next
twelve months and $2,687 million payable thereafter.

As of December 31, 2023, we had purchase obligations of $1,871 million payable within the next twelve months and $875 million payable thereafter. Our purchase obligations
include expenditures for capital assets for 2024 as well as agreements to purchase goods or services or licenses that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all
significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction.
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Due to the uncertainty with respect to the timing of potential future cash outflows associated with our uncertain tax positions, we are unable to make reasonable estimates of the
period of cash settlement, if any, to the respective taxing authorities. Therefore, $629 million in uncertain tax positions, including interest and penalties, have been excluded from the
contractual obligations discussed above. See "Note 11. Income Taxes" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein for further information.

Other Factors Affecting Liquidity

Registration Statement: In December 2023, Baker Hughes, together with BHH LLC and Baker Hughes Co-Obligor, Inc. filed a universal automatic shelf registration statement on
Form S-3ASR with the SEC to have the ability to sell various types of securities including debt securities, Class A common stock, preferred stock, guarantees of debt securities,
purchase contracts and units. The specific terms of any securities to be sold will be described in supplemental filings with the SEC. The registration statement will expire in
December 2026.

Customer receivables: In line with industry practice, we may bill our customers for services provided in arrears dependent upon contractual terms. In a challenging economic
environment, we may experience delays in the payment of our invoices due to customers' lower cash flow from operations or their more limited access to credit markets. While
historically there have not been material non-payment events, we attempt to mitigate this risk through working with our customers to restructure their debts. A customer's failure or
delay in payment could have a material adverse effect on our short-term liquidity and results of operations. As of December 31, 2023, 19% of our gross customer receivables were
from customers in the U.S. and 11% were from customers in Mexico. As of December 31, 2022, 15% of our gross customer receivables were from customers in the U.S. and 11%
were from customers in Mexico. No other country accounted for more than 10% of our gross customer receivables at this date.

International operations: Our cash that is held outside the U.S. is 75% of the total cash balance as of December 31, 2023. Depending on the jurisdiction or country where this
cash is held, we may not be able to use this cash quickly and efficiently due to exchange or cash controls that could make it challenging. As a result, our cash balance may not
represent our ability to quickly and efficiently use this cash.

Guarantor Information

Baker Hughes has senior unsecured notes and senior unsecured debentures (collectively the "Debt Securities") outstanding with an aggregate principal amount of $5,908
million as of December 31, 2023, with maturities ranging from 2024 to 2047. The Debt Securities constitute debt obligations of BHH LLC, an indirect, 100% owned subsidiary and
the primary operating company of Baker Hughes, and Baker Hughes Co-Obligor, Inc, a 100%-owned finance subsidiary of BHH LLC (the "Issuers") that was incorporated for the
sole purpose of serving as a corporate co-obligor of debt securities. The Debt Securities are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by Baker Hughes and
rank equally in right of payment with all of the Company's other senior and unsecured debt obligations.

As permitted under Rule 13-01(a)(4)(vi) of Regulation S-X, we have excluded summarized financial information for the Issuers because the combined assets, liabilities, and
results of operations of the Issuers are not materially different than the corresponding amounts in Baker Hughes Company's consolidated financial statements and management
believes such summarized financial information would be repetitive and would not provide incremental value to investors.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if the nature of the estimate or assumption it incorporates is subject to a material level of judgment related to matters that are highly
uncertain and changes in those estimates and assumptions are reasonably likely to materially impact our consolidated financial statements. These estimates reflect our best
judgment about current, and for some estimates, future, economic and market conditions and their potential effects based on information available as of the date of these financial
statements. If these conditions change from those expected, it is reasonably possible that the judgments and estimates described below could change, which may result in future
impairments of goodwill, or the establishment of valuation allowances on deferred tax assets and increased tax liabilities, among other effects. Also, see "Note 1. Summary of
Significant
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Accounting Policies" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein, which discusses our most significant accounting policies.

The Audit Committee of the Board has reviewed our critical accounting estimates and the disclosure presented below. During the past three fiscal years, we have not made any
material changes in the methodology used to establish the critical accounting estimates, and we believe that the following are the critical accounting estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023. There are other items within our consolidated financial statements that require
estimation and judgment, but they are not deemed critical as defined above.

Revenue Recognition on Long-Term Product Services Agreements

We have long-term service agreements with our customers within our IET segment. These agreements typically require us to maintain assets sold to the customer over a
defined contract term. These agreements have average contract terms of greater than 10 years. From time to time, these contract terms may be extended through contract
modifications or amendments, which may result in revisions to future billing and cost estimates. Revenue recognition on long-term product services agreements requires estimates
of both customer payments and the costs to perform required maintenance services over the contract term. We recognize revenue on an over time basis using input method to
measure our progress toward completion at the estimated margin rate of the contract.

To develop our billings estimates, we consider the number of billable events that will occur based on estimated utilization of the asset under contract, over the life of the contract
term. This estimated utilization will consider both historical and market conditions, asset retirements and new product introductions, if applicable.

To develop our cost estimates, we consider the timing and extent of maintenance and overhaul events, including the amount and cost of labor, spare parts and other resources
required to perform the services. In developing our cost estimates, we utilize a combination of our historical cost experience and expected cost improvements. Cost improvements
are only included in future cost estimates after savings have been observed in actual results or proven effective through an extensive regulatory or engineering approval process.

We routinely review the estimates used in our product services agreements and regularly revise them to adjust for changes. These revisions are based on objectively verifiable
information that is available at the time of the review. We gain insight into expected future utilization and cost trends, as well as credit risk, through our knowledge of the equipment
installed and the close interaction with our customers through supplying critical services and parts over extended periods.

Revisions to cost or billing estimates may affect a product services agreement's total estimated profitability resulting in an adjustment of earnings; such adjustments generated
earnings of $15 million, $20 million and $14 million for the three years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We provide for probable losses when they become
evident. Cash billings collected on these contracts were approximately $0.6 billion and $0.7 billion during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Our contracts
(on average) are approximately 11% complete based on costs incurred to date and our estimate of future costs.

Revenue Recognition on Sale of Customized Equipment

We recognize revenue on agreements for sales of equipment manufactured to unique customer specifications including long-term construction projects, on an over time basis
utilizing cost inputs as the measurement criteria in assessing the progress toward completion. Our estimation of the total costs required to fulfill our promise to a customer is
generally based on our history of manufacturing similar assets for customers. This estimation of cost is critical to our revenue recognition process and is updated routinely to reflect
changes in quantity or cost of the inputs. In certain projects, the underlying technology or promise to the customer is unique to what we have historically promised and reliably
estimating the total cost to fulfill the promise to the customer requires a significant level of judgment. We provide for potential losses on any of these agreements when it is probable
that we will incur the loss. The total revenue recognized for the sale of equipment on an over time basis during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was
$6.1 billion, $4.2 billion, and $4.8 billion, respectively.
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Goodwill and Other Long-lived Assets

We perform an annual impairment test of goodwill for each of our reporting units as of July 1, or more frequently when circumstances indicate an impairment may exist at the
reporting unit level. When performing the annual impairment test, we have the option of first performing a qualitative assessment to determine the existence of events and
circumstances that would lead to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount. If, after assessing the
existence of events and circumstances, we determine it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, there is no need to perform
any further testing. However, if we conclude otherwise, we would be required to perform a quantitative impairment assessment of goodwill, which involves the use of significant
estimates and assumptions and typically requires analysis of discounted cash flows and other market information, such as trading multiples, and comparable transactions.

Other long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment and identifiable finite-lived intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable and at least annually for indefinite-lived intangible assets. When testing for impairment, we group our long-
lived assets with other assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. The
determination of recoverability is made based upon the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows, which involves significant estimates and judgments on the part of
management.

The determination of whether goodwill and other long-lived assets are impaired involves a significant level of judgment and estimation, and changes in our forecasts, business
strategy, government regulations, or economic or market conditions, among other things, could significantly impact these judgments, potentially decreasing the fair value of one or
more reporting units or long-lived assets. Any resulting impairment charges could have a material impact on our results of operations.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate is based on our income, statutory tax rates, and differences between tax laws and U.S. GAAP in various jurisdictions. Tax laws are complex and subject to
different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective governmental taxing authorities. Our rate may be further impacted by the repatriation of foreign earnings that are considered
indefinitely reinvested to the extent the repatriation would result in additional taxes such as withholding and income taxes. Indefinite reinvestment is determined by management’s
judgment and intentions concerning the future operations of the Company. In cases where repatriation would otherwise incur significant withholding or income taxes, these foreign
earnings have been indefinitely reinvested in active non-U.S. business operations. Computation of the potential deferred tax liability associated with these undistributed earnings
and any other basis differences is not practicable.

Deferred income tax assets represent amounts available to reduce income taxes payable in future years. When evaluating the recoverability of these deferred tax assets, all
positive and negative evidence is analyzed including existing cumulative earnings or loss, forecasted taxable income from the reversal of taxable temporary differences, future
forecasted operating earnings, and available tax planning strategies. The sources of this evidence rely heavily on estimates. Hence, we use our historical experience and short and
long range business forecasts to provide additional insight. We record a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not
be realized. Further, a change to realizability of our deferred tax assets is recognized in the Company's tax provision in the period in which the change occurs.

Our tax filings routinely are subject to audit by the tax authorities in the jurisdictions where we conduct business. These audits may result in assessments of additional taxes that
are resolved with the tax authorities or through the courts. We have provided for the amounts we believe will ultimately result from these proceedings, but settlements of issues
raised in these audits may affect our tax rate. We have $467 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, at December 31, 2023. We are not able to
reasonably estimate in which future periods these amounts ultimately will be settled.
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Allowance for Credit Losses

The estimation of anticipated credit losses that may be incurred as we work through the invoice collection process with our customers requires us to make judgments and
estimates regarding our customers' ability to pay amounts due to us. We monitor our customers' payment history and current credit worthiness to determine that collectability is
reasonably assured. We also consider the overall business climate in which our customers operate. For accounts receivable, a loss allowance matrix is utilized to measure lifetime
expected credit losses. The matrix contemplates historical credit losses by age of receivables, adjusted for any forward-looking information and management expectations. At
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the allowance for credit losses totaled $350 million and $341 million of total gross accounts receivable, respectively. We believe that our allowance
for credit losses is adequate to cover the anticipated credit losses under current conditions; however, uncertainties regarding changes in the financial condition of our customers,
either adverse or positive, could impact the amount and timing of any additional credit losses that may be required.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS TO BE ADOPTED

See "Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein for further discussion of accounting standards to
be adopted.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

See "Note 18. Related Party Transactions" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein for further discussion of related party transactions.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K, including MD&A and certain statements in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (each a "forward-looking statement"). All statements, other than
historical facts, including statements regarding the presentation of the Company's operations in future reports and any assumptions underlying any of the foregoing, are forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements concern future circumstances and results and other statements that are not historical facts and are sometimes identified by the
words "may," "will," "should," "potential," "intend," "expect," "endeavor," "seek," "anticipate," "estimate," "overestimate," "underestimate," "believe," "could," "project," "predict,"
"continue," "target," "goal" or other similar words or expressions. Forward-looking statements are based upon current plans, estimates and expectations that are subject to risks,
uncertainties and assumptions. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially
from those indicated or anticipated by such forward-looking statements. The inclusion of such statements should not be regarded as a representation that such plans, estimates or
expectations will be achieved. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from such plans, estimates or expectations include, among others, the risk factors
identified in the "Risk Factors" section of Part 1 of Item 1A of this Form 10-K and those set forth from time-to-time in other filings by the Company with the SEC. These documents
are available through our website or through the SEC's Electronic Data Gathering and Analysis Retrieval (EDGAR) system at http://www.sec.gov.

In light of such risks and uncertainties, we caution you not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the
date of this Annual Report, or if earlier, as of the date they were made. We do not intend to, and disclaim any obligation to, update or revise any forward-looking statements unless
required by securities law.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks that are inherent in our financial instruments and arise from changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. We may
enter into derivative financial instrument transactions to manage or reduce market risk, but do not enter into derivative financial instrument transactions for speculative purposes. A
discussion of our primary market risk exposure in financial instruments is presented below.
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INTEREST RATE RISK

All of our long-term debt is comprised of fixed rate instruments. We are subject to interest rate risk on our debt and investment portfolio. As of December 31, 2023, we had
interest rate swaps with a notional amount of $500 million that converted a portion of our $1,350 million aggregate principal amount of 3.337% fixed rate Senior Notes due 2027 into
a floating rate instrument with an interest rate based on a LIBOR index as a hedge of its exposure to changes in fair value that are attributable to interest rate risk. As of July 1,
2023, the interest rate changed to be based on a Secured Overnight Financing Rate index. The interest rate swaps are designated and each qualify as a fair value hedging
instrument. The interest rate swaps are considered to be effective at achieving offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged liability, and no ineffectiveness is recognized. The
mark-to-market of this fair value hedge was recorded as a gain or loss in interest expense and was equally offset by the gain or loss of the underlying debt instrument, which also
was recorded in interest expense.

The following table sets forth our fixed rate long-term debt, excluding finance leases, and the related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates.

(In millions) 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter Total
As of December 31, 2023

Long-term debt $ 107 $ — $ 600 $ 1,350 $ — $ 3,756 $ 5,813 
Weighted average interest rates 4.08 % — % 2.35 % 5.29 % — % 4.06 % 4.16 %

Fair market value of our fixed rate long-term debt, excluding finance leases, was $5.5 billion at December 31, 2023.

Amounts represent the principal value of our long-term debt outstanding and related weighted average interest rates at the end of the respective period.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK

We conduct our operations around the world in a number of different currencies, and we are exposed to market risks resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates. Many of our significant foreign subsidiaries have designated the local currency as their functional currency. As such, future earnings are subject to change due to fluctuations
in foreign currency exchange rates when transactions are denominated in currencies other than our functional currencies.

Additionally, we buy, manufacture and sell components and products across global markets. These activities expose us to changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
commodity prices and interest rates which can adversely affect revenue earned and costs of our operating businesses. When the currency in which equipment is sold differs from
the primary currency of the legal entity and the exchange rate fluctuates, it will affect the revenue earned on the sale. These sales and purchase transactions also create receivables
and payables denominated in foreign currencies and exposure to foreign currency gains and losses based on changes in exchange rates. Changes in the price of raw materials
used in manufacturing can affect the cost of manufacturing. We use derivatives to mitigate or eliminate these exposures, where appropriate.

We use cash flow hedging primarily to reduce or eliminate the effects of foreign currency exchange rate changes on purchase and sale contracts. Accordingly, most derivative
activity in this category consists of currency exchange contracts. We had outstanding foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts aggregating $3.6 billion and $3 billion
to hedge exposure to currency fluctuations in various foreign currencies at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The notional amounts of these derivative instruments do not
generally represent cash amounts exchanged by us and the counterparties, but rather the nominal amount upon which changes in the value of the derivatives are measured.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company estimates that a 1% appreciation or depreciation in the U.S. dollar would result in an impact of less than $10 million to our pre-tax
earnings; however, the Company is generally able to mitigate its foreign exchange exposure, where there are liquid financial markets, through use of foreign currency derivative
transactions. Also, see "Note 15. Financial Instruments" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein, which has additional details on our strategy.

 (2)

(1)

(1)

(2)
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f).
Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we assessed the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting based on the 2013 framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on our assessment, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2023. This conclusion is based on the recognition that there are inherent limitations in all systems of internal control. Because of the inherent
limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud
may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

KPMG LLP, the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting.

/s/ LORENZO SIMONELLI
Lorenzo Simonelli
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

 
/s/ NANCY BUESE
Nancy Buese
Chief Financial Officer
 

 
/s/ REBECCA CHARLTON
Rebecca Charlton
Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting
Officer

Houston, Texas
February 5, 2024

Baker Hughes Company 2023 Form 10-K | 48



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Baker Hughes Company:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Baker Hughes Company and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
the related consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 5, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as
a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it
relates.

Revenue recognition on certain agreements for sales of equipment manufactured to unique customer specifications

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company enters into agreements for sales of equipment manufactured to unique customer
specifications on an over time basis. Revenue from these types of contracts is recognized to the extent of progress towards completion measured by actual costs incurred
relative to total expected costs. The Company provides for potential losses on these types of contracts when it is probable that a loss will be incurred.

We identified revenue recognition for certain contracts from the sales of equipment manufactured to unique customer specifications as a critical audit matter. Complex
auditor judgment was required in evaluating the Company's long-term estimates of the expected costs to be incurred in order to complete these contracts.
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain
internal controls related to the Company's revenue recognition process for sales of equipment manufactured to unique customer specifications. This included controls
pertaining to the Company's estimation of costs expected to be incurred to complete contracts for sales of equipment manufactured to unique customer specifications. We
evaluated the Company's ability to accurately estimate costs expected to be incurred to complete the contracts for sales of equipment manufactured to unique customer
specifications. We evaluated the estimated costs expected to be incurred to complete the equipment manufactured to unique customer specifications for the contracts by:

– questioning the Company's finance and project managers regarding progress to date based on the latest project reports and the costs expected to be incurred until
completion;

– observing project review meetings performed by the Company or inspecting relevant minutes of those meetings to identify changes in the estimated costs expected
to be incurred to complete the contract and related contract margins;

– assessing the remaining estimated costs expected to be incurred by expenditure category by comparing to the actual costs incurred during the current year for the
selected project; and

– investigating changes to the contract margin when compared to the prior year's estimated contract margin.

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2017.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 5, 2024
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Baker Hughes Company:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Baker Hughes Company and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated statements of financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity, and cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 5,
2024 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Houston, Texas
February 5, 2024
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BAKER HUGHES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)

Year Ended December 31,
(In millions, except per share amounts) 2023 2022 2021
Revenue:

Sales of goods $ 15,617 $ 12,236 $ 12,248 
Sales of services 9,889 8,920 8,254 

Total revenue 25,506 21,156 20,502 
Costs and expenses:

Cost of goods sold 13,309 10,445 10,458 
Cost of services sold 6,946 6,311 5,995 
Selling, general and administrative 2,611 2,510 2,470 
Restructuring, impairment and other 323 705 269 

Total costs and expenses 23,189 19,971 19,192 
Operating income 2,317 1,185 1,310 
Other non-operating income (loss), net 554 (911) (583)
Interest expense, net (216) (252) (299)
Income before income taxes 2,655 22 428 
Provision for income taxes (685) (600) (758)
Net income (loss) 1,970 (578) (330)

Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 27 23 (111)
Net income (loss) attributable to Baker Hughes Company $ 1,943 $ (601) $ (219)

Per share amounts:
Basic income (loss) per Class A common share $ 1.93 $ (0.61) $ (0.27)
Diluted income (loss) per Class A common share $ 1.91 $ (0.61) $ (0.27)

Cash dividend per Class A common share $ 0.78 $ 0.73 $ 0.72 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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BAKER HUGHES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Year Ended December 31,
(In millions) 2023 2022 2021
Net income (loss) $ 1,970 $ (578) $ (330)

Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 27 23 (111)
Net income (loss) attributable to Baker Hughes Company 1,943 (601) (219)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments 153 (269) (305)
Cash flow hedges 3 2 (16)
Benefit plans 19 (14) 170 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 175 (281) (151)
Less: Other comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests — (3) (16)

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Baker Hughes Company 175 (278) (135)
Comprehensive income (loss) 2,145 (859) (481)

Less: Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 27 20 (127)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Baker Hughes Company $ 2,118 $ (879) $ (354)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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BAKER HUGHES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 December 31,
(In millions, except par value) 2023 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,646 $ 2,488 
Current receivables, net 7,075 5,958 
Inventories, net 5,094 4,587 
All other current assets 1,486 1,559 

Total current assets 16,301 14,592 
Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation 4,893 4,538 
Goodwill 6,137 5,930 
Other intangible assets, net 4,093 4,180 
Contract and other deferred assets 1,756 1,503 
All other assets 3,043 2,781 
Deferred income taxes 722 657 
Total assets $ 36,945 $ 34,181 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 4,471 $ 4,298 
Short-term and current portion of long-term debt 148 677 
Progress collections and deferred income 5,542 3,822 
All other current liabilities 2,830 2,278 

Total current liabilities 12,991 11,075 
Long-term debt 5,872 5,980 
Deferred income taxes 176 229 
Liabilities for pensions and other postretirement benefits 978 960 
All other liabilities 1,409 1,412 
Equity:

Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value - 2,000 authorized, 998 and 1,006 issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively — — 

Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value - 1,250 authorized, nil issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 — — 
Capital in excess of par value 26,983 28,126 
Retained loss (8,819) (10,761)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,796) (2,971)

Baker Hughes Company equity 15,368 14,394 
Noncontrolling interests 151 131 

Total equity 15,519 14,525 
Total liabilities and equity $ 36,945 $ 34,181 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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BAKER HUGHES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(In millions, except per share amounts)
Class A and Class B

Common Stock
Capital in Excess

of Par Value
Retained Earnings

(Loss)
Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Loss
Non-controlling

Interests Total

Balance at December 31, 2020 — $ 24,613 $ (9,942) $ (1,778) $ 5,349 $ 18,242 
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss (219) (111) (330)
Other comprehensive loss (135) (16) (151)

Dividends on Class A Common Stock ($0.72 per share) (592) (592)
Distributions to GE (157) (157)
Effect of exchange of Class B common stock and associated BHH LLC Units for Class A

common stock 3,584 (477) (3,107) — 
Repurchase and cancellation of Class A common stock (418) 5 (21) (434)
Stock-based compensation cost 205 205 
Other (17) 1 (21) (37)
Balance at December 31, 2021 — 27,375 (10,160) (2,385) 1,916 16,746 
Comprehensive income (loss):

Net income (loss) (601) 23 (578)
Other comprehensive loss (278) (3) (281)

Dividends on Class A Common Stock ($0.73 per share) (726) (726)
Distributions to GE (17) (17)
Effect of exchange of Class B common stock and associated BHH LLC Units for Class A

common stock 2,060 (309) (1,751) — 
Repurchase and cancellation of Class A common stock (823) 1 (6) (828)
Stock-based compensation cost 207 207 
Other 33 (31) 2 
Balance at December 31, 2022 — 28,126 (10,761) (2,971) 131 14,525 
Comprehensive income (loss):

Net income  1,943  27 1,970 
Other comprehensive income   175  175 

Dividends on Class A Common Stock ($0.78 per share) (786)    (786)
Repurchase and cancellation of Class A common stock (538)    (538)
Stock-based compensation cost 197    197 
Other (16) (1)  (7) (24)
Balance at December 31, 2023 — $ 26,983 $ (8,819) $ (2,796) $ 151 $ 15,519 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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BAKER HUGHES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,
(In millions) 2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 1,970 $ (578) $ (330)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,087 1,061 1,105 
(Gain) loss on business dispositions (40) 451 — 
(Gain) loss on equity securities (555) 265 845 
Stock-based compensation cost 197 207 205 
Property, plant and equipment impairment, net (1) 166 7 
(Benefit) provision for deferred income taxes (59) 105 133 
Inventory impairment 35 31 — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Current receivables (986) (625) (126)
Inventories (461) (885) 170 
Accounts payable 61 605 246 
Progress collections and deferred income 1,639 1,103 (72)
Contract and other deferred assets (211) (76) 262 
Other operating items, net 386 58 (71)

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,062 1,888 2,374 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Expenditures for capital assets (1,224) (989) (856)
Proceeds from disposal of assets 208 217 315 
Proceeds from sale of equity securities 372 26 147 
Proceeds from business dispositions 293 — 70 
Net cash paid for acquisitions (301) (767) (87)
Other investing items, net (165) (51) (52)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (817) (1,564) (463)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of long-term debt (651) — (1,313)
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt — — 1,250 
Repayment of commercial paper — — (832)
Dividends paid (786) (726) (592)
Repurchase of Class A common stock (538) (828) (434)
Distributions to GE — (17) (157)
Other financing items, net (53) (21) (65)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (2,028) (1,592) (2,143)
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (59) (97) (47)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 158 (1,365) (279)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 2,488 3,853 4,132 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 2,646 $ 2,488 $ 3,853 

See "Note 22. Supplementary Information" for additional cash flow disclosures

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Baker Hughes Company ("Baker Hughes," "the Company," "we," "us," or "our") is an energy technology company with a diversified portfolio of technologies and services that
span the energy and industrial value chain.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America ("U.S." and such principles, "U.S. GAAP") and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") for annual financial information.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Baker Hughes and all of its subsidiaries and affiliates which it controls or variable interest entities for which we have
determined that we are the primary beneficiary. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

In the Company's consolidated financial statements and notes, certain amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. In the notes to the
consolidated financial statements, all dollar and share amounts in tabulations are in millions of dollars and shares, respectively, unless otherwise indicated. Certain columns and
rows in our financial statements and notes thereto may not add due to the use of rounded numbers.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, disclosure of any contingent assets or liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We
base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other assumptions and information that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Estimates
and assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be perceived with certainty, and accordingly, these estimates may change as new events occur, as more experience is
acquired, as additional information is obtained and as our operating environment changes. While we believe that the estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are appropriate, actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used for, but are not limited to, determining the following: allowance
for credit losses and inventory valuation reserves; recoverability of long-lived assets; revenue recognition on long-term contracts; valuation of goodwill; useful lives used in
depreciation and amortization; income taxes and related valuation allowances; accruals for contingencies; actuarial assumptions to determine costs and liabilities related to
employee benefit plans; stock-based compensation expense; valuation of derivatives; and the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in acquisitions.

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. operations with a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar have been translated into U.S. dollars using our period end exchange rates, and
revenue, expenses, and cash flows have been translated at average rates for the respective periods. Any resulting translation gains and losses are included in other comprehensive
income (loss). The impact of remeasurement of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Company or its subsidiaries is
included in the consolidated statements of income (loss).

Revenue from Sale of Equipment

Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time

We recognize revenue on agreements for sales of equipment manufactured to unique customer specifications including long-term construction projects, on an over time basis,
utilizing cost inputs as the measurement criteria in
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assessing the progress toward completion. Our estimate of costs to be incurred to fulfill our promise to a customer is based on our history of manufacturing similar assets for
customers and is updated routinely to reflect changes in quantity or pricing of the inputs. We begin to recognize revenue on these contracts when the contract specific inventory
becomes customized for a customer, which is reflective of our initial transfer of control of the incurred costs. We provide for potential losses on any of these agreements when it is
probable that we will incur the loss.

Our billing terms for these over time contracts vary, but are generally based on achieving specified milestones. The differences between the timing of our revenue recognized
(based on costs incurred) and customer billings (based on contractual terms) results in changes to our contract asset or contract liability positions.

Performance Obligations Satisfied at a Point In Time

We recognize revenue for non-customized equipment at the point in time that the customer obtains control of the good. Equipment for which we recognize revenue at a point in
time includes equipment we manufacture on a standardized basis for sale to the market. We use proof of delivery for certain large equipment with more complex logistics associated
with the shipment, whereas the delivery of other equipment is generally determined based on historical data of transit times between regions.

On occasion we sell equipment with a right of return. We use our accumulated experience to estimate and provide for such returns when we record the sale. In situations where
arrangements include customer acceptance provisions based on seller or customer-specified objective criteria, we recognize revenue when we have concluded that the customer
has control of the equipment and that acceptance has or is likely to occur.

Our billing terms for these point in time equipment contracts vary, but are generally based on shipment of the equipment to the customer.

Revenue from Sale of Services

Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time

We sell product services under long-term product maintenance or extended warranty agreements in our Industrial & Energy Technology segment. These agreements require us
to maintain the customers' assets over the service agreement contract terms, which generally range from 10 to 20 years. In general, these are contractual arrangements to provide
services, repairs, and maintenance of a covered unit (gas turbines for mechanical drive or power generation, primarily on liquefied natural gas ("LNG") applications). These services
are performed at various times during the life of the contract, thus the costs of performing services are incurred on an other than straight-line basis. We recognize related sales
based on the extent of our progress toward completion measured by actual costs incurred in relation to total expected costs. We provide for any loss that we expect to incur on any
of these agreements when that loss becomes probable. The Company utilizes historical customer data, prior product performance data, statistical analysis, third-party data, and
internal management estimates to calculate contract-specific margins. In certain contracts, the total transaction price is variable based on customer utilization, which is excluded
from the contract margin until the period that the customer has utilized to appropriately reflect the revenue activity in the period earned. In addition, revenue for certain oilfield
services is recognized on an over time basis as performed.

Our billing terms for these contracts are generally based on asset utilization (i.e. usage per hour) or the occurrence of a major maintenance event within the contract. The
differences between the timing of our revenue recognized (based on costs incurred) and customer billings (based on contractual terms) results in changes to our contract asset or
contract liability positions.

Performance Obligations Satisfied at a Point In Time

We sell certain tangible products, largely spare equipment, through our services business. We recognize revenue for this equipment at the point in time that the customer
obtains control of the good, which is at the point in time we deliver the spare part to the customer. Our billing terms for these point in time service contracts vary, but are generally
based on shipment of the equipment to the customer.
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Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and relate to the research and development of new products and services. These costs amounted to $658 million,
$556 million and $492 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Research and development expenses were reported in "Cost of goods sold"
and "Cost of services sold" in the consolidated statements of income (loss).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less are included in cash equivalents unless designated as available-for-sale and classified as investment
securities.

Allowance for Credit Losses

We monitor our customers' payment history and current credit worthiness to determine that collectability of the related financial assets is reasonably assured. We also consider
the overall business climate in which our customers operate. For accounts receivable, a loss allowance matrix is utilized to measure lifetime expected credit losses. The matrix
contemplates historical credit losses by age of receivables, adjusted for any forward-looking information and management expectations.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our current receivables are spread over a broad and diverse group of customers across many countries. We grant credit to our customers and perform periodic credit
evaluations of our customers' financial conditions, including monitoring our customers' payment history and current credit worthiness to manage this risk. We do not generally
require collateral in support of our current receivables, but we may require payment in advance or security in the form of a letter of credit or a bank guarantee.

Inventories

All inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable values and they are measured on a first-in, first-out ("FIFO") basis or average cost basis. As necessary, we record
provisions and maintain reserves for excess, slow moving and obsolete inventory. To determine these reserve amounts, we regularly review inventory quantities on hand and
compare them to estimates of future product demand, market conditions, production requirements and technological developments.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment ("PP&E") is initially stated at cost and is depreciated over its estimated economic life. Subsequently, PP&E is measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation, which is generally provided by using the straight-line method over the estimated economic lives of the individual assets, and impairment losses. We manufacture a
substantial portion of our tools and equipment in our OFSE segment and the cost of these items, which includes direct and indirect manufacturing costs, is capitalized in inventory
and subsequently moved to PP&E.

Other Intangible Assets

We amortize the cost of other intangible assets over their estimated useful lives unless such lives are deemed indefinite. The cost of intangible assets is generally amortized on
a straight-line basis over the asset's estimated economic life. Finite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. In these circumstances, they are tested for impairment based on undiscounted cash flows and, if impaired, written down to fair
value based on either discounted cash flows or appraised values. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested annually for impairment and written down to fair value as required.
Refer to the Impairment of Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets accounting policy.

Baker Hughes Company 2023 Form 10-K | 59



Baker Hughes Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Impairment of Goodwill and Other Long-lived Assets

We perform an annual impairment test of goodwill on a qualitative or quantitative basis for each of our reporting units as of July 1, in conjunction with our annual strategic
planning process, or more frequently when circumstances indicate an impairment may exist at the reporting unit level. When performing the annual impairment test we have the
option of first performing a qualitative assessment to determine the existence of events and circumstances that would lead to a determination that it is more likely than not that the
fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If such a conclusion is reached, we would then be required to perform a quantitative impairment assessment of
goodwill. However, if the assessment leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, then no further
assessments are required. A quantitative assessment for the determination of impairment is made by comparing the carrying amount of each reporting unit with its fair value, which
is generally calculated using a combination of market, comparable transaction and discounted cash flow approaches. Potential impairment indicators include, but are not limited to,
(i) the results of our most recent annual or interim impairment testing, in particular the magnitude of the excess of fair value over carrying value observed, (ii) downward revisions to
internal forecasts, and the magnitude thereof, if any, and (iii) declines in our market capitalization below our book value, and the magnitude and duration of those declines, if any.

We review PP&E, intangible assets and certain other long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable and at least annually for indefinite-lived intangible assets. When testing for impairment, we group our long-lived assets with other assets and liabilities at the lowest
level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities (or asset group). The determination of recoverability is made based
upon the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows. The amount of impairment loss, if any, is determined by comparing the fair value, as determined by a discounted cash flow
analysis, with the carrying value of the related assets.

Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments include cash and equivalents, current receivables, investments, accounts payables, short and long-term debt, and derivative financial instruments.

We monitor our exposure to various business risks including commodity prices, interest rates, and foreign currency exchange rates, and we regularly use derivative financial
instruments to manage these risks. At the inception of a new derivative, we designate the derivative as a hedge, or we determine the derivative to be undesignated as a hedging
instrument. We document the relationships between the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as our risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions. We assess whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item at both the
inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis.

We record all derivatives as of the end of our reporting period in our consolidated statements of financial position at fair value. For the forward contracts held as undesignated
hedging instruments, we record the changes in fair value in our consolidated statements of income (loss) along with the change in the fair value, related to foreign exchange
movements, of the hedged item. Changes in the fair value of forward contracts designated as cash flow hedging instruments are recognized in other comprehensive income until
the hedged item is recognized in earnings.

Fair Value Measurements

For financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, fair value is the price we would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction with a market participant at the measurement date. In the absence of active markets for the identical assets or liabilities, such measurements involve developing
assumptions based on market observable data and, in the absence of such data, internal information that is consistent with what market participants would use in a hypothetical
transaction that occurs at the measurement date.
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Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our market assumptions. Preference is given to observable inputs.
These two types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy:

• Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

• Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived
valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable.

• Level 3 - Significant inputs to the valuation model are unobservable.

We maintain policies and procedures to value instruments using the best and most relevant data available. In addition, we perform reviews to assess the reasonableness of the
valuations. With regard to Level 3 valuations (including instruments valued by third parties), we perform a variety of procedures to assess the reasonableness of the valuations.
Such reviews include an evaluation of instruments whose fair value change exceeds predefined thresholds (and/or does not change) and consider the current interest rate, currency
and credit environment, as well as other published data, such as rating agency market reports and current appraisals.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Derivatives

When we have Level 1 derivatives, which are traded either on exchanges or liquid markets, we use closing prices for valuation. The majority of our derivatives are valued using
internal models and are included in Level 2. These internal models maximize the use of market observable inputs including interest rate curves and both forward and spot prices for
currencies and commodities. Derivative assets and liabilities included in Level 2 primarily represent foreign currency and commodity forward contracts for the Company.

Investments in Debt and Equity Securities

When available, we use quoted market prices to determine the fair value of investment securities, and they are included in Level 1. Level 1 securities primarily include publicly
traded equity securities.

For investment securities for which market prices are observable for identical or similar investment securities but not readily accessible for each of those investments individually
(that is, it is difficult to obtain pricing information for each individual investment security at the measurement date), we use pricing models and observable inputs that are consistent
with what other market participants would use and these are included in Level 2. The inputs and assumptions to the models are derived from market observable sources including:
benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, benchmark securities, bids, offers, and other market-related data. When we use valuations that are based
on significant unobservable inputs, we classify the investment securities in Level 3.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Certain assets are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis and are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain circumstances. These assets can include long-lived
assets that have been reduced to fair value when they are held for sale, equity securities without readily determinable fair value, equity method investments and long-lived assets
that are written down to fair value when they are impaired, and the remeasurement of retained investments in formerly consolidated subsidiaries upon a change in control that
results in a deconsolidation of a subsidiary, if we sell a controlling interest and retain a noncontrolling stake in the entity.

Investments in Equity Securities

Investments in equity securities (in which we do not have a controlling financial interest or significant influence, most often because we hold a voting interest of 0% to 20%) with
readily determinable fair values are measured at fair value with changes recognized in earnings and reported in "Other non-operating income (loss), net" in the
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consolidated statements of income (loss). Equity securities that do not have readily determinable fair values are recorded at cost minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes
resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for identical or similar equity securities of the same issuer. These changes are recorded in "Other non-operating
income (loss), net" in the consolidated statements of income (loss).

Equity method investments are equity holdings in entities in which we do not have a controlling financial interest, but over which we have significant influence, most often
because we hold a voting interest of 20% to 50%. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the aggregate carrying amount of our equity method investments was $979 million and $919
million, respectively. The results of our equity method investments are presented in the consolidated statements of income (loss) as follows: (i) if the investment is integral to our
operations, their results are included in "Selling, general and administrative," and (ii) if the investment is not integral to our operations, their results are included in "Other non-
operating income (loss), net." Investments in, and advances to, equity method investments are presented on a one-line basis in "All other assets" in the consolidated statements of
financial position.

Income Taxes

We file U.S. federal and state income tax returns which primarily includes our distributive share of items of income, gain, loss, and deduction of Baker Hughes Holdings LLC
("BHH LLC"), our primary operating company and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company since December 2022, which was treated as a partnership for U.S. tax purposes until
December 30, 2023. Effective December 30, 2023, the Company and various subsidiaries completed a reorganization that resulted in BHH LLC no longer being treated as a
partnership for U.S. tax purposes. As a partnership, BHH LLC was not subject to U.S. federal income tax under current U.S. tax laws. However, as of December 31, 2023, BHH LLC
will be included and taxed as part of the Company's consolidated U.S. tax return. Non-U.S. current and deferred income taxes owed by the subsidiaries of BHH LLC are reflected in
the Company's financial statements.

We account for taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized for temporary differences between the financial statement
and the tax base of assets and liabilities based on enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when taxes are actually paid or recovered, as well as for net operating losses and tax
credit carryforwards. The effect of a change in tax laws or rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period in which such change is enacted. Future
tax benefits are recognized to the extent that realization of such benefits is more likely than not, and a valuation allowance is established for any portion of a deferred tax asset that
management believes is not more likely than not to be realized.

Significant judgment is required in determining our tax expense and in evaluating our tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties. Our tax filings are subject to audit by the
tax authorities in the jurisdictions where we conduct business. These audits may result in assessments of additional taxes that are resolved with the tax authorities or through the
courts. We have provided for the amounts that we believe will ultimately result from these proceedings. We recognize uncertain tax positions that are "more likely than not" to be
sustained if the relevant tax authority were to audit the position with full knowledge of all the relevant facts and other information. For those tax positions that meet this threshold, we
measure the amount of tax benefit based on the largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50% chance of being realized in a final settlement with the relevant authority.
We classify interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as income tax expense. The effects of tax adjustments and settlements from taxing authorities are
presented in the financial statements in the period they are finalized.

Supply Chain Finance Programs

On January 1, 2023, we adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. ASU 2022-04, Liabilities – Supplier Finance
Programs (Subtopic 405-50): Disclosure of Supplier Finance Program Obligations, which enhances the transparency of supplier finance programs and requires certain disclosures
for a buyer in a supplier finance program.

Under the supply chain finance ("SCF") programs, administered by a third party, our suppliers are given the opportunity to sell receivables from us to participating financial
institutions at their sole discretion at a rate that leverages our credit rating and thus might be more beneficial to our suppliers. Our responsibility is limited to making payment on the
terms originally negotiated with our supplier, regardless of whether the supplier sells its receivable
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to a financial institution. The range of payment terms we negotiate with our suppliers is consistent, irrespective of whether a supplier participates in the program.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, $332 million and $275 million of SCF program liabilities are recorded in "Accounts payable" in the consolidated statements of financial
position, respectively, and reflected in net cash flows from operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows when settled.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS TO BE ADOPTED

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures" ("ASU 2023-09"), which is intended to enhance the
transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures. The amendments in ASU 2023-09 provide for enhanced income tax information primarily through changes to the
rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. ASU 2023-09 is effective for the Company prospectively to all annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early
adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on our disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, "Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures" ("ASU 2023-07"), which enhances the
disclosures required for operating segments in the Company's annual and interim consolidated financial statements. ASU 2023-07 is effective retrospectively for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023 and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact of this standard on our disclosures.

All other new accounting pronouncements that have been issued, but not yet effective are currently being evaluated and at this time are not expected to have a material impact
on our financial position or results of operations.

NOTE 2. CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Current receivables consist of the following at December 31:

2023 2022
Customer receivables $ 6,033 $ 5,083 
Other 1,392 1,216 
Total current receivables 7,425 6,299 
Less: Allowance for credit losses (350) (341)
Total current receivables, net $ 7,075 $ 5,958 

Customer receivables are recorded at the invoiced amount. The "Other" category consists primarily of advance payments to suppliers, indirect taxes, and customer retentions.

NOTE 3. INVENTORIES

Inventories, net of reserves of $389 million and $396 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively, consist of the following at December 31:

2023 2022
Finished goods $ 2,626 $ 2,419 
Work in process and raw materials 2,468 2,168 
Total inventories, net $ 5,094 $ 4,587 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded inventory impairments of $35 million primarily in our Oilfield Services & Equipment segment ("OFSE"). For the year ended
December 31, 2022, we recorded inventory
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impairments of $31 million, primarily in our Industrial & Energy Technology ("IET") segment. See "Note 20. Restructuring, Impairment, and Other" for further information.

NOTE 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following at December 31:

Useful Life 2023 2022
Land and improvements 8 - 10 years $ 332 $ 347 
Buildings, structures and related equipment 5 - 40 years 2,264 2,120 
Machinery, equipment and other 1 - 20 years 7,974 7,192 
Total cost 10,570 9,659 
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (5,678) (5,121)
Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation  $ 4,893 $ 4,538 

Useful life excludes land.

Depreciation expense relating to property, plant and equipment was $830 million, $839 million and $852 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. See "Note 20. Restructuring, Impairment and Other" for additional information on property, plant and equipment impairments.

NOTE 5. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GOODWILL

The changes in the carrying value of goodwill are detailed below by segment:

Oilfield Services &
Equipment Industrial & Energy Technology Total

Balance at December 31, 2021, gross $ 19,825 $ 4,661 $ 24,486 
Accumulated impairment at December 31, 2021 (18,273) (254) (18,527)
Balance at December 31, 2021 1,552 4,407 5,959 

Disposition (161) — (161)
Acquisitions 41 417 458 
Currency exchange and other — (96) (96)

Total 1,432 4,728 6,160 
Classified as held for sale — (230) (230)

Balance at December 31, 2022 1,432 4,498 5,930 
Acquisitions 95 43 138 
Currency exchange and other 14 55 69 

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 1,541 $ 4,596 $ 6,137 

The reduction in IET goodwill reflects a transfer of goodwill to business held for sale related to our Nexus Controls business. See "Note 21. Business Dispositions and Acquisitions" for further
information.

As a result of our goodwill impairment assessment performed in the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no goodwill impairments deemed necessary.

(1) (1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

Baker Hughes Company 2023 Form 10-K | 64



Baker Hughes Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of the following at December 31:

2023 2022
Gross

Carrying
 Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Gross
Carrying

 Amount
Accumulated
Amortization Net

Customer relationships $ 1,945 $ (818) $ 1,127 $ 1,917 $ (729) $ 1,189 
Technology 1,253 (899) 354 1,212 (803) $ 409 
Trade names and trademarks 290 (186) 104 287 (175) 112 
Capitalized software 1,413 (1,107) 306 1,308 (1,040) 268 
Finite-lived intangible assets 4,901 (3,010) 1,891 4,725 (2,747) 1,978 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 2,202 — 2,202 2,202 — 2,202 
Total intangible assets $ 7,103 $ (3,010) $ 4,093 $ 6,927 $ (2,747) $ 4,180 

Finite-lived intangible assets are generally amortized on a straight-line basis with estimated useful lives ranging from 1 to 35 years. Amortization expense was $257 million,
$222 million and $253 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. No impairment for indefinite-lived intangible assets were recorded in 2023.

Estimated amortization expense for each of the subsequent five fiscal years is expected to be as follows:

Year
Estimated Amortization

Expense
2024 $ 243 
2025 201 
2026 156 
2027 134 
2028 115 
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NOTE 6. CONTRACT AND OTHER DEFERRED ASSETS

Contract assets reflect revenue earned in excess of billings on our long-term contracts to construct technically complex equipment, provide long-term product service and
maintenance or extended warranty arrangements and other deferred contract related costs. Our long-term product service agreements are provided by our IET segment. Our long-
term equipment contracts are provided by both our IET and OFSE segments. Contract assets consist of the following at December 31:

2023 2022
Long-term product service agreements $ 418 $ 392 
Long-term equipment contracts and certain other service agreements 1,184 955 
Contract assets (total revenue in excess of billings) 1,602 1,347 
Deferred inventory costs 126 125 
Other costs to fulfill or obtain a contract 28 31 
Contract and other deferred assets $ 1,756 $ 1,503 

Other costs to fulfill or obtain a contract consist primarily of non-recurring engineering costs incurred and expected to be recovered.

Revenue recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous years related to our long-
term service agreements was $15 million and $20 million, respectively. This includes revenue recognized from revisions to cost or billing estimates that may affect a contract's total
estimated profitability resulting in an adjustment of earnings.

NOTE 7. PROGRESS COLLECTIONS AND DEFERRED INCOME

Contract liabilities include progress collections, which reflects billings in excess of revenue, and deferred income on our long-term contracts to construct technically complex
equipment, long-term product maintenance or extended warranty arrangements. Contract liabilities consist of the following at December 31:

2023 2022
Progress collections $ 5,405 $ 3,713 
Deferred income 137 109 
Progress collections and deferred income (contract liabilities) $ 5,542 $ 3,822 

Revenue recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year was $2,999 million and
$2,185 million, respectively.

NOTE 8. LEASES

Our leasing activities primarily consist of operating leases for administrative offices, manufacturing facilities, research centers, service centers, sales offices and certain
equipment.

The following table presents operating lease expense:

Operating Lease Expense 2023 2022 2021
Long-term fixed lease $ 276 $ 254 $ 255 
Long-term variable lease 73 48 32 
Short-term lease 503 477 440 
Total operating lease expense $ 852 $ 779 $ 727 

Leases with a term of one year or less, including leases with a term of one month or less.

(1)

(1)     

(1)

(1)
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Cash flows used in operating activities for operating leases approximates our expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

As of December 31, 2023, maturities of our operating lease liabilities are as follows:

Year Operating Leases
2024 $ 244 
2025 178 
2026 122 
2027 79 
2028 57 
Thereafter 234 
Total lease payments 914 
Less: imputed interest 145 
Total $ 769 

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position for operating leases consist of the following:

2023 2022
All other current liabilities $ 220 $ 189 
All other liabilities 549 552 
Total $ 769 $ 741 

Right-of-use assets of $769 million and $757 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are included in "All other assets" in the consolidated statements of
financial position. The weighted-average remaining lease term for our operating leases was approximately seven years for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The
weighted-average discount rate used to determine the operating lease liability as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 was 3.3% and 3.1%, respectively.

Baker Hughes Company 2023 Form 10-K | 67



Baker Hughes Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 9. DEBT

The carrying value of our short-term and long-term debt consist of the following at December 31:

2023 2022

Amount
Effective Interest

Rate Amount
Effective Interest

Rate 
Short-term and current portion of long-term debt

1.231% Senior Notes due December 2023 $ — — % $ 649 1.5 %
8.55% Debentures due June 2024 109 4.1 % — — %
Other debt 39 4.9 % 29 2.9 %

Total short-term and current portion of long-term debt 148 677 

Long-term debt   
8.55% Debentures due June 2024 — — % 114 4.1 %
2.061% Senior Notes due December 2026 598 2.4 % 597 2.4 %
3.337% Senior Notes due December 2027 1,294 5.3 % 1,277 3.8 %
6.875% Notes due January 2029 268 3.9 % 273 3.9 %
3.138% Senior Notes due November 2029 523 3.2 % 523 3.2 %
4.486% Senior Notes due May 2030 498 4.6 % 497 4.6 %
5.125% Senior Notes due September 2040 1,281 4.2 % 1,286 4.2 %
4.080% Senior Notes due December 2047 1,338 4.1 % 1,338 4.1 %
Other long-term debt 73 6.3 % 75 4.2 %

Total long-term debt 5,872 5,980 
Total debt $ 6,020 $ 6,658 

Effective interest rate is based on the carrying value including issuance costs, interest rate swaps, and step-up adjustments from the Baker Hughes Incorporated ("BHI") acquisition recorded
for certain Senior Notes and Debentures.

Represents long-term fixed rate debt obligations assumed in connection with the acquisition of BHI.

The carrying value of our short-term and long-term debt includes issuance costs, changes in fair value of the debt instrument hedged by interest rate swaps, and step-up
adjustments for the BHI acquisition. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, these adjustments resulted in a net increase to the carrying value of our debt totaling $95 million and $91
million, respectively. The estimated fair value of total debt at December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $5,571 million and $5,863 million, respectively. For a majority of our debt the fair
value was determined using quoted period-end market prices. Where market prices are not available, we estimate fair values based on valuation methodologies using current
market interest rate data adjusted for our non-performance risk.

Maturities of debt for each of the five years in the period ending December 31, 2028, and in the aggregate thereafter, are listed in the table below:

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter
Total debt $ 148 $ 4 $ 614 $ 1,308 $ — $ 3,946 

In November 2023, BHH LLC entered into a $3 billion committed unsecured revolving credit facility ("the New Credit Agreement") with commercial banks maturing in November
2028. The New Credit Agreement contains certain representations and warranties, certain affirmative covenants and negative covenants, in each case we consider customary.
Upon the occurrence of certain events of default, our obligations under the New Credit Agreement may be accelerated. Such events of default include payment defaults to lenders
under the New Credit Agreement and other customary defaults. No such events of default have occurred. The New Credit Agreement is

(1) (1)
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fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by Baker Hughes. In addition, we have authorization to issue up to $3 billion of commercial paper. At
December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no borrowings under the New Credit Agreement and no outstanding commercial paper.

Baker Hughes Co-Obligor, Inc. is a co-obligor, jointly and severally with BHH LLC on our long-term debt securities. This co-obligor is a 100%-owned finance subsidiary of BHH
LLC that was incorporated for the sole purpose of serving as a corporate co-obligor of long-term debt securities and has no assets or operations other than those related to its sole
purpose. As of December 31, 2023, Baker Hughes Co-Obligor, Inc. is a co-obligor of our long-term debt securities totaling $5,908 million.

Certain Senior Notes contain covenants that restrict our ability to take certain actions, including, but not limited to, the creation of certain liens securing debt, the entry into
certain sale-leaseback transactions, and engaging in certain merger, consolidation and asset sale transactions in excess of specified limits. At December 31, 2023, we were in
compliance with all debt covenants.

NOTE 10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

We maintain Company sponsored pension plans for certain of our employees. We also maintain unfunded end-of-service benefit plans that are mandated in certain countries in
which we operate. Our primary plans disclosed in 2023 included four U.S. plans and eight non-U.S. plans, primarily in the United Kingdom and Germany, all with plan assets or
obligations greater than $20 million. These defined benefit plans generally provide benefits to employees based on formulas recognizing length of service and earnings; however,
the majority of these plans are either frozen or closed to new entrants. We also provide certain postretirement health care benefits, through unfunded plans, to a closed group of
U.S. employees who retire and meet certain age and service requirements. The accumulated postretirement benefit obligation related to these plans was $33 million and $37 million
at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Funded Status

The funded status position represents the difference between the benefit obligation and the plan assets. Our primary plans consist of seven funded plans and five unfunded
plans. The projected benefit obligation ("PBO") for pension benefits represents the actuarial present value of benefits attributed to employee services and compensation and
includes an assumption about future compensation levels. The accumulated benefit obligation ("ABO") is the actuarial present value of pension benefits attributed to employee
service to date at present compensation levels. The ABO differs from the PBO in that the ABO does not include any assumptions about future compensation levels.
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Below is the reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets and the funded status of our defined benefit plans ("Pension
Benefits").

 Pension Benefits
 2023 2022
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 2,634 $ 3,550 
Service cost 15 23 
Interest cost 116 78 
Actuarial gain (4) (928)
Benefits paid (126) (119)
Settlements (4) (24)
Settlement due to plan termination (246) — 
Acquisition — 202 
Foreign currency translation adjustments 58 (148)

Benefit obligation at end of year 2,443 2,634 

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 2,266 3,147 
Actual return on plan assets 121 (850)
Employer contributions 18 32 
Benefits paid (126) (119)
Settlements (4) (24)
Settlement due to plan termination (246) — 
Acquisition — 214 
Foreign currency translation adjustments 51 (134)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 2,080 2,266 

Funded status - underfunded at end of year $ (363) $ (368)

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 2,399 $ 2,595 

The actuarial gain in 2022 was primarily related to a change in the discount rate used to measure the benefit obligation for our plans.

Plan termination relates to the termination of one of our fully funded frozen U.S. defined benefit plans that was initiated in April 2022.

The amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position consist of the following at December 31:

 Pension Benefits
 2023 2022
Noncurrent assets $ 78 $ 58 
Current liabilities (17) (15)
Noncurrent liabilities (424) (411)
Net amount recognized $ (363) $ (368)

 (1)

(2)

(2)

(1)

(2)

Baker Hughes Company 2023 Form 10-K | 70



Baker Hughes Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Information for the plans with ABOs and PBOs in excess of plan assets consist of the following at December 31:

 Pension Benefits
 2023 2022
Projected benefit obligation $ 1,410 $ 1,143 
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 1,366 $ 1,103 
Fair value of plan assets $ 968 $ 717 

We have a U.S. non-qualified supplemental pension plan ("BH SPP") for certain employees which is included in the benefit obligations and funded status in the tables above. In
order to meet a portion of our obligations of the BH SPP, we established a trust comprised primarily of mutual fund assets. The value of these assets was $36 million and $34 million
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. These assets are not included as plan assets or in the funded status amounts in the tables above and below.

Net Periodic Cost

The components of net periodic cost consist of the following:

Pension Benefits
2023 2022 2021

Service cost $ 15 $ 23 $ 27 
Interest cost 116 78 64 
Expected return on plan assets (102) (114) (130)
Amortization of prior service credit 1 1 1 
Amortization of net actuarial loss 19 27 40 
Curtailment / settlement loss (16) 2 2 
Net periodic cost $ 33 $ 17 $ 4 

The service cost component of the net periodic cost is included in "Operating income (loss)" and all other components are included in "Other non-operating income (loss), net"
in the consolidated statements of income (loss).

Assumptions Used in Benefit Calculations

Accounting requirements necessitate the use of assumptions to reflect the uncertainties and the length of time over which the pension obligations will be paid. The actual
amount of future benefit payments will depend upon when participants retire, the amount of their benefit at retirement and how long they live. To reflect the obligation in today's
dollars, we discount the future payments using a rate that matches the time frame over which the payments are expected to be made. We also need to assume a long-term rate of
return that will be earned on investments used to fund these payments.

Another assumption used is the interest crediting rate for our U.S. qualified cash balance plan. Under the provisions of this pension plan, a hypothetical cash balance account
has been established for each participant. Such accounts receive quarterly interest credits based on a prescribed formula.

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations for these plans are as follows:

 Pension Benefits
 2023 2022
Discount rate 4.54 % 4.89 %
Rate of compensation increase 3.26 % 3.30 %
Interest crediting rate 3.98 % 4.31 %
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Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic cost for these plans are as follows:

Pension Benefits
2023 2022 2021

Discount rate 4.89 % 2.15 % 1.66 %
Expected long-term return on plan assets 5.05 % 3.85 % 4.07 %
Interest crediting rate 4.31 % 2.60 % 2.60 %

We determine the discount rate using a bond matching model, whereby the weighted average yields on high-quality fixed-income securities have maturities consistent with the
timing of benefit payments. Lower discount rates increase the size of the benefit obligations while higher discount rates reduce the size of the benefit obligation. The compensation
assumption is used in our active plans to estimate the annual rate at which the pay for plan participants will grow. If the rate of growth assumed increases, the size of the pension
obligations will increase.

The expected return on plan assets is the estimated long-term rate of return that will be earned on the investments used to fund the pension obligations. To determine this rate,
we consider the current and target composition of plan investments, our historical returns earned, and our expectations about the future.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The amount recorded before-tax in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to our defined benefit plans consists of the following at December 31:

 Pension Benefits
 2023 2022
Net actuarial loss $ 333 $ 348 
Net prior service cost 15 15 
Total $ 348 $ 363 

Plan Assets

We have investment committees that meet regularly to review portfolio returns and to determine asset-mix targets based on asset/liability studies. Third-party investment
consultants assist these committees in developing asset allocation strategies to determine our expected rates of return and expected risk for various investment portfolios. The
investment committees considered these strategies in the formal establishment of the current asset-mix targets based on the projected risk and return levels for all major asset
classes.
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The table below presents the fair value of the plan assets at December 31:

2023 2022
Debt securities

Fixed income and cash investment funds $ 1,122 $ 1,482 
Equity securities

Global equity securities 227 180 
U.S. equity securities 157 102 

Insurance contracts 103 100 
Real estate 34 53 
Private equities 35 37 
Other investments 402 313 
Total plan assets $ 2,080 $ 2,266 

Include direct investments and investment funds.

Consists primarily of asset allocation fund investments.

Plan assets valued using Net Asset Value ("NAV") as a practical expedient amounted to $1,967 million and $2,157 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
percentages of plan assets valued using NAV by investment fund type for equity securities, fixed income and cash, and alternative investments were 20%, 57%, and 23% as of
December 31, 2023, respectively, and 13%, 69%, and 18% as of December 31, 2022, respectively. Those investments that were measured at fair value using NAV as a practical
expedient were excluded from the fair value hierarchy. The practical expedient was not applied for investments with a fair value of $113 million and $109 million as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively. There were investments classified within Level 3 of $103 million and $100 million for non U.S. insurance contracts as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Funding Policy

The funding policy for our Pension Benefits is to contribute amounts sufficient to meet minimum funding requirements as set forth in employee benefit and tax laws plus such
additional amounts as we may determine to be appropriate. In 2023, we contributed approximately $18 million, which includes benefit payments made directly to the employee for
our unfunded plans. We anticipate we will contribute between approximately $40 million to $45 million to our pension plans in 2024.

The following table presents the expected benefit payments for Pension Benefits over the next 10 years. For funded Company sponsored plans, the benefit payments are made
by the respective pension trust funds.

Year Pension Benefits
2024 $ 164 
2025 127 
2026 132 
2027 135 
2028 136 
2029-2033 717 

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Our primary defined contribution plan during 2023 was the Company-sponsored U.S. 401(k) plan ("401(k) Plan"). The 401(k) Plan allows eligible employees to contribute
portions of their eligible compensation to an investment trust. The Company matches employee contributions at the rate of $1.00 per $1.00 employee contribution for the first 5% of
the employee's eligible compensation, and such contributions vest immediately. In
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addition, we make cash contributions for all eligible employees of 4% of their eligible compensation and such contributions are fully vested after three years of employment. The
401(k) Plan provides several investment options, for which the employee has sole investment discretion; however, the 401(k) Plan does not offer the Company's common stock as
an investment option. Our costs for the 401(k) Plan and several other U.S. and non-U.S. defined contribution plans amounted to $217 million and $212 million in 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

We have two non-qualified defined contribution plans that are invested through trusts. The assets and corresponding liabilities were $281 million and $256 million at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are included in "All other assets" and "Liabilities for pensions and other postretirement benefits," respectively, in the consolidated
statements of financial position.

NOTE 11. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

2023 2022 2021
Current:

U.S. $ 33 $ 6 $ 11 
Foreign 711 489 614 

Total current 744 495 625 
Deferred:

U.S. (27) 40 (24)
Foreign (32) 65 157 

Total deferred (59) 105 133 
Provision for income taxes $ 685 $ 600 $ 758 

On August 16, 2022, the U.S. enacted The Inflation Reduction Act which included a number of additional credits and deductions for businesses and individuals. The Inflation
Reduction Act also included the adoption of the Corporate Alternative Minimum Tax in 2023, which is based on financial statement book income of large corporations. In 2023, the
Company is not subject to the Corporate Alternative Minimum Tax.

The geographic sources of income before income taxes consist of the following:

2023 2022 2021
U.S. $ 882 $ (698) $ (724)
Foreign 1,773 720 1,152 
Income before income taxes $ 2,655 $ 22 $ 428 
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The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the U.S. statutory income tax rate to the income before income taxes for the reasons set forth
below for the years ended December 31:

2023 2022 2021
Income before income taxes $ 2,655 $ 22 $ 428 

Taxes at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 558 5 90 
Effect of foreign operations 112 338 216 
Tax impact of partnership structure (103) 6 137 
Change in valuation allowances 53 164 70 
Tax expense (benefit) due to unrecognized tax benefits (5) (7) 201 
Other - net 70 94 44 

Provision for income taxes $ 685 $ 600 $ 758 
Actual income tax rate 25.8 % 2,727.3 % 177.1 %

For December 31, 2023, this amount was reduced by $81 million that is related to the release of a valuation allowance for certain deferred tax assets.

For December 31, 2022, $140 million of this amount relates to the charges associated with the sale and suspension of our Russia operations.

For December 31, 2021, $121 million of this amount was previously indemnified under the Tax Matters Agreement with General Electric ("GE") of which $119 million was included in tax
expense due to unrecognized tax benefits. In December 2022, the Company and GE entered into an agreement to terminate the Tax Matters Agreement.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for income tax purposes, as well as operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.

As a result of an internal reorganization completed on December 30, 2023, BHH LLC became a single member LLC thereby terminating the partnership for U.S. income tax
purposes. As of December 31, 2023, U.S. deferred tax assets and liabilities are now recorded based on the inside book basis versus tax basis difference and are no longer
recorded based on the Company's outside basis difference in the BHH LLC partnership. As a result, in 2023 the deferred tax asset related to the investment in partnership has been
adjusted accordingly and other deferred tax assets and liabilities, including PP&E, intangible assets, and lower tier investment in partnerships & subsidiaries, have been increased
to reflect the tax effect of the inside basis difference of those respective assets and liabilities.
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The tax effects of differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities as of December 31 consist of the following:

2023 2022
Deferred tax assets:

Operating & capital loss carryforwards $ 3,332 $ 2,074 
Tax credit & other carryforwards 936 1,087 
Investment in partnerships & subsidiaries 286 846 
Property, plant and equipment 169 128 
Employee benefits 241 62 
Goodwill and other intangible assets 137 46 
Receivables 111 94 
Inventory 73 52 
Other 181 163 

Total deferred income tax asset 5,466 4,552 
Valuation allowances (4,416) (4,090)

Total deferred income tax asset after valuation allowance 1,050 462 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Indefinite-lived intangible assets (380) — 
Fair value of derivative financial instruments (90) — 
Other (34) (34)

Total deferred income tax liability (504) (34)
Net deferred tax asset $ 546 $ 428 

At December 31, 2023, we had approximately $417 million of non-U.S. tax credits which may be carried forward indefinitely under applicable foreign law, $366 million of U.S.
foreign tax credits and $153 million of other U.S. Federal and state tax credits and other carryforwards, the majority of which will expire after tax year 2027 under U.S. Federal and
state tax law. Additionally, we had $3,299 million of net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs"), of which approximately $252 million will expire within five years, $1,862 million will
expire between six years and 20 years, and the remainder can be carried forward indefinitely. Lastly, we had $33 million of capital loss carryforwards, the majority of which can be
carried forward indefinitely.

We record a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax
assets depends on the ability to generate sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character in the future and in the appropriate taxing jurisdictions. At December 31, 2023,
$4,416 million of valuation allowances are recorded against various deferred tax assets, primarily related to foreign operating and capital losses of $2,987 million and U.S. foreign
and non-U.S. tax credit carryforwards of $770 million.

Indefinite reinvestment is determined by management’s intentions concerning the future operations of the Company. In cases where repatriation would otherwise incur
significant withholding or income taxes, these earnings have been indefinitely reinvested in the Company's active non-U.S. business operations. As of December 31, 2023, the
cumulative amount of undistributed foreign earnings is approximately $3,708 million. Computation of the potential deferred tax liability associated with these undistributed earnings
and any other basis differences is not practicable.

At December 31, 2023, we had $467 million of tax liabilities for total gross unrecognized tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions. In addition to these uncertain tax
positions, we had $83 million and $79 million related to interest and penalties, respectively, for total liabilities of $629 million for uncertain positions. If we were to prevail on all
uncertain positions, the net effect would result in an income tax benefit of approximately $559 million. The remaining $71 million is comprised of $41 million for deferred tax assets
that represent tax benefits that would be received in different taxing jurisdictions or in a different character and $30 million increased valuation allowances.
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The following table presents the changes in our gross unrecognized tax benefits included in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Asset / (Liability) 2023 2022
Balance at beginning of year $ (496) $ (531)
Additions for tax positions of the current year (15) (19)
Additions for tax positions of prior years (50) (99)
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 32 100 
Settlements with tax authorities 26 24 
Lapse of statute of limitations 36 29 
Balance at end of year $ (467) $ (496)

It is expected that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will change in the next twelve months due to expiring statutes, audit activity, tax payments, and competent authority
proceedings related to transfer pricing or final decisions in matters that are the subject of litigation in various taxing jurisdictions in which we operate. At December 31, 2023, we had
approximately $40 million of tax liabilities related to uncertain tax positions, each of which are individually insignificant, and each of which are reasonably possible of being settled
within the next twelve months.

We conduct business in more than 120 countries and are subject to income taxes in most taxing jurisdictions in which we operate, each of which may have multiple open years
subject to examination. All Internal Revenue Service examinations have been completed and closed through 2015 for the most significant U.S. returns. We believe that we have
made adequate provision for all income tax uncertainties in all jurisdictions.

NOTE 12. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has the Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTI Plan") under which we may grant restricted stock units ("RSU"), performance share units ("PSU"), stock options and other
equity-based awards to employees and non-employee directors providing services to the Company and our subsidiaries. The Company also provides an Employee Stock Purchase
Plan for eligible employees. A total of up to 29.5 million shares of Class A common stock are reserved and available for issuance pursuant to awards granted under the LTI Plan
over its term which expires on the date of the annual meeting of the Company in 2031. A total of 25.1 million shares of Class A common stock are available for issuance as of
December 31, 2023.

Stock-based compensation cost was $197 million, $207 million and $205 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Stock-based
compensation cost is measured at the date of grant based on the calculated fair value of the award and is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the
equity grant. The compensation cost is determined based on awards ultimately expected to vest; therefore, we have reduced the cost for estimated forfeitures based on historical
forfeiture rates. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods to reflect actual forfeitures. There were no stock-based compensation
costs capitalized as the amounts were not material.

Restricted Stock

We may grant to our officers, directors and key employees RSUs, where each unit represents the right to receive, at the end of a stipulated period, one unrestricted share of
stock with no exercise price. Certain RSUs are subject to cliff or graded vesting, generally ranging over a period of three years. Non-employee directors are granted RSUs that
immediately vest on the grant date. Cash dividend equivalents are accumulated on RSUs and are payable upon vesting of the awards. We determine the fair value of RSUs based
on the market price of our common stock on the date of grant.
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The following table presents the changes in RSUs outstanding and related information (in thousands, except per unit prices):

Number of
Units

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

 Value Per Unit
Unvested balance at December 31, 2022 14,342 $ 24.31 

Granted 6,404 30.20 
Vested (7,351) 23.60 
Forfeited (1,282) 26.43 

Unvested balance at December 31, 2023 12,113 $ 27.70 

In 2023, the total intrinsic value of RSUs vested (defined as the value of shares awarded based on the price of our common stock at vesting date) was $227 million and
unvested RSUs was $414 million. The total grant date fair value of RSUs vested in 2023 was $173 million. As of December 31, 2023, there was $178 million of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested RSUs, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.76 years.

Performance Share Units

We may grant PSUs to certain officers and key employees. The PSUs are stock-based awards tied to predefined company metrics and contain a payout modifier based on total
shareholder return ("TSR"). PSUs generally cliff vest after a service period of three years. Cash dividend equivalents are accumulated on PSUs and are payable upon vesting of the
awards. The fair value of the awards determined for the predefined company metrics are based on the market price of our common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of the
PSU awards is determined based on a Monte Carlo simulation method.

The following table presents the changes in PSUs outstanding and related information (in thousands, except per unit prices):

Number of
 Units

Weighted Average
 Grant Date Fair

 Value Per Unit
Unvested balance at December 31, 2022 3,525 $ 25.56 

Granted 1,222 30.17 
Vested (827) 20.61 
Cancelled (563) 21.85 
Forfeited (529) 29.06 

Unvested balance at December 31, 2023 2,828 $ 28.70 

Includes adjustments based on achievement of predefined company metrics.

The total intrinsic value of PSUs vested and unvested, (defined as the value of the shares awarded at the year-end market price) was $23 million and $97 million, respectively,
as of December 31, 2023. The total grant date fair value of PSUs vested in 2023 was $17 million. Total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested PSUs, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.89 years, was $28 million as of December 31, 2023.

Stock Options

We previously granted stock options to our officers, directors and key employees. Stock options generally vest in equal amounts over a vesting period of three years provided
that the employee has remained continuously employed by the Company through such vesting date. We have not granted stock options to officers, directors, or key employees
since 2019.

(1)
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The following table presents the changes in stock options outstanding and related information (in thousands, except per option prices):

Number of
Options

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

 Per Option
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 2,907 $ 33.02 

Exercised (492) 26.44 
Expired (174) 39.79 

Outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2023 2,241 $ 33.92 

The weighted average remaining contractual term for options outstanding and options exercisable at December 31, 2023 was 3.4 years. The maximum contractual term of
options outstanding is 5.1 years.

There were nil, 530 thousand and 850 thousand options that vested in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The total fair value of options vested was nil, $3 million and $7 million,
in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options was immaterial as of December 31, 2023.

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised (defined as the amount by which the market price of our common stock on the date of exercise exceeds the exercise price of
the option) in 2023 was $3 million. The total intrinsic value of stock options outstanding and options exercisable at December 31, 2023 was $6 million. The intrinsic value of stock
options outstanding is calculated as the amount by which the quoted price of $34.18 of our common stock as of the end of 2023 exceeds the exercise price of the options.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The employee stock purchase plan provides for eligible employees to purchase shares of Class A common stock quarterly on an after-tax basis in an amount
between 1% and 20% of their annual pay at a 15% discount of the fair market value of our Class A common stock at the end of each quarterly offering period. An employee may not
purchase more than $3,000 in any of the three-month measurement periods described above or $12,000 annually.

A total of 21.5 million shares of Class A common stock are authorized for issuance, and at December 31, 2023, there were 8.7 million shares of Class A common stock reserved
for future issuance.

NOTE 13. EQUITY

COMMON STOCK

We are authorized to issue 2 billion shares of Class A common stock, 1.25 billion shares of Class B common stock and 50 million shares of preferred stock each of which have
a par value of $0.0001 per share. The number of shares outstanding of Class A and Class B common stock at December 31, 2023 is 998 million and nil, respectively. We have not
issued any preferred stock. Each share of Class B common stock and the associated member units of BHH LLC form a paired interest. While each share of Class B common stock
has equal voting rights to a share of Class A common stock, it has no economic rights, meaning holders of Class B common stock have no right to dividends or any assets in the
event of liquidation of the Company. Our Class B common stock was previously held by GE. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no shares of Class B common stock
issued and outstanding.

We have a share repurchase program which we expect to fund from cash generated from operations, and we expect to make share repurchases from time to time subject to the
Company's capital plan, market conditions, and other factors, including regulatory restrictions. The repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and does not
have a specified expiration date. In 2023 and 2022, the Company repurchased and canceled 16.3 million and 29.7 million shares of Class A common stock, each for $538 million
and $828 million, representing an average price per share of $33.09 and $27.91, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had authorization remaining to repurchase
up to approximately $2.2 billion of its Class A common stock.
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The following table presents the changes in the number of shares outstanding (in thousands):

2023 2022
Class A

Common Stock
Class B

Common Stock
Class A

Common Stock
Class B

Common Stock
Balance at beginning of year 1,005,960 — 909,142 116,548 
Issue of shares upon vesting of restricted stock units 5,738 — 6,316 — 
Issue of shares on exercise of stock options 434 — 1,632 — 
Issue of shares for employee stock purchase plan 1,846 — 2,017 — 
Exchange of Class B common stock for Class A common stock — — 116,548 (116,548)
Repurchase and cancellation of Class A common stock (16,269) — (29,694) — 
Balance at end of year 997,709 — 1,005,960 — 

    Share amounts reflected above are net of shares withheld to satisfy the employee's tax withholding obligation.

    When shares of Class B common stock, together with associated BHH LLC member units ("LLC Units"), were exchanged for shares of Class A common stock, such shares of Class B
common stock were canceled.

During 2023 and 2022, the Company declared and paid aggregate regular dividends of $0.78 and $0.73 per share, respectively, to holders of record of the Company's Class A
common stock.

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS ("AOCL")

The following tables present the changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax:

Foreign Currency
Translation

Adjustments Cash Flow Hedges Benefit Plans
Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Loss
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ (2,125) $ (10) $ (250) $ (2,385)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (294) (1) 2 (293)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss 25 3 27 55 
Deferred taxes — — (43) (43)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (269) 2 (14) (281)
Less: Other comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (3) — — (3)
Less: Reallocation of AOCL based on change in ownership of BHH LLC Units 275 1 32 308 
Balance at December 31, 2022 (2,666) (9) (296) (2,971)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 153 12 (14) 151 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss — (8) 28 20 
Deferred taxes — (1) 5 4 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 153 3 19 175 
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ (2,513) $ (6) $ (277) $ (2,796)

(1)

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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The amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 represent (i) gains (losses) reclassified on cash
flow hedges when the hedged transaction occurs, (ii) the amortization of net actuarial gain (loss), prior service credit, settlements, and curtailments which are included in the
computation of net periodic pension cost (see "Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans" for additional details), and (iii) the release of foreign currency translation adjustments.

NOTE 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share of Class A common stock is presented below:

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2023 2022 2021
Net income (loss) $ 1,970 $ (578) $ (330)
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 27 23 (111)
Net income (loss) attributable to Baker Hughes Company $ 1,943 $ (601) $ (219)

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Class A basic 1,008 987 824 
Class A diluted 1,015 987 824 

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:
Class A basic $ 1.93 $ (0.61) $ (0.27)
Class A diluted $ 1.91 $ (0.61) $ (0.27)

Shares of our Class B common stock do not share in earnings or losses of the Company and are not considered in the calculation of basic or diluted earnings per share ("EPS")
above. As such, separate presentation of basic and diluted EPS of Class B under the two class method has not been presented. The basic weighted average shares outstanding for
our Class B common stock were nil, 30 million, and 215 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The basic weighted average shares
outstanding for both our Class A and Class B common stock combined were 1,008 million, 1,017 million, and 1,039 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, Class A diluted shares include the dilutive impact of equity awards except for approximately 2 million options that were excluded
because the exercise price exceeded the average market price of our Class A common stock and is therefore antidilutive. For the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, we
excluded all outstanding equity awards from the computation of diluted net loss per share because their effect is antidilutive.

NOTE 15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis consist of derivative instruments and investment securities.

2023 2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Net Balance Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Net Balance

Assets    
Derivatives $ — $ 34 $ — $ 34 $ — $ 18 $ — $ 18 
Investment securities 1,040 — 2 1,042 748 — — 748 

Total assets 1,040 34 2 1,076 748 18 — 766 

Liabilities    
Derivatives — (76) — (76) — (86) — (86)

Total liabilities $ — $ (76) $ — $ (76) $ — $ (86) $ — $ (86)
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2023 2022

Amortized Cost
Gross Unrealized

Gains
Gross Unrealized

Losses Estimated Fair Value Amortized Cost
Gross Unrealized

Gains
Gross Unrealized

Losses Estimated Fair Value

Investment securities    
Non-U.S. debt securities $ 66 $ 1 $ — $ 67 $ — $ — $ — $ — 
Equity securities 527 451 (3) 975 557 191 — 748 

Total $ 593 $ 452 $ (3) $ 1,042 $ 557 $ 191 $ — $ 748 

Gains (losses) recorded to earnings related to these securities were $405 million, $(271) million and $(843) million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, our non-U.S. debt securities are classified as available for sale securities and mature within two years.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the balance of our equity securities with readily determinable fair values is $975 million and $748 million, respectively, and is comprised
mainly of our investment in ADNOC Drilling, and is recorded primarily in "All other current assets" in the consolidated statements of financial position. We measured our investments
at fair value based on quoted prices in active markets.

Gains (losses) recorded to earnings for our equity securities with readily determinable fair values were $435 million, $(264) million, and $(843) million for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Gains (losses) related to our equity securities with readily determinable fair values are reported in "Other non-operating income
(loss), net" in the consolidated statements of income (loss).

OTHER EQUITY INVESTMENTS

During the second quarter of 2023, certain equity securities without a readily determinable fair value were remeasured as of the date that an observable transaction occurred,
which resulted in the Company recording a gain of $118 million. Gains (losses) related to our equity securities without readily determinable fair values are reported in "Other non-
operating income (loss), net" in the consolidated statements of income (loss).

FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Our financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, current receivables, certain investments, accounts payable, short and long-term debt, and derivative financial
instruments. Except for long-term debt, the estimated fair value of these financial instruments at December 31, 2023 and 2022 approximates their carrying value as reflected in our
consolidated financial statements. For further information on the fair value of our debt, see "Note 9. Debt."

DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING

We use derivatives to manage our risks and do not use derivatives for speculation. The table below summarizes the fair value of all derivatives, including hedging instruments
and embedded derivatives.

 2023 2022
Assets (Liabilities) Assets (Liabilities)

Derivatives accounted for as hedges
Currency exchange contracts $ 10 $ (3) $ 1 $ — 
Interest rate swap contracts — (52) — (69)

Derivatives not accounted for as hedges
Currency exchange contracts and other 24 (21) 17 (17)

Total derivatives $ 34 $ (76) $ 18 $ (86)

Derivatives are classified in the consolidated statements of financial position depending on their respective maturity date. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, $31 million and
$17 million of derivative assets are recorded in

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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"All other current assets" and $3 million and $1 million are recorded in "All other assets" in the consolidated statements of financial position, respectively. As of December 31, 2023
and 2022, $23 million and $17 million of derivative liabilities are recorded in "All other current liabilities" and $53 million and $69 million are recorded in "All other liabilities" in the
consolidated statements of financial position, respectively.

FORMS OF HEDGING

Cash Flow Hedges

We use cash flow hedging primarily to mitigate the effects of foreign exchange rate changes on purchase and sale contracts. Accordingly, the vast majority of our derivative
activity in this category consists of currency exchange contracts. In addition, we are exposed to interest rate risk fluctuations in connection with long-term debt that we issue from
time to time to fund our operations. Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges are recorded in a separate component of equity (referred to as "Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income" or "AOCI") and are recorded in earnings in the period in which the hedged transaction occurs. See "Note 13. Equity" for further information on activity in
AOCI for cash flow hedges. The maximum term of cash flow hedges that hedge forecasted transactions was approximately two years and one year at December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively.

Fair Value Hedges

All of our long-term debt is comprised of fixed rate instruments. We are subject to interest rate risk on our debt portfolio and may use interest rate swaps to manage the
economic effect of fixed rate obligations associated with certain debt. Under these arrangements, we agree to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
floating interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had interest rate swaps with a notional amount of $500 million that converted a portion of our $1,350 million aggregate principal amount
of 3.337% fixed rate Senior Notes due 2027 into a floating rate instrument with an interest rate based on a LIBOR index as a hedge of its exposure to changes in fair value that are
attributable to interest rate risk. As of July 1, 2023, the interest rate changed to be based on a Secured Overnight Financing Rate index. We concluded that the interest rate swap
met the criteria necessary to qualify for the short-cut method of hedge accounting, and as such, an assumption is made that the change in the fair value of the hedged debt, due to
changes in the benchmark rate, exactly offsets the change in the fair value of the interest rate swaps. Therefore, the derivative is considered to be effective at achieving offsetting
changes in the fair value of the hedged liability, and no ineffectiveness is recognized. The mark-to-market of this fair value hedge is recorded as gains or losses in interest expense
and is equally offset by the gain or loss of the underlying debt instrument, which also is recorded in interest expense.

NOTIONAL AMOUNT OF DERIVATIVES

The notional amount of a derivative is used to determine, along with the other terms of the derivative, the amounts to be exchanged between the counterparties. We disclose
the derivative notional amounts on a gross basis to indicate the total counterparty risk but it does not generally represent amounts exchanged by us and the counterparties. A
substantial majority of the outstanding notional amount of $4.2 billion and $3.8 billion at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, is related to hedges of anticipated sales and
purchases in foreign currency, commodity purchases, changes in interest rates, and contractual terms in contracts that are considered embedded derivatives and for intercompany
borrowings in foreign currencies.

COUNTERPARTY CREDIT RISK

Fair values of our derivatives can change significantly from period to period based on, among other factors, market movements and changes in our positions. We manage
counterparty credit risk (the risk that counterparties will default and not make payments to us according to the terms of our agreements) on an individual counterparty basis.
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NOTE 16. REVENUE RELATED TO CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

DISAGGREGATED REVENUE

We disaggregate our revenue from contracts with customers by product line for both our OFSE and IET segments, as we believe this best depicts how the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of our revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. In addition, management views revenue from contracts with customers for OFSE by
geography based on the location to where the product is shipped or the services are performed.

Effective October 1, 2023, IET began operating through five product lines - Gas Technology Equipment, which will now include the Pumps business; Gas Technology Services;
Industrial Solutions, which brings together the Condition Monitoring and PSI businesses, along with IET Digital initiatives; Industrial Products, which brings together the Inspection
business merging with the Valves and Gears businesses; and a newly formed product line, Climate Technology Solutions, which will combine our carbon capture, utilization and
storage ("CCUS"), hydrogen, clean power and emissions abatement capabilities, that previously was reported in each of the individual IET product lines, into one business focused
on serving the energy transition. The financial information for 2022 and 2021 have been recast to conform to the new product line presentation.

The series of tables below present our revenue disaggregated by these categories.

Total Revenue 2023 2022 2021
Well Construction $ 4,387 $ 3,854 $ 3,301 
Completions, Intervention & Measurements 4,170 3,559 3,106 
Production Solutions 3,854 3,587 3,135 
Subsea & Surface Pressure Systems 2,950 2,230 2,486 
Oilfield Services & Equipment 15,361 13,229 12,028 

Gas Technology Equipment 4,232 2,599 3,039 
Gas Technology Services 2,600 2,440 2,696 

Total Gas Technology 6,832 5,039 5,735 
Industrial Products 1,962 1,697 1,598 
Industrial Solutions 983 884 880 
Controls 41 208 217 

Total Industrial Technology 2,987 2,789 2,695 
Climate Technology Solutions 326 98 43 

Industrial & Energy Technology 10,145 7,926 8,473 
Total $ 25,506 $ 21,156 $ 20,502 

The sale of Nexus Controls business was completed in April 2023.

Oilfield Services & Equipment Geographic Revenue 2023 2022 2021
North America $ 4,116 $ 3,764 $ 2,904 
Latin America 2,761 2,099 1,681 
Europe/CIS/Sub-Saharan Africa 2,655 2,483 2,865 
Middle East/Asia 5,829 4,883 4,579 
Oilfield Services & Equipment $ 15,361 $ 13,229 $ 12,028 

 (1)

(1)
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REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

As of December 31, 2023, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) performance obligations was $33.5 billion. As of
December 31, 2023, we expect to recognize revenue of approximately 61%, 74% and 90% of the total remaining performance obligations within 2, 5, and 15 years, respectively,
and the remaining thereafter. Contract modifications could affect both the timing to complete as well as the amount to be received as we fulfill the related remaining performance
obligations.

NOTE 17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company's segments are determined as those operations whose results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), who is our Chief
Executive Officer, in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. We report our operating results through two operating segments, OFSE and IET. Each segment is
organized and managed based upon the nature of our markets and customers and consists of similar products and services. These products and services operate across upstream
oil and gas and broader energy and industrial markets. The following is a description of each segment's business operations:

Oilfield Services & Equipment provides products and services for onshore and offshore oilfield operations across the lifecycle of a well, ranging from exploration, appraisal,
and development, to production, rejuvenation, and decommissioning. OFSE is organized into four product lines: Well Construction, which encompasses drilling services, drill bits,
and drilling & completions fluids; Completions, Intervention, and Measurements, which encompasses well completions, pressure pumping, and wireline services; Production
Solutions, which spans artificial lift systems and oilfield & industrial chemicals; and Subsea & Surface Pressure Systems, which encompasses subsea projects services and drilling
systems, surface pressure control, and flexible pipe systems. Beyond its traditional oilfield concentration, OFSE is expanding its capabilities and technology portfolio to meet the
challenges of a net-zero future. These efforts include expanding into new energy areas such as geothermal and CCUS, strengthening its digital architecture and addressing key
energy market themes.

Industrial & Energy Technology provides technology solutions and services for mechanical-drive, compression and power-generation applications across the energy industry,
including oil and gas, LNG operations, downstream refining and petrochemical markets, as well as lower carbon solutions to broader energy and industrial sectors. IET also
provides equipment, software, and services that serve a wide range of industries including petrochemical and refining, nuclear, aviation, automotive, mining, cement, metals, pulp
and paper, and food and beverage. IET is organized into five product lines - Gas Technology Equipment, Gas Technology Services, Industrial Products, Industrial Solutions, and
Climate Technology Solutions.

Revenue and operating income for each segment are used by the CODM to assess the performance of each segment in a financial period. The performance of our operating
segments is evaluated based on segment operating income (loss), which is defined as income (loss) before income taxes before the following: net interest expense, net other non-
operating income (loss), corporate expenses, restructuring, impairment and other charges, inventory impairments, and certain gains and losses not allocated to the operating
segments. Consistent accounting policies have been applied by all segments within the Company, for all reporting periods. Intercompany revenue and expense amounts have been
eliminated within each segment to report on the basis that management uses internally for evaluating segment performance. Summarized financial information for the Company's
segments is shown in the following tables.

Revenue 2023 2022 2021
Oilfield Services & Equipment $ 15,361 $ 13,229 $ 12,028 
Industrial & Energy Technology 10,145 7,926 8,473 
Total $ 25,506 $ 21,156 $ 20,502 
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Income before income taxes 2023 2022 2021
Oilfield Services & Equipment $ 1,746 $ 1,201 $ 830 
Industrial & Energy Technology 1,310 1,135 1,177 
Total segment 3,055 2,336 2,006 
Corporate (380) (416) (429)
Inventory impairment (35) (31) — 
Restructuring, impairment and other (323) (705) (269)
Other non-operating income (loss), net 554 (911) (583)
Interest expense, net (216) (252) (299)
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 2,655 $ 22 $ 428 

Charges for inventory impairments are reported in "Cost of goods sold" in the consolidated statements of income (loss).

The following table presents total assets at December 31:

Assets 2023 2022
Oilfield Services & Equipment $ 17,925 $ 17,181 
Industrial & Energy Technology 13,781 12,286 
Total segment 31,706 29,467 
Corporate and eliminations 5,239 4,714 
Total $ 36,945 $ 34,181 

The assets in Corporate and eliminations consist primarily of the Baker Hughes trade name, cash, and tax assets. It also includes adjustments to eliminate intercompany investments and
receivables reflected within the total assets of each of our reportable segments.

The following table presents depreciation and amortization:

Depreciation and amortization 2023 2022 2021
Oilfield Services & Equipment $ 849 $ 845 $ 874 
Industrial & Energy Technology 217 197 208 
Total segment 1,066 1,042 1,082 
Corporate 21 19 23 
Total $ 1,087 $ 1,061 $ 1,105 

The following table presents capital expenditures:

Capital expenditures 2023 2022 2021
Oilfield Services & Equipment $ 960 $ 791 $ 659 
Industrial & Energy Technology 229 183 182 
Total segment 1,189 974 841 
Corporate 35 15 15 
Total $ 1,224 $ 989 $ 856 

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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The following table presents consolidated revenue based on the location to where the product is shipped or the services are performed. Other than the U.S., no other country
accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated revenue during the periods presented.

Revenue 2023 2022 2021
U.S. $ 6,557 $ 4,942 $ 4,497 
Non-U.S. 18,949 16,214 16,005 
Total $ 25,506 $ 21,156 $ 20,502 

The following table presents net property, plant and equipment by its geographic location at December 31:

Property, plant and equipment - net 2023 2022
U.S. $ 1,579 $ 1,554 
Non-U.S. 3,314 2,984 
Total $ 4,893 $ 4,538 

NOTE 18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We have an aeroderivative joint venture ("Aero JV") we formed with GE in 2019. The Aero JV is jointly controlled by GE and us, each with ownership interest of 50%, and
therefore, we do not consolidate the Aero JV. We had purchases from the Aero JV of $517 million, $528 million, and $603 million during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively. We have $71 million and $110 million of accounts payable at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for products and services provided by the Aero JV
in the ordinary course of business. Sales of products and services and related receivables with the Aero JV were immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021.

During the second quarter of 2022, GE's ownership interest in the Company and BHH LLC was reduced to less than 5%. As a result, considering all aspects of our relationship
with GE, as of June 30, 2022, we no longer considered GE a related party. We had purchases with GE and its affiliates of $293 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022,
and $716 million during the year ended December 31, 2021, respectively. In addition, we sold products and services to GE and its affiliates for $83 million during the six months
ended June 30, 2022, and $185 million during the year ended December 31, 2021, respectively.

NOTE 19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

LITIGATION

We are subject to legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. Because legal proceedings are inherently uncertain, we are unable to predict the ultimate
outcome of such matters. We record a liability for those contingencies where the incurrence of a loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Based on the
opinion of management, we do not expect the ultimate outcome of currently pending legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial
position or cash flows. However, there can be no assurance as to the ultimate outcome of these matters.

On July 31, 2018, International Engineering & Construction S.A. ("IEC") initiated arbitration proceedings in New York administered by the International Center for Dispute
Resolution ("ICDR") against the Company and its subsidiaries arising out of a series of sales and service contracts entered between IEC and the Company's subsidiaries for the
sale and installation of LNG plants and related power generation equipment in Nigeria ("Contracts"). Prior to the filing of the IEC Arbitration, the Company's subsidiaries made
demands for payment due under the Contracts. On August 15, 2018, the Company's subsidiaries initiated a separate demand for ICDR arbitration against IEC for claims of
additional costs and amounts due under the Contracts. On October 10, 2018, IEC filed a Petition to Compel Arbitration in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York against the Company seeking to compel non-signatory Baker Hughes entities to participate in the arbitration filed by IEC. The complaint is captioned International
Engineering & Construction S.A. et al. v. Baker Hughes, a GE
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company, LLC, et al. No. 18-cv-09241 ("S.D.N.Y 2018"); this action was dismissed by the Court on August 13, 2019. In the arbitration, IEC alleges breach of contract and other
claims against the Company and its subsidiaries and seeks recovery of alleged compensatory damages, in addition to reasonable attorneys' fees, expenses and arbitration costs.
On March 15, 2019, IEC amended its request for arbitration to alleged damages of $591 million of lost profits plus unspecified additional costs based on alleged non-performance of
the contracts in dispute. The arbitration hearing was held from December 9, 2019 to December 20, 2019. On March 3, 2020, IEC amended their damages claim to $700 million of
alleged loss cash flow or, in the alternative, $244.9 million of lost profits and various costs based on alleged non-performance of the contracts in dispute, and in addition $4.8 million
of liquidated damages, $58.6 million in take-or-pay costs of feed gas, and unspecified additional costs of rectification and take-or-pay future obligations, plus unspecified interest
and attorneys' fees. On May 3, 2020, the arbitration panel dismissed IEC's request for take-or-pay damages. On May 29, 2020, IEC quantified their claim for legal fees at $14.2
million and reduced their alternative claim from $244.9 million to approximately $235 million. The Company and its subsidiaries have contested IEC's claims and are pursuing claims
for compensation under the contracts. On October 31, 2020, the ICDR notified the arbitration panel's final award, which dismissed the majority of IEC's claims and awarded a
portion of the Company's claims. On January 27, 2021, IEC filed a petition to vacate the arbitral award in the Supreme Court of New York, County of New York. On March 5, 2021,
the Company filed a petition to confirm the arbitral award, and on March 8, 2021, the Company removed the matter to the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York. On November 16, 2021, the court granted the Company's petition to confirm the award and denied IEC's petition to vacate. During the second quarter of 2022, IEC paid
the amounts owed under the arbitration award, which had an immaterial impact on the Company's financial statements. On February 3, 2022, IEC initiated another arbitration
proceeding in New York administered by the ICDR against certain of the Company's subsidiaries arising out of the same project which formed the basis of the first arbitration. On
March 25, 2022, the Company's subsidiaries initiated a separate demand for ICDR arbitration against IEC for claims of additional costs and amounts due; such claims against IEC
have now been resolved, with any consideration having an immaterial impact on the Company's financial statements. At this time, we are not able to predict the outcome of the
proceeding which is pending against the Company's subsidiaries.

On March 15, 2019 and March 18, 2019, the City of Riviera Beach Pension Fund and Richard Schippnick, respectively, filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery shareholder
derivative lawsuits for and on the Company's behalf against GE, the then-current members of the Board of Directors of the Company and the Company as a nominal defendant,
related to the decision to (i) terminate the contractual prohibition barring GE from selling any of the Company's shares before July 3, 2019; (ii) repurchase $1.5 billion in the
Company's stock from GE; (iii) permit GE to sell approximately $2.5 billion in the Company's stock through a secondary offering; and (iv) enter into a series of other agreements and
amendments that will govern the ongoing relationship between the Company and GE (collectively, the "2018 Transactions"). The complaints in both lawsuits allege, among other
things, that GE, as the Company's controlling stockholder, and the members of the Company's Board of Directors breached their fiduciary duties by entering into the 2018
Transactions. The relief sought in the complaints includes a request for a declaration that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties, that GE was unjustly enriched,
disgorgement of profits, an award of damages sustained by the Company, pre- and post-judgment interest, and attorneys' fees and costs. On March 21, 2019, the Chancery Court
entered an order consolidating the Schippnick and City of Riviera Beach complaints under consolidated C.A. No. 2019-0201-AGB, styled in re Baker Hughes, a GE company
derivative litigation. On May 10, 2019, Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed their claims against the members of the Company's Conflicts Committee, and on May 15, 2019, Plaintiffs
voluntarily dismissed their claims against former Baker Hughes director Martin Craighead. On June 7, 2019, the defendants and nominal defendant filed a motion to dismiss the
lawsuit on the ground that the derivative plaintiffs failed to make a demand on the Company's Board of Directors to pursue the claims itself, and GE and the Company's Board of
Directors filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit on the ground that the complaint failed to state a claim on which relief can be granted. The Chancery Court denied the motions on
October 8, 2019, except granted GE's motion to dismiss the unjust enrichment claim against it. On October 31, 2019, the Company's Board of Directors designated a Special
Litigation Committee and empowered it with full authority to investigate and evaluate the allegations and issues raised in the derivative litigation. The Special Litigation Committee
filed a motion to stay the derivative litigation during its investigation. On December 3, 2019, the Chancery Court granted the motion and stayed the derivative litigation until June 1,
2020. On May 20, 2020, the Chancery Court granted an extension of the stay to October 1, 2020, and on September 29, 2020, the Court granted a further extension of the stay to
October 15, 2020. On October 13, 2020, the Special Litigation Committee filed its report with the Court. On April 17, 2023, the Court granted the Special Litigation
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Committee's motion to terminate the litigation. On May 16, 2023, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal. On February 1, 2024, the Supreme Court of the State of Delaware affirmed the
judgment of the Court of Chancery.

On or around February 15, 2023, the lead plaintiff and three additional named plaintiffs in a putative securities class action styled The Reckstin Family Trust, et al., v. C3.ai, Inc.,
et al., No. 4:22-cv-01413-HSG, filed an amended class action complaint (the "Amended Complaint") in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California. The
Amended Complaint names the following as defendants: (i) C3.ai., Inc. ("C3 AI"), (ii) certain of C3 AI's current and/or former officers and directors, (iii) certain underwriters for the C3
AI initial public offering (the "IPO"), and (iv) the Company, and its President and CEO (who formerly served as a director on the board of C3 AI). The Amended Complaint alleges
violations of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") in connection with the IPO and the subsequent period between December 9,
2020 and December 2, 2021, during which BHH LLC held equity investments in C3 AI. The action seeks unspecified damages and the award of costs and expenses, including
reasonable attorneys' fees. At this time, we are not able to predict the outcome of these proceedings.

We insure against risks arising from our business to the extent deemed prudent by our management and to the extent insurance is available, but no assurance can be given
that the nature and amount of that insurance will be sufficient to fully indemnify us against liabilities arising out of pending or future legal proceedings or other claims. Most of our
insurance policies contain deductibles or self-insured retentions in amounts we deem prudent and for which we are responsible for payment. In determining the amount of self-
insurance, it is our policy to self-insure those losses that are predictable, measurable and recurring in nature, such as claims for automobile liability, general liability and workers
compensation.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Item 103 of SEC Regulation S-K requires disclosure of certain environmental matters when a governmental authority is a party to the proceedings and such proceedings involve
potential monetary sanctions that the Company reasonably believes will exceed a specified threshold. The Company uses a threshold of $1 million for such proceedings. Applying
this threshold, there are no environmental matters to disclose for this period.

Estimated remediation costs are accrued using currently available facts, existing environmental permits, technology and enacted laws and regulations. Our cost estimates are
developed based on internal evaluations and are not discounted. Accruals are recorded when it is probable that we will be obligated to pay for environmental site evaluation,
remediation or related activities, and such costs can be reasonably estimated. As additional information becomes available, accruals are adjusted to reflect current cost estimates.

OTHER

In the normal course of business with customers, vendors and others, we have entered into off-balance sheet arrangements, such as surety bonds for performance, letters of
credit and other bank issued guarantees. We also provide a guarantee to GE Capital on behalf of a customer who entered into a financing arrangement with GE Capital. Total off-
balance sheet arrangements were approximately $5.1 billion at December 31, 2023. It is not practicable to estimate the fair value of these financial instruments. As of December 31,
2023, none of the off-balance sheet arrangements either has, or is likely to have, a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. We also had
commitments outstanding for purchase obligations for each of the five years in the period ending December 31, 2028 of $1,871 million, $366 million, $220 million, $215
million and $47 million, respectively, and $27 million in the aggregate thereafter.

We sometimes enter into consortium or similar arrangements for certain projects primarily in our OFSE segment. Under such arrangements, each party is responsible for
performing a certain scope of work within the total scope of the contracted work, and the obligations expire when all contractual obligations are completed. The failure or inability,
financially or otherwise, of any of the parties to perform their obligations could impose additional costs and obligations on us. These factors could result in unanticipated costs to
complete the project, liquidated damages or contract disputes.
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NOTE 20. RESTRUCTURING, IMPAIRMENT AND OTHER

We recorded restructuring, impairment and other charges of $323 million, $705 million, and $269 million during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

RESTRUCTURING AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

In 2023, we recorded restructuring and impairment charges of $313 million. In 2022, we announced a corporate restructuring plan in conjunction with a change in our operating
segments (the "2022 Plan"). We continued to incur charges in 2023 related to our 2022 Plan primarily for employee termination expenses. Restructuring charges for 2023 also
include costs under a new plan (the "2023 Plan") primarily for employee termination expenses related to exit activities at specific locations in our segments to align with our market
outlook and rationalize our manufacturing supply chain footprint. These actions also included inventory impairments of $35 million in 2023, recorded in "Cost of goods sold" in the
consolidated statements of income (loss). In the fourth quarter of 2023, we incurred additional costs related to a planned workforce reduction, primarily in OFSE.

In 2022, we recorded restructuring and impairment charges of $196 million. The charges are related to our 2022 Plan and are primarily for employee termination expenses
driven by actions taken by the Company to facilitate the reorganization into two segments and corporate restructuring. In addition, PP&E impairments and other costs were recorded
related to exit activities at specific locations in the OFSE segment.

In 2021, we recorded restructuring and impairment charges totaling $138 million. Charges incurred were primarily related to the continuation of our overall strategy to restructure
our business, which was designed to optimize our structural costs for the year-over-year change in activity levels and market conditions.

The following table presents the restructuring and impairment charges by the impacted segment; however, these net charges are not included in the reported segment results.

2023 2022 2021
Oilfield Services & Equipment $ 148 $ 121 $ 121 
Industrial & Energy Technology 98 36 11 
Corporate 67 39 6 
Total $ 313 $ 196 $ 138 

The following table presents restructuring and impairment charges by type, and includes gains on the dispositions of certain property, plant and equipment as a consequence of
exit activities:

2023 2022 2021
Property, plant and equipment $ (2) $ 58 $ 7 
Employee-related termination expenses 270 121 99 
Asset relocation costs 5 3 20 
Contract termination fees 1 1 2 
Other incremental costs 39 13 10 
Total $ 313 $ 196 $ 138 

OTHER CHARGES

Other charges included in "Restructuring, impairment and other" in the consolidated statements of income (loss) were $10 million, $509 million, and $131 million for the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

In 2022, other charges were primarily associated with the discontinuation of our Russia operations. As a result of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, we took actions to
suspend substantially all of our operational activities related to Russia. These actions resulted in other charges of $334 million recorded in the second quarter of 2022
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primarily associated with the suspension of contracts including all our IET LNG contracts, and the impairment of assets consisting primarily of contract assets, PP&E and reserve for
accounts receivable. In addition to these charges, we recorded inventory impairments of $31 million primarily in IET as a result of suspending our Russia operations, which are
reported in "Cost of goods sold" in the consolidated statements of income (loss).

In 2022, we also recorded other charges of $84 million in our OFSE segment primarily related to the impairment of PP&E and intangibles for the subsea production systems
business due to a decrease in the estimated future cash flows driven by a decline in our long-term market outlook for this business, and $68 million in our IET segment primarily
related to a write-off of an equity method investment and the release of foreign currency translation adjustments. In 2021, other charges were primarily related to certain litigation
matters in our IET segment and the release of foreign currency translation adjustments for certain restructured product lines in our IET segment. The 2022 and 2021 charges also
include separation related costs.

NOTE 21. BUSINESS DISPOSITIONS AND ACQUISITIONS

DISPOSITIONS

We completed several business dispositions over the past three years as described below. Any gain or loss on a business disposition is reported in "Other non-operating
income (loss), net" in the consolidated statements of income (loss).

During 2023, we completed the sale of businesses and received total cash consideration $293 million. The dispositions consisted primarily of the sale of our Nexus Controls
business in the IET segment to GE in April 2023, which resulted in an immaterial gain. Nexus Controls specializes in scalable industrial controls systems, safety systems, hardware,
and software cybersecurity solutions and services. GE will continue to provide Baker Hughes with GE's MarkTM controls products currently in the Nexus Controls portfolio, and we
will be the exclusive supplier and service provider of such GE products for our oil and gas customers' control needs.

The following table presents financial information related to the assets and liabilities of our Nexus Controls business classified as held for sale and reported in "All other current
assets" and "All other current liabilities" in the consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2022.

Assets and liabilities of business held for sale Nexus Controls
Assets
Current receivables $ 59 
Inventories 36 
Property, plant and equipment 2 
Goodwill 230 
Other assets 10 
Total assets of business held for sale 337 

Liabilities
Accounts payable 30 
All other current liabilities 56 
Other liabilities 7 
Total liabilities of business held for sale 93 
Total net assets of business held for sale $ 244 

During 2022, we sold part of our OFSE Russia business to local management for a nominal amount, which resulted in a loss before income taxes of $451 million.

During 2021, we closed a transaction with Akastor ASA to create a joint venture company ("JV Company") to deliver global offshore drilling solutions. We contributed our subsea
drilling systems business, a division of our
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OFSE segment, to the JV Company and received as consideration 50% of the shares of the JV Company, cash of $70 million, and a promissory note of $80 million. The transaction
resulted in an immaterial gain.

ACQUISITIONS

During 2023, we completed the acquisition of businesses for total cash consideration of $301 million, net of cash acquired, which consisted primarily of the acquisition of Altus
Intervention in the OFSE segment in April 2023. Altus Intervention is a leading international provider of well intervention services and downhole technology. The assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in these acquisitions were recorded based on preliminary estimates of their fair values as of the acquisition date. As a result of these acquisitions, we recorded
$138 million of goodwill and $58 million of intangible assets, subject to final fair value adjustments. Pro forma results of operations for these acquisitions have not been presented
because the effects of these acquisitions were not material to our consolidated financial statements.

During 2022, we completed several acquisitions for total cash consideration of $767 million, net of cash acquired of $50 million, subject to the finalization of post-closing working
capital adjustments. The transactions have been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and accordingly, assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded
at their fair values as of the acquisition date. As a result of these acquisitions, we recorded $458 million of goodwill and $211 million of intangible assets. Pro forma results of
operations for these acquisitions have not been presented because the effects of these acquisitions were not material to our consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 22. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

ALL OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

All other current liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 include $1,346 million and $837 million, respectively, of employee related liabilities.

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The following table presents the change in allowance for credit losses:

2023 2022
Balance at beginning of year $ 341 $ 400 
Provision 79 69 
Write-offs (26) (34)
Prior year recoveries (31) (44)
Other (13) (50)
Balance at end of year $ 350 $ 341 

CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES

Supplemental cash flow disclosures consist of the following:

2023 2022 2021
Income taxes paid, net of refunds $ 595 $ 498 $ 314 
Interest paid $ 309 $ 291 $ 305 
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) were
effective at a reasonable assurance level.

There has been no change in our internal controls over financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2023, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Rule 10b5-1 and Non-Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangements

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, certain of our officers or directors listed below adopted or terminated trading arrangements for the sale of shares of our
Class A common stock in amounts and prices determined in accordance with a formula set forth in each such plan:

Plans

Name and Title Action Date Rule 10b5-1 
Non-Rule 10b5-

1 
Number of

Shares to be Sold Expiration
James E. Apostolides,

Senior Vice President, Enterprise Operational
Excellence Adoption November 22, 2023 X 15,000 

Earlier of when all shares under plan are sold and
April 8, 2024

Intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c)

Not intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c)

Sixth Amended and Restated Bylaws

On February 1, 2024, the Board of Directors adopted the sixth amended and restated bylaws of the Company (the “Sixth Amended and Restated Bylaws”), effective February 1,
2024, to remove references to GE and otherwise make conforming changes to reflect GE’s exit from its investment in the Company.

The foregoing description of the amendments made in the Sixth Amended and Restated Bylaws does not purport to be complete and is qualified by reference to the Sixth
Amended and Restated Bylaws, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.2 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.

(1) (2)

(1)

(2)
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ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information regarding our Code of Conduct and the Code of Ethical Conduct Certificates for our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting
officer are described in Item 1. Business of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Information concerning our directors is set forth in the sections entitled "Proposal No. 1, Election of
Directors - Board Nominees for Directors," and "Corporate Governance - Committees of the Board" in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders
to be filed with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year on December 31, 2023 ("Proxy Statement"), which sections are incorporated
herein by reference. For information regarding our executive officers, see "Item 1. Business - Executive Officers of Baker Hughes" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information for this item is set forth in the following section of our Proxy Statement, which section is incorporated herein by reference: "Executive Compensation."

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and our management is set forth in the sections entitled "Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners"
and "Stock Ownership of Section 16(a) Director and Executive Officers" in our Proxy Statement, which sections are incorporated herein by reference.

We permit our employees, officers and directors to enter into written trading plans complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act. Rule 10b5-1 provides criteria under
which such an individual may establish a prearranged plan to buy or sell a specified number of shares of a company's stock over a set period of time. Persons using such plan must
act in good faith with respect to the contract with the broker executing the trades, trading instructions and the trading plan as a whole. Such plan must be established at a time when
the individual is not in possession of material, nonpublic information and will be subject to a cooling off period to the initial trade thereunder. If an individual establishes a plan
satisfying the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, such individual's subsequent receipt of material, nonpublic information will not prevent transactions under the plan from being executed.
Certain of our officers have advised us that they have and may enter into stock sales plans for the sale of shares of our Class A common stock which are intended to comply with
the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act. In addition, the Company has and may in the future enter into repurchases of our Class A common stock under a plan that
complies with Rule 10b5-1 or Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The information in the following table is presented as of December 31, 2023 with respect to shares of our Class A common stock that may be issued under our current and prior
LTI Plans (in millions, except per share prices).

Equity Compensation Plan
Category

Number of
Securities to be

 Issued Upon
 Exercise of

 Outstanding
 Options, Warrants

 and Rights

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of

 Outstanding
 Options, Warrants

 and Rights

Number of Securities
Remaining Available

 for Future Issuance
 Under Equity

 Compensation Plans
 (excluding securities

reflected in the first
 column)

Shareholder-approved plans 2.2 $ 33.92 25.1 
Nonshareholder-approved plans — — — 
Subtotal (except for weighted average exercise price) 2.2 33.92 25.1 
Employee stock purchase plan — — 8.7
Total 2.2 $ 33.92 33.8 

Employee stock purchase plan shares of 0.5 million will be issued in the first quarter of 2024 that relate to the three months ended December 31, 2023 purchase period. The remaining 8.2
million shares are available for future issuance.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information for this item is set forth in the sections entitled "Corporate Governance-Director Independence" and "Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions" in our
Proxy Statement, which sections are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Our independent registered public accounting firm is KPMG LLP, Houston, Texas, Auditor Firm ID: 185. Information concerning principal accountant fees and services is set
forth in the section entitled "Fees Paid to KPMG LLP" in our Proxy Statement, which section is incorporated herein by reference.

(1)

(1)
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) List of Documents filed as part of this Annual Report.

(1) Financial Statements

All financial statements of the Company as set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

The schedules listed in Reg. 210.5-04 have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or
notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits

Each exhibit identified below is filed as a part of this Annual Report. Exhibits designated with an "*" are filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and exhibits
designated with an "**" are furnished as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Exhibits designated with a "+" are identified as management contracts or compensatory
plans or arrangements. Exhibits previously filed are incorporated by reference.

Exhibit Number Exhibit Description
3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Baker Hughes Company dated October 17, 2019.
3.2* Sixth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Baker Hughes Company dated February 1, 2024.
4.1 Indenture, dated October 28, 2008, between Baker Hughes Incorporated (as predecessor to Baker Hughes Holdings LLC) and The Bank of New York Mellon

Trust Company, N.A., as trustee.
4.2 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated July 3, 2017, to the Indenture dated as of October 28, 2008, among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC, Baker Hughes Co-

Obligor, Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee.
4.3 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated December 11, 2017, to the Indenture dated as of October 28, 2008, among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC, Baker Hughes Co-

Obligor, Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee.
4.4 Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated November 7, 2019, to the Indenture dated as of October 28, 2008, among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC, Baker Hughes Co-

Obligor, Inc. and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee.
4.5 Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated May 1, 2020 to the Indenture dated as of October 28, 2008, among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC, Baker Hughes Co-Obligor,

Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee.
4.6 Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated December 9, 2021 to the Indenture dated as of October 28, 2008, among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC, Baker Hughes Co-

Obligor, Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee.
4.7 Seventh Supplemental Indenture dated December 31, 2023, to the Indenture dated as of October 28, 2008, among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC and Baker

Hughes Co-Obligor, Inc., as Existing Obligors, Baker Hughes Company, as Parent Guarantor, and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee.
4.8 Indenture, dated May 15, 1994, between Western Atlas Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon, as Trustee.
4.9 First Supplemental Indenture dated July 3, 2017, to the Indenture dated as of May 15, 1994, by and among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC, Baker Hughes Co-

Obligor, Inc., Baker Hughes Oilfield Operations, LLC and Baker Hughes International Branches, LLC, as New Obligors, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as Trustee.

4.10 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated December 31, 2023, to the Indenture dated as of May 15, 1994, by and among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC, Baker
Hughes Co-Obligor, Inc., Baker Hughes Oilfield Operations, LLC and Baker Hughes International Branches, LLC, as Existing Obligors, Baker Hughes Company,
as Parent Guarantor, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee.

4.11 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 3, 2017, to the Indenture dated as of May 15, 1991, among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC, Baker Hughes Co-
Obligor, Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee.

Baker Hughes Company 2023 Form 10-K | 96

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000095010319013957/dp114144_ex0301.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000095010319013957/dp114144_ex0301.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000095013408018616/h64661exv4w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000095013408018616/h64661exv4w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000094787117001003/ss71530_ex0403.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000094787117001003/ss71530_ex0403.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000095010319015278/dp115699_ex0401.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000095010319015278/dp115699_ex0401.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312520131042/d925583dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312520131042/d925583dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312521352669/d269561dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312521352669/d269561dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312521352669/d269561dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312521352669/d269561dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312521352669/d269561dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000095012905001852/h21636exv4w4.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000095012905001852/h21636exv4w4.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000095012905001852/h21636exv4w4.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000095012905001852/h21636exv4w4.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1701605/000119312517220852/d343521dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312524003365/d10294dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312517220863/d343454dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/808362/000119312517220863/d343454dex42.htm


4.12 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 31, 2023, to the Indenture dated as of May 15, 1991, among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC and Baker
Hughes Co-Obligor, Inc., as Existing Obligors, Baker Hughes Company, as Parent Guarantor, and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee.

4.13 Description of Securities Registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
4.14 Form of Stock Certificate for Class A Common Stock of Baker Hughes Company under the Laws of the State of Delaware.
10.1 Transaction Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2019, between Baker Hughes Holdings LLC, General Electric Company and GE Aero Power LLC.
10.2 STDA Side Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2019, between Baker Hughes Holdings LLC and General Electric Company.
10.3 Aero-Derivatives Supply and Technology Development Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2018, between Baker Hughes Holdings LLC and General Electric

Company.
10.4 Umbrella Aero-Derivatives IP Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2018, between General Electric Company and Baker Hughes Holdings LLC.
10.5 TMA Master Settlement Agreement as of February 13, 2023 among General Electric Company, Baker Hughes Company, EHHC Newco, LLC and Baker Hughes

Holdings LLC to settle disputes under the Tax Matters Agreement.
10.6 Credit Agreement, dated as of November 21, 2023, among Baker Hughes Holdings LLC, as the borrower, Baker Hughes Company, as the parent guarantor, the

lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.
10.7+ Amended and Restated Baker Hughes Incorporated 2002 Employee Long-Term Incentive Plan.
10.8+ Amended and Restated Baker Hughes Incorporated 2002 Director & Officer Long-Term Incentive Plan.
10.9+ Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement and Terms and Conditions for officers dated 2011.
10.10+ Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement and Terms and Conditions for officers dated January 2014.
10.11+ Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement and Terms and Conditions for officers June 2014.
10.12+ Baker Hughes Company 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
10.13+ Baker Hughes Company 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
10.14+ Baker Hughes Company Executive Officer Short Term Incentive Compensation Plan as Amended and Restated.
10.15+ Baker Hughes Company Non-Employee Director Deferral Plan as Amended and Restated.
10.16+ Amendment to the Baker Hughes Company Benefits Plans including the Baker Hughes Company 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
10.17+ Baker Hughes Company Executive Severance Program.
10.18+ First Amendment to the Baker Hughes Company Executive Severance Program effective January 1, 2020.
10.19+ Baker Hughes Company Executive Change in Control Severance Plan.
10.20+ Baker Hughes Company Employee Stock Purchase Plan as Amended and Restated.
10.21+ Baker Hughes Company Supplementary Pension Plan as Amended and Restated Effective as of December 31, 2018.
10.22+ Amendment to the Baker Hughes Holdings LLC Sponsored Benefit Plans including the Baker Hughes Company Supplementary Pension Plan.
10.23+ Baker Hughes Company Supplemental Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2020.
10.24+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Indemnification Agreement dated July 2017.
10.25+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement dated March 18, 2020.
10.26+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Stock Option Award Agreement dated July 2017.
10.27+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Senior Executive Stock Option Award Agreement dated July 2017.
10.28+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Stock Option Award Agreement dated January 2018.
10.29+ Offer Letter between Baker Hughes Company and Lorenzo Simonelli, dated as of August 1, 2017.
10.30+ Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement between Baker Hughes Company and Lorenzo Simonelli dated as of June 1, 2018.
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10.31+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Stock Option Award Agreement dated January 2019.
10.32+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (three year ratable vest) dated January 2020.
10.33+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (three year cliff vest) dated January 2020.
10.34+ Baker Hughes Company Form of ROIC Performance Share Unit Award Agreement dated January 2020.
10.35+ Baker Hughes Company Form of TSR Performance Share Unit Award Agreement dated January 2020.
10.36+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Stock Option Award Agreement dated January 2020.
10.37+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (three year cliff vest) dated January 2021.
10.38+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (three year ratable vest) dated January 2021.
10.39+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement dated January 2021.
10.40+ Form of Transformation Incentive Award Agreement dated January 2021.
10.41+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (three year ratable vest) dated January 2022.
10.42+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (three year cliff vest) dated January 2022.
10.43+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Executive Officer Performance Share Unit Award Agreement dated January 2022.
10.44+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Director Stock Unit Award Agreement dated March 2022.
10.45+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Executive Officer Performance Share Unit Award Agreement dated January 2023.
10.46+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (2-year cliff vest for new hires) dated January 2023.
10.47+ Baker Hughes Company Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (2-year ratable vest for new hires) dated January 2023.
10.48 Plea Agreement between Baker Hughes Services International, Inc. and the United States Department of Justice filed on April 26, 2007, with the United States

District Court of Texas, Houston Division.
10.49+* Baker Hughes Company Form of Executive Officer Performance Share Unit Award Agreement dated February 2024.

19* Insider Trading Policy.
21.1* Subsidiaries of the Company.
23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP.
31.1* Certification of Lorenzo Simonelli, President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
31.2* Certification of Nancy Buese, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
32** Certification of Lorenzo Simonelli, President and Chief Executive Officer, and Nancy Buese, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
95* Mine Safety Disclosures.
97* Recoupment of Compensation Policy.

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document.

101.SCH* XBRL Schema Document.
101.CAL* XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.LAB* XBRL Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE* XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF* XBRL Definition Linkbase Document.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
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Lorenzo Simonelli
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 

KNOWN ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Lorenzo Simonelli, Nancy Buese and Georgia
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1 ARTICLE I STOCKHOLDERS 1.1. Place of Meetings. All meetings of stockholders shall be held at such place, if any, as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Baker Hughes Company (the “Corporation”), the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer or, if not so designated, at the principal office of the Corporation. The Board may, in its sole discretion, determine that a meeting shall not be held at any place, but may instead be held solely by means of remote communication in accordance with Section 211(a) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”). 1.2. Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of stockholders for the election of directors and for the transaction of such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting shall be held on a date and at a time designated by the Board, the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer (which date shall not be a legal holiday in the place, if any, where the meeting is to be held). The Board may postpone, reschedule or cancel any previously scheduled annual meeting of stockholders. 1.3. Special Meetings. Special meetings of stockholders for any purpose or purposes may be called as (and only as) provided in the Certificate of Incorporation. The Board may postpone, reschedule or cancel any previously scheduled special meeting of stockholders. Business transacted at any special meeting of stockholders shall be limited to matters related to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting. 1.4. Notice of Meetings. Except as otherwise provided by the DGCL, notice of each meeting of stockholders, whether annual or special, shall be given not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting as of the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting. Without limiting the manner by which notice
otherwise may be given to stockholders, any notice shall be effective if given by a form of electronic transmission consented to (in a manner consistent with the DGCL) by the stockholder to whom the notice is given. The notices of all meetings shall state the place, if any, date and time of the meeting, the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting, and the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting (if such date is different from the record date for stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting). The notice of a special meeting shall state, in addition, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. If notice is given by mail, such notice shall be deemed given when deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at such stockholder’s address as it appears on the records of the Corporation. If notice is given by electronic transmission, such notice shall be deemed given at the time specified in Section 232 of the DGCL. 1.5. Voting List. The Secretary shall prepare, at least ten (10) days before every meeting of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the



 

2 meeting (provided, however, if the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote is less than ten (10) days before the date of the meeting, the list shall reflect the stockholders entitled to vote as of the tenth day before the meeting date), arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting: (a) on a reasonably accessible electronic network, provided that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with the notice of the meeting; or (b) during ordinary business hours, at the principal place of business of the Corporation. Except as otherwise provided by law, the list shall presumptively determine the identity of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting and the number of shares held by each of them. 1.6. Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the holders of a majority in voting power of the shares of the capital stock of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the meeting, present in person, present by means of remote communication in a manner, if any, authorized by the Board in its sole discretion, or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business; provided, however, that where a separate vote by a class or classes or series of capital stock is required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of a majority in voting power of the shares of such class or classes or series of the capital stock of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote on such matter, present in person, present by means of remote communication in a manner, if any, authorized by the Board in its sole discretion, or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum of such class or
classes or series entitled to take action with respect to the vote on such matter. A quorum, once established at a meeting, shall not be broken by the withdrawal of enough votes to leave less than a quorum. 1.7. Adjournments. Any meeting of stockholders, annual or special, may be adjourned from time to time to any other time and to any other place at which a meeting of stockholders may be held under these Bylaws by the chairman of the meeting or, if directed to be voted on by the chairman of the meeting, by the stockholders present or represented at the meeting and entitled to vote thereon, although less than a quorum. If the adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. If after the adjournment a new record date for determination of stockholders entitled to vote is fixed for the adjourned meeting, the Board shall fix as the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of such adjourned meeting the same or an earlier date as that fixed for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the adjourned meeting, and shall give notice of the adjourned meeting to each stockholder of record as of the record date so fixed for notice of such adjourned meeting. At the adjourned meeting, the Corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. 1.8. Proxies. Each stockholder of record entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders may vote in person (including by means of remote communication in a



 

3 manner, if any, authorized by the Board in its sole discretion by which stockholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting) or may authorize another person or persons to vote for such stockholder by a proxy executed or transmitted in a manner permitted by applicable law. No such proxy shall be voted upon after three (3) years from the date of its execution, unless the proxy expressly provides for a longer period. 1.9. Action at Meeting. When a quorum is present at any meeting, any matter to be voted upon by the stockholders at such meeting shall, except as set forth in Section 2.2, be decided by the vote of the holders of shares of stock having a majority in voting power of the votes cast by the holders of all of the shares of stock present or represented by proxy at the meeting and voting affirmatively or negatively on such matter (or if there are two or more classes or series of stock entitled to vote as separate classes, then in the case of each such class or series, the holders of shares of stock having a majority in voting power of the votes cast by the holders of all of the shares of stock of that class or series present or represented by proxy at the meeting and voting affirmatively or negatively on such matter), except when a different vote is required by applicable law, regulation applicable to the Corporation or its securities, the rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to the Corporation, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws. Voting at meetings of stockholders need not be by written ballot. 1.10. Notice of Stockholder Business and Nominations. (A) Annual Meetings of Stockholders. (1) Nominations of persons for election to the Board and the proposal of other business to be considered by the stockholders may be made at an annual meeting of stockholders only (a) pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto), (b) by or at the direction of the Board, any committee thereof, the
Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer, (c) by any stockholder of the Corporation who was a stockholder of record of the Corporation at the time the notice provided for in this Section 1.10 is delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation and at the time of the annual meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 1.10 or (d) pursuant to Section 1.12. For the avoidance of doubt, the procedures set forth in this Section 1.10 shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to make nominations or submit proposals for other business for an annual meeting of stockholders (other than matters properly brought under Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) or any successor rule thereto and included in the Corporation’s proxy statement that has been prepared to solicit proxies for such annual meeting and other than pursuant to Section 1.12). (2) For any nominations or any other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation and any such proposed business (other than the nominations of persons for election to the



 

4 Board) must constitute a proper matter for stockholder action. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice shall be delivered to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the ninetieth (90th) day, nor earlier than the close of business on the one hundred and twentieth (120th) day, prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting (provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is more than thirty (30) days before or more than seventy (70) days after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such annual meeting and the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such annual meeting is first made by the Corporation). In no event shall the adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting (or any public announcement thereof) commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above. To be in proper form, such stockholder’s notice (whether given pursuant to this paragraph (A)(2) of Section 1.10 or paragraph (B) of Section 1.10) to the Secretary of the Corporation shall set forth: (a) as to each person, if any, whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a director to the Board, (i) all information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed, whether in a proxy statement, other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for election of directors in a contested election contest, or as otherwise required, in each case pursuant to and in accordance with Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder; (ii) such person’s written consent to being
named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected; a written questionnaire with respect to the background and qualification of such person and the background of any other person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is being made (which questionnaire shall be provided by the Secretary of the Corporation upon written request); such person’s written representation and agreement (in the form provided by the Secretary of the Corporation upon written request), (A) that such person is not and will not become party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person, if elected as a director of the Corporation, will act or vote on any issue or question (a “Voting Commitment”) that has not been disclosed to the Corporation or any Voting Commitment that could limit or interfere with such person’s ability to comply, if elected as a director of the Corporation, with such person’s



 

5 fiduciary duties under applicable law, (B) that such person is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement, or understanding with any person or entity other than the Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement, or indemnification in connection with service or action as a director that has not been disclosed to the Corporation, and (C) that, in such person’s individual capacity and on behalf of any person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is being made, such person would, if elected as a director, comply with all of the Corporation’s corporate governance, ethics, conflict of interest, confidentiality and stock ownership and trading policies and guidelines applicable generally to the Corporation’s directors and, if elected as a director of the Corporation, such person currently would be in compliance with any such policies and guidelines that have been publicly disclosed; (iii) a description of all direct and indirect compensation and other material monetary agreements, arrangements and understandings during the past three (3) years, and any other material relationships, between or among the stockholder making the nomination and any beneficial owner on whose behalf the nomination is made, and their respective affiliates and associates, or any other person or persons (including their names) acting in concert therewith (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), on the one hand, and each proposed nominee, and his or her respective affiliates or associates, or any other person or persons (including their names) acting in concert therewith (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), on the other hand, including, without limitation, any relationship as principal,
employee or affiliate, and all information that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 promulgated under Regulation S-K if the stockholder making the nomination and any beneficial owner on whose behalf the nomination is made, if any, or any affiliate or associate thereof or person acting in concert therewith (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), were the “registrant” for purposes of such rule and the nominee were a director or executive officer of such registrant; (iv) any information that such person would be required to disclose pursuant to clauses (ii) and (v) - (x) of clause (c) of this paragraph (A)(2) of Section 1.10 if such person were a stockholder



 

6 purporting to make a nomination or propose business pursuant thereto; and (v) an undertaking to notify the Corporation in writing of any change in the information called for by clauses (i) (iv) as of the record date for notice of such meeting, by notice received by the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the tenth (10th) day following such record date; (b) as to any other business that the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, (i) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the annual meeting, the text of the proposal or business (including the complete text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and in the event that such business includes a proposal to amend any Corporation document, the language of the proposed amendment), the reasons for conducting such business at the annual meeting and any material interest in such business of such stockholder and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made; and (ii) a description of all agreements, arrangements and understandings between such stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, and their respective affiliates and associates, and any other person or persons (including their names) acting in concert therewith (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses) in connection with the proposal of such business by such stockholder; and (c) as to the stockholder giving the notice, the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal for other business is made, any of their respective affiliates or associates (including, if such stockholder or beneficial owner is an entity, as to each director, executive, managing member or control person of such entity), and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom
the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses): (i) the name and address of such stockholder, as they appear on the Corporation’s books, such beneficial owner, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving



 

7 the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses); (ii) the class or series and number of shares of capital stock of the Corporation which are, directly or in directly, owned beneficially and of record by such stockholder, such beneficial owner, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses); (iii) a description of any other business being brought by such stockholder, such beneficial owner, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses); (iv) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding with respect to the nomination or proposal between or among such stockholder and/or such beneficial owner, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), including, in the case of a nomination, the nominee; (v) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any derivative or short positions, profit interests, options, war rants, convertible securities, stock appreciation or similar rights with an exercise or conversion privilege or a settlement payment or mechanism at a price related to any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation or with a value derived in whole or in part from the value of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation, hedging transact ions, and borrowed or loaned shares) that has been entered into as
of the date of the stockholder’s notice by, or on behalf of, such stockholder and such beneficial owners, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), whether or not such instrument or right shall be subject to settlement in underlying shares of capital stock of the Corporation, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to,



 

8 manage risk or benefit of share price changes for, or increase or decrease the voting power of, such stockholder or such beneficial owner, with respect to securities of the Corporation (a “Derivative Instrument”); (vi) a description of any proxy, contract, arrangement, understanding or relationship pursuant to which such stockholder and such beneficial owner, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), has the right to vote any shares of any security of the Corporation; (vii) any short interest of such stockholder and such beneficial owner, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), in any security of the Corporation (for purposes of these Bylaws, a person shall be deemed to have a short interest in a security if such person directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise, has the opportunity to profit or share in any profit derived from any decrease in the value of the subject security); (viii) any rights to dividends on the shares of the Corporation owned beneficially by such stockholder and such beneficial owner, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), that are separated or separable from the underlying shares of capital stock of the Corporation; (ix) any proportionate interest in shares of capital stock of the
Corporation or Derivative Instruments, held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited partnership in which such stockholder or such beneficial owner, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), is a general partner or, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns an interest in a general partner;



 

9 (x) any performance related fees (other than an asset- based fee) that such stockholder and such beneficial owner, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), is entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the value of shares of capital stock of the Corporation or Derivative Instruments, if any; (xi) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at such annual meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the annual meeting to propose such business or nomination; (xii) a representation whether the stockholder or the beneficial owner, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), intends or is part of a group which intends (A) to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy, on a card to be a color other than white, to holders of at least the percentage of the Corporation’s outstanding capital stock required to approve or adopt the proposal or elect the nominee (in the case of electing a nominee, such percentage to be at least 67%), (B) otherwise to solicit proxies or votes from stockholders in support of such proposal or nomination, including pursuant to Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act and/or (C) otherwise to solicit proxies with respect to one or more nominees or business proposals (in each case, specifically identifying each participant in the solicitation as defined under Item 4 of Schedule 14A under the Exchange Act and the means by which the participants intend to solicit proxies or votes); (xiii) any other information relating to
such stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any person from whom the stockholder giving the notice is receiving funding to fund the proxy proposal and related expenses), required to be disclosed under the DGCL or in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the proposal of other business and/or for the election of directors in an election contest pursuant to and in accordance with Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder; and



 

10 (xiv) an undertaking by the stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, to notify the Corporation in writing of any change in the information called for by clauses (i) - (xiii) above as of the record date for such meeting, by notice received by the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the tenth (10th) day following such record date. The Corporation may, as a condition of any such nomination being deemed properly brought before an annual meeting, require any proposed nominee to furnish (i) any information required pursuant to any undertaking delivered pursuant to this paragraph (A)(2) of Section 1.10, and (ii) such other information as the Corporation may request. The foregoing notice requirements of this paragraph (A) of this Section 1.10 shall be deemed satisfied by a stockholder with respect to business (other than any purported nomination) if the stockholder has notified the Corporation of his, her or its intention to present a proposal at an annual meeting in compliance with Rule 14a-8 promulgated under the Exchange Act or any successor rule thereto and such stockholder’s proposal has been included in a proxy statement that has been prepared by the Corporation to solicit proxies for such annual meeting. (3) Notwithstanding anything in the second sentence of paragraph (A)(2) of this Section 1.10 to the contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board at the annual meeting is increased effective after the time period for which nominations would otherwise be due under paragraph (A)(2) of this Section 1.10 and there is no public announcement by the Corporation naming the nominees for the additional directorships at least one hundred (100) days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting, a stockholder’s notice required by this Section 1.10 shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for the additional directorship
positions, if it shall be delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which such public announcement is first made by the Corporation. (B) Special Meetings of Stockholders. Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the special meeting pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting. Nominations of persons for election to the Board may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting (1) by or at the direction of the Board or any committee thereof, the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer or (2) provided that the Board pursuant to Section 1.3 hereof has determined that directors shall be elected at such meeting, by any stockholder of the Corporation who (a) is a stockholder of record at the time the notice provided for in this Section 1.10 is delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation and at the time of the special meeting, (b) is entitled to vote at the special meeting and (c) complies with the notice procedures and conditions set forth in this Section 1.10 (including the information requirements in paragraph (A)(2) of Section 1.10) as to such nomination. For the avoidance of doubt,



 

11 clause (2) of the foregoing sentence of this paragraph (B) of Section 1.10 shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to propose nominations of persons for election to the Board at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected. In the event the Corporation calls a special meeting of stockholders for the purpose of electing one or more directors to the Board, any such stockholder entitled to vote in such election of directors may nominate a person or persons (as the case may be) for election to such position(s) as specified in the Corporation’s notice of meeting, if a stockholder’s notice meeting the requirements of paragraph (A)(2) of this Section 1.10 shall be delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not earlier than the close of business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to such special meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such special meeting and the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board to be elected at such meeting. In no event shall the adjournment or postponement of a special meeting as to which notice has been sent to stockholders, or any public announcement with respect thereto, commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above. (C) General. (1) Except as otherwise expressly provided in any applicable rule or regulation promulgated under the Exchange Act, only such persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.10 or Section 1.12 (in the case of an annual meeting of stockholder s of the Corporation) shall be eligible to be properly elected at an annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation to serve as directors and only such business shall be conducted at a
meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.10. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the chairman of the meeting shall have the power and duty (a) to determine whether a nomination or any other business proposed to be brought before the meeting was made or proposed, as the case may be, in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.10 (including whether the stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal is made, solicited (or is part of a group which solicited) or did not so solicit, as the case may be, proxies or votes in support of such stockholder’s nominee or proposal in compliance with such stockholder’s representation as required by clause (A)(2)(c)(xii) of this Section 1.10) and (b) if any proposed nomination or business was not made or proposed in compliance with this Section 1.10, to declare that such nomination shall be disregarded or that such proposed business shall not be transacted. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.10, unless otherwise required by law, if the stockholder (or a qualified representative of the stockholder) does not appear at the annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation to present a nomination or proposed business, such nomination shall be disregarded and such proposed business shall not be transacted, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the Corporation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these bylaws, unless otherwise required by law, if any stockholder or stockholder associated person (a) provides notice pursuant to Rule 14a-19(b) under the Exchange Act with respect to any proposed nominee and (b) subsequently fails to comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-19(a)(3) under the Exchange Act (or fails to timely provide reasonable evidence

sufficient to



 

12 satisfy the Corporation that such stockholder or stockholder associated person has met the requirements of Rule 14a-19(a)(3) under the Exchange Act in accordance with the following sentence), then the nomination of each such proposed nominee shall be disregarded, notwithstanding that proxies or votes in respect of the election of such proposed nominees may have been received by the Corporation (which proxies and votes shall be disregarded). Upon request by the Corporation, if any stockholder or stockholder associated person provides notice pursuant to Rule 14a-19(b) under the Exchange Act, such stockholder or stockholder associated person shall deliver to the Corporation, no later than [five (5)] business days prior to the applicable meeting, reasonable evidence that it has met the requirements of Rule 14a-19(a)(3) under the Exchange Act. For purposes of this Section 1.10 and Section 1.12, to be considered a qualified representative of the stockholder, a person must be a duly authorized officer, manager or partner of such stockholder or must be authorized by a writing executed by such stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such stockholder, to act for such stockholder as proxy at the annual or special meeting of stockholders and such person must produce such writing or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the writing or electronic transmission, at the annual or special meeting of stockholders, as applicable. (2) For purposes of this Section 1.10 and Section 1.12, “public announcement” shall include disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or other national news service or in a document publicly filed by the Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.10 and Section 1.12, a
stockholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act, including Rule 14a-19, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder with respect to the matters set forth in this Section 1.10 and Section 1.12: provided, however, that any references in these Bylaws to the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder are not intended to and shall not limit any requirements applicable to nominations or proposals as to any other business to be considered pursuant to this Section 1.10 (including paragraphs (A)(2) and (B) hereof) or Section 1.12, and compliance with paragraphs (A)(2) and (B) of this Section 1.10 shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to make nominations or submit other business (other than, as provided in the penultimate sentence of i)(2), business (other than nominations) brought properly under and in compliance with Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act or any successor rule thereto, as it may be amended from time to time and other than pursuant to Section 1.12). Nothing in this Section 1.10 or Section 1.12 shall be deemed to affect any rights (a) of stockholders to request inclusion of proposals or nominations in the Corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to the applicable rules and regulations promulgated under the Exchange Act (including, without limitation, Rule 14a-8 promulgated under the Exchange Act) or (b) of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors if and to the extent provided for under any applicable provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation.



 

13 (D) Action by Stockholders without Meeting. Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, any action required or permitted to be taken at any annual or special meeting of the stockholders may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted and shall be delivered to the Corporation by delivery to its registered office in the State of Delaware, its principal place of business, or an officer or agent of the corporation having custody of the book in which minutes of proceedings of stockholders are recorded. Delivery made to the corporation’s registered office shall be by hand or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. Prompt notice of the taking of the corporate action without a meeting by less than unanimous written consent shall, to the extent required by law, be given to those stockholders who have not consented in writing and who, if the action had been taken at a meeting, would have been entitled to notice of the meeting if the record date for notice of such meeting had been the date that written consents signed by a sufficient number of holders to take the action were delivered to the corporation. 1.11. Conduct of Meetings. (A) Meetings of stockholders shall be presided over by the Chairman of the Board, if any, or in the Chairman’s absence by the Vice Chairman of the Board, if any, or in the Vice Chairman’s absence by the Chief Executive Officer, or in the Chief Executive Officer ‘ s absence, by the President, or in the President’s absence by a Vice President, or in the absence of all of the foregoing persons by a chairman designated by the Board. The Secretary shall act as secretary of the meeting, but
in the Secretary’s absence the chairman of the meeting may appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting. (B) The Board may adopt by resolution such rules, regulations and procedures for the conduct of any meeting of stockholders of the Corporation as it shall deem appropriate including, without limitation, such guidelines and procedures as it may deem appropriate in its sole discretion regarding the participation by means of remote communication of stockholders and proxyholders not physically present at a meeting. Except to the extent inconsistent with such rules, regulations and procedures as adopted by the Board, the chairman of any meeting of stockholders shall have the right and authority to convene and (for any or no reason) to recess and/or adjourn the meeting, to prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and to do all such acts as, in the judgment of such chairman, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting. Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether adopted by the Board or prescribed by the chairman of the meeting, may include, without limitation, the following: (1) the establishment of an agenda or order of business for the meeting; (2) rules and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present; (3) limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting to stockholders of record of the Corporation, their duly authorized and constituted proxies or such other persons as shall be determined; (4) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the commencement thereof; and (5) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants. Unless and to the extent determined by the Board or the chairman of the



 

14 meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not be required to be held in accordance with the rules of parliamentary procedure. (C) The chairman of the meeting shall announce at the meeting the date and time of the opening and the closing of the polls for each matter voted upon at the meeting. After the polls close, no ballots, proxies or votes or any revocations or changes thereto may be accepted unless the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall determine otherwise. (D) In advance of any meeting of stockholders, the Board, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President shall appoint one or more inspectors of election to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof. One or more other persons may be designated as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act. If no inspector or alternate is present, ready and willing to act at a meeting of stockholders, the chairman of the meeting shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Unless otherwise required by law, inspectors may be officers, employees or agents of the Corporation. Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of such inspector’s duties, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of such inspector’s ability. The inspector shall have the duties prescribed by law and, when the vote is completed, shall make a certificate of the result of the vote taken and of such other facts as may be required by law. Every vote taken by ballots shall be counted by a duly appointed inspector or duly appointed inspectors. 1.12. Nomination of Directors Included in the Corporation’s Proxy Materials. (A) Inclusion of Stockholder Nominees in the Proxy Statement. Subject to the provisions of this Section 1.12, if expressly requested in the relevant Nomination Notice (as defined below), the Corporation shall include in its proxy statement for any annual meeting of stockholders
(but not at any special meeting of stockholders): (1) the names of any person or persons nominated for election (each, a “Stockholder Nominee”), which shall also be included on the Corporation’s form of proxy and ballot, by any Eligible Stockholder (as defined below) or group of up to 20 Eligible Stockholders that, as determined by the Board, has (individually and collectively, in the case of a group) satisfied all applicable conditions and complied with all applicable procedures set forth in this Section 1.12 (such Eligible Stockholder or group of Eligible Stockholders being a “Nominating Stockholder”); (2) disclosure about each Stockholder Nominee and the Nominating Stockholder required under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission or other applicable law to be included in the proxy statement; (3) any statement included by the Nominating Stockholder in the Nomination Notice for inclusion in the proxy statement in support of each Stockholder Nominee’s election to the Board (subject, without limitation, to Section 1.12(E)(2): provided that such statement does not exceed five hundred (500) words and fully complies with Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder, including Rule 14a-9 (the “Supporting Statement”)); and (4) any other information that the Corporation or the Board determines, in its discretion, to include in the proxy statement relating to the nomination of each Stockholder Nominee, including, without limitation, any statement in



 

15 opposition to the nomination, any of the information provided pursuant to this Section 1.12 and any solicitation materials or related information with respect to a Stockholder Nominee. For purposes of this Section 1.12, any determination to be made by the Board may also be made by a committee of the Board or any officer of the Corporation designated by the Board or a committee of the Board, and any such determination shall be final and binding on the Corporation, any Eligible Stockholder, any Nominating Stockholder, any Stockholder Nominee and any other person so long as made in good faith (without any further requirements). The chairman of the meeting of stockholders, in addition to making any other determinations that may be appropriate to the conduct of the meeting, shall have the power and duty to determine whether a Stockholder Nominee has been nominated in accordance with the requirements of this Section 1.12 and, if not so nominated, shall direct and declare at the meeting that such Stockholder Nominee shall not be considered. (B) Maximum Number of Stockholder Nominees. (1) The Corporation shall not be required to include in the proxy statement for an annual meeting of stockholders more Stockholder Nominees than that number of directors constituting the greater of (a) two (2) or (b) twenty percent (20%) of the total number of directors of the Corporation then serving on the last day on which a Nomination Notice may be submitted pursuant to this Section 1.12 (rounded down to the nearest whole number) (the “Maximum Number”). The Maximum Number for a particular annual meeting of stockholders shall be reduced by: (a) each Stockholder Nominee whose nomination is withdrawn by the Nominating Stockholder or who becomes unwilling to serve on the Board; (b) each Stockholder Nomine e who ceases to satisfy, or Nominating Stockholders that cease to satisfy, the eligibility requirements in this Section 1.12, as
determined by the Board; (c) each Stockholder Nominee who the Board itself decides to nominate for election at such annual meeting of stockholders; and (d) the number of incumbent directors who had been Stockholder Nominees at either of the preceding two (2) annual meetings of stockholders and whose reelection at the upcoming annual meeting of stockholders is being recommended by the Board. In the event that one or more vacancies for any reason occurs on the Board after the deadline for submitting a Nomination Notice as set forth in Section 1.12(D) but before the date of the annual meeting of stockholders and the Board resolves to reduce the size of the Board in connection therewith, the Maximum Number shall be calculated based on the number of directors in office as so reduced. (2) If the number of Stockholder Nominees pursuant to this Section 1.12 for any annual meeting of stockholders exceeds the Maximum Number then, promptly upon notice from the Corporation, each Nominating Stockholder will select one Stockholder Nominee for inclusion in the proxy statement until the Maximum Number is reached, going in order of the amount (largest to smallest) of shares of the Corporation’s capital stock that each Nominating Stockholder



 

16 disclosed as owned in its Nomination Notice, with the process repeated if the Maximum Number is not reached after each Nominating Stockholder has selected one Stockholder Nominee. If, after the deadline for submitting a Nomination Notice as set forth in Section 1.12(D), a Nominating Stockholder or a Stockholder Nominee ceases to satisfy the eligibility requirements in this Section 1.12, as determined by the Board, a Nominating Stockholder withdraws its nomination or a Stockholder Nominee becomes unwilling to serve on the Board, whether before or after the mailing or other distribution of the definitive proxy statement, then the Corporation: (a) shall not be required to include in its proxy statement or on any ballot or form of proxy the Stockholder Nominee or any successor or replacement Stockholder Nominee proposed by the Nominating Stockholder or by any other Nominating Stockholder and (b) may otherwise communicate to its stockholders, including without limitation by amending or supplementing its proxy statement or ballot or form of proxy, that the Stockholder Nominee will not be included as a Stockholder Nominee in the proxy statement or on any ballot or form of proxy and will not be voted on at the annual meeting of stockholders. Any Nominating Stockholder submitting more than one Stockholder Nominee for inclusion in the Corporation’s proxy materials pursuant to this Section 1.12 shall rank such Stockholder Nominees based on the order in which the Nominating Stockholder desires such Stockholder Nominees be selected for inclusion in the Corporation’s proxy materials. (C) Eligibility of Nominating Stockholder. (1) An “Eligible Stockholder” is a person who has either (a) been a record holder of the shares of capital stock of the Corporation used to satisfy the eligibility requirements in this Section 1.12 continuously for the three (3)-year period specified in subsection (C)(2) of this Section 1.12 below or (b) provides to
the Secretary of the Corporation, within the time period referred to in Section 1.12(D), evidence of continuous ownership of such shares for such three (3)-year period from one or more securities intermediaries in a form that the Board determines acceptable. (2) An Eligible Stockholder or group of up to twenty (20) Eligible Stockholders may submit a nomination in accordance with this Section 1.12 only if the person or group (in the aggregate) has continuously owned at least the Minimum Number (as defined below) (as adjusted for any stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock dividends or similar events) of shares of the Corporation’s capital stock throughout the three (3)-year period preceding and including the date of submission of the Nomination Notice, and continues to own at least the Minimum Number of shares through the date of the annual meeting of stockholders. The following shall be treated as one Eligible Stockholder if such Eligible Stockholder shall provide together with the Nomination Notice documentation satisfactory to the Board that demonstrates compliance with the following criteria: (a) funds under common management and investment control; (b) funds under common management and funded primarily by the same employer; or (c) a “family of investment companies” or a “group of investment



 

17 companies” (each as defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended). For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of a nomination by a Nominating Stockholder that includes more than one Eligible Stockholder, any and all requirements and obligations for a given Eligible Stockholder or, except as the context otherwise makes clear, the Nominating Stockholder that are set forth in this Section 1.12, including the minimum holding period, shall apply to each member of such group; provided, however, that the Minimum Number shall apply to the aggregate ownership of the group of Eligible Stockholders constituting the Nominating Stockholder. Should any Eligible Stockholder cease to satisfy the eligibility requirements in this Section 1.12, as determined by the Board, or withdraw from a group of Eligible Stockholders constituting a Nominating Stockholder at any time prior to the annual meeting of stockholders, the Nominating Stockholder shall be deemed to own only the shares held by the remaining Eligible Stockholders. As used in this Section 1.12, any reference to a “group” or “group of Eligible Stockholders” refers to any Nominating Stockholder that consists of more than one Eligible Stockholder and to all the Eligible Stockholders that make up such Nominating Stockholder. (3) The “Minimum Number” of shares of the Corporation’s capital stock means three percent (3%) of the number of outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation as of the most recent date for which such amount is given in any filing by the Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission prior to the submission of the Nomination Notice. (4) For purposes of this Section 1.12, an Eligible Stockholder “owns” only those outstanding shares of the Corporation’s capital stock as to which such Eligible Stockholder possesses both (a) the full voting and investment rights pertaining to such shares and (b) the full economic interest in (including the
opportunity for profit from and the risk of loss on) such shares: provided that the number of shares calculated in accordance with clauses (a) and (b) shall not include any shares (i) purchased or sold by such Eligible Stockholder or any of its affiliates in any transaction that has not been settled or closed, (ii) sold short by such Eligible Stockholder, (iii) borrowed by such Eligible Stockholder or any of its affiliates for any purpose or purchased by such Eligible Stockholder or any of its affiliates pursuant to an agreement to resell or subject to any other obligation to resell to another person, or (iv) subject to any option, warrant, forward contract, swap, contract of sale, other derivative or similar agreement entered into by such Eligible Stockholder or any of its affiliates, whether any such instrument or agreement is to be settled with shares or with cash based on the notional amount or value of outstanding capital stock of the Corporation, in any such case which instrument or agreement has, or is intended to have, or if exercised would have, the purpose or effect of (A) reducing in any manner, to any extent or at any time in the future, such Eligible Stockholder’s or any of its affiliates’ full right to vote or direct the voting of any such shares, and /or (B) hedging, offsetting, or altering to any degree any gain or loss arising from the full economic ownership of such shares by such Eligible Stockholder or any of its affiliates. An Eligible Stockholder “owns” shares held in the name of a nominee or other intermediary



 

18 so long as the Eligible Stockholder retains the right to instruct how the shares are voted with respect to the election of directors and possesses the full economic interest in the shares. An Eligible Stockholder’s ownership of shares shall be deemed to continue during any period in which the Eligible Stockholder has delegated any voting power by means of a proxy, power of attorney, or other similar instrument or arrangement that is revocable at any time by the Eligible Stockholder. An Eligible Stockholder’s ownership of shares shall be deemed to continue during any period in which the Eligible Stockholder has loaned such shares; provided that the Eligible Stockholder has the power to recall such loaned shares on not more than five (5) business days’ notice. The terms “owned,” “owning” and other variations of the word “own” shall have correlative meanings. Whether outstanding shares of the Corporation are “owned” for these purposes shall be determined by the Board. (5) No Eligible Stockholder shall be permitted to be in more than one (l) group constituting a Nominating Stockholder, and if any Eligible Stockholder appears as a member of more than one(1) group, such Eligible Stockholder shall be deemed to be a member of only the group that has the largest ownership position as reflected in the Nomination Notice. (D) Nomination Notice. To nominate a Stockholder Nominee pursuant to this Section 1.12, the Nominating Stockholder (including, for the avoidance of doubt, each group member in the case of a Nominating Stockholder consisting of a group of Eligible Stockholders) must deliver either by band or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation all of the following information and documents in a form that the Board or its designee determines acceptable (collectively, the “Nomination Notice”), not later than the close of business on the one
hundred twentieth (120th) day, nor earlier than the close of business on the one hundred fiftieth (150th) day, prior to the anniversary of the date that the Corporation mailed its proxy statement for the prior year’s annual meeting of stockholders; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting of stockholders is not scheduled to be held within a period that commences thirty (30) days before and concludes thirty (30) days after the first anniversary date of the preceding year’s annual meeting of stockholders (an annual meeting date outside such period being referred to herein as an “Other Meeting Date”), then to be timely the Nomination Notice shall be given in the manner provided herein by the later of the close of business on the date that is one hundred eighty (180) days prior to such Other Meeting Date or the tenth (10th) day following the date such Other Meeting Date is first publicly announced or disclosed (in no event shall the adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting (or any public announcement thereof) commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of the Nomination Notice): (1) one or more written statements from the record holder of the shares (and from each intermediary through which the shares are or have been held during the requisite three (3)-year holding period) verifying that, as of a date within seven (7) calendar days prior to the date of the Nomination Notice, the Nominating Stockholder owns, and has continuously owned for the preceding



 

19 three (3) years, the Minimum Number of shares, and the Nominating Stockholder’s agreement to provide, within five (5) business days after the record date for the annual meeting of stockholders, written statements from the record holder and intermediaries verifying the Nominating Stockholder’s continuous ownership of the Minimum Number of shares through the record date; (2) an agreement to hold the Minimum Number of shares through the annual meeting of stockholders and to provide immediate notice if the Nominating Stockholder ceases to own the Minimum Number of shares at any time prior to the date of the annual meeting of stockholders; (3) a Schedule 14N (or any successor form) relating to each Stockholder Nominee, completed and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission by the Nominating Stockholder, as applicable, in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission rules; (4) the written consent of each Stockholder Nominee to being named in the Corporation’s proxy statement, form of proxy and ballot as a Stockholder Nominee and to serving as a director if elected; (5) a written notice, in a form deemed satisfactory by the Board, of the nomination of each Stockholder Nominee that includes the following additional information, agreements, representations and warranties by the Nominating Stockholder (including, for the avoidance of doubt, each group member in the case of a Nominating Stockholder consisting of a group of Eligible Stockholders): (a) the information and agreements required with respect to the nomination of directors by stockholders pursuant to Section 1.10 of these Bylaws; (b) the details of any relationship that existed within the past three (3) years and that would have been described pursuant to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14N (or any successor item) if it existed on the date of submission of the Schedule 14N; (c) a representation and warranty that the Nominating Stockholder acquired the securities
of the Corporation in the ordinary course of business and did not acquire, and is not holding, securities of the Corporation for the purpose or with the intent of influencing or changing control of the Corporation; (d) a representation and warranty that the Nominating Stockholder has not nominated and will not nominate for election to the Board at the annual meeting of stockholders any person other than such Nominating Stockholder’s Stockholder Nominee(s); (e) a representation and warranty that the Nominating Stockholder has not engaged in and will not engage in a “solicitation”



 

20 within the meaning of Rule 14a-1(l) under the Exchange Act (without reference to the exception in Section 14a-1(l)(2)(iv)) with respect to the annual meeting of stockholders, other than with respect to such Nominating Stockholder’s Stockholder Nominee(s) or any nominee of the Board; (f) a representation and warranty that the Nominating Stockholder will not use any proxy card other than the Corporation’s proxy card in soliciting stockholders in connection with the election of a Stockholder Nominee at the annual meeting of stockholders; (g) a representation and warranty that each Stockholder Nominee’s candidacy or, if elected, membership on the Board would not violate applicable state or federal law or the rules of any stock exchange on which the Corporation’s securities are traded; (h) a representation and warranty that each Stockholder Nominee: (i) does not have any direct or indirect relationship with the Corporation that would cause the Stockholder Nominee to be deemed not independent pursuant to the Corporation’s corporate governance guidelines and the rules of the primary stock exchange on which the Corporation’s shares of capital stock are traded; (ii) meets the audit committee and compensation committee independence requirements under the rules of the primary stock exchange on which the Corporation’s shares of capital stock are traded; (iii) is a “non-employee director” for the purposes of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act (or any successor rule); (iv) is not and has not been subject to any event specified in Rule 506(d)(1) of Regulation D (or any successor rule) under the Securities Act of 1933 or Item 401(f) of Regulation S-K (or any successor rule) under the Exchange Act, without reference to whether the event is material to an evaluation of the ability or integrity of such Stockholder Nomi nee; and (v) meets the director qualifications set forth in the Corporation’s corporate governance guidelines; (i) a representation and
warranty that the Nominating Stockholder satisfies the eligibility requirements set forth in Section 1.12(C); (x) a representation and warranty that the Nominating Stockholder intends to continue to satisfy the eligibility requirements



 

21 described in Section 1.12(C) through the date of the annual meeting of stockholders; (j) details of any position of a Stockholder Nominee as an officer or director of any competitor (that is, any entity that produces products or provides services that compete with or are alternatives to the principal products produced or services provided by the Corporation or its affiliates) of the Corporation, within the three (3) years preceding the submission of the Nomination Notice; (k) if desired, a Supporting Statement; and (l) in the case of a nomination by a Nominating Stockholder comprised of a group, the designation by all Eligible Stockholders in such group of one Eligible Stockholder that is authorized to act on behalf of the Nominating Stockholder with respect to matters relating to the nomination, including withdrawal of the nomination; (6) an executed agreement, in a form deemed satisfactory by the Board, pursuant to which the Nominating Stockholder (including in the case of a group, each Eligible Stockholder in that group) agrees: (a) to comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in connection with the nomination, solicitation and election, including Rule 14a-19; (b) to file any written solicitation or other communication with the Corporation’s stockholders relating to one or more of the Corporation’s directors or director nominees or any Stockholder Nominee with the Securities and Exchange Commission, regardless of whether any such filing is required under any rule or regulation or whether any exemption from filing is available for such materials under any rule or regulation; (c) to assume all liability stemming from an action, suit or proceeding concerning any actual or alleged legal or regulatory violation arising out of any communication by the Nominating Stockholder or any of its Stockholder Nominees with the Corporation, its stockholders or any other person in connection with the nomination or election of directors, including, without
limitation, the Nomination Notice; (d) to indemnify and hold harmless (jointly with all other Eligible Stockholders, in the case of a group of Eligible Stockholders) the Corporation and each of its directors, officers and employees individually against any liability, loss, damages, expenses or other costs (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with any threatened or pending action, suit or proceeding, whether legal, administrative or investigative, against the Corporation or any of its directors, officers or employees



 

22 arising out of or relating to a failure or alleged failure of the Nominating Stockholder or any of its Stockholder Nominees to comply with, or any breach or alleged breach of, its or their obligations, agreements or representations under this Section 1.12; (e) in the event that any information included in the Nomination Notice or any other communication by the Nominating Stockholder (including with respect to any Eligible Stockholder included in a group) with the Corporation, its stockholders or any other person in connection with the nomination or election ceases to be true and accurate in all material respects (or omits a material fact necessary to make the statements made not misleading), to promptly (and in any event within forty-eight (48) hours of discovering such misstatement or omission) notify the Corporation and any other recipient of such communication of the misstatement or omission in such previously provided information and of the information that is required to correct the misstatement or omission; and (f) in the event that the Nominating Stockholder has failed to continue to satisfy the eligibility requirements described in Section 1.12(C), to promptly notify the Corporation; and (7) an executed agreement, in a form deemed satisfactory by the Board, by each Stockholder Nominee: (a) to provide to the Corporation such other information and certifications, as the Board may reasonably request; and (b) at the reasonable request of the Governance & Corporate Responsibility Committee, to meet with such committee to discuss matters relating to the nomination of such Stockholder Nominee to the Board, including the information provided by such Stockholder Nominee to the Corporation in connection with his or her nomination and such Stockholder Nominee’s eligibility to serve as a member of the Board. The information and documents required by this Section 1.12(D) to be provided by the Nominating Stockholder shall be (a) provided with
respect to and executed by each Eligible Stockholder in the group in the case of a Nominating Stockholder comprised of a group of Eligible Stockholders; and (b) provided with respect to the persons specified in Instructions 1 and 2 to Items 6(c) and (d) of Schedule 14N (or any successor item) (i) in the case of a Nominating Stockholder that is an entity and (ii) in the case of a Nominating Stockholder that is a group that includes one or more Eligible Stockholders that are entities. The Nomination Notice shall be deemed submitted on the date on which all of the information and documents referred to in this Section 1.12 (other than such information and documents contemplated to be provided after the date the Nomination Notice is provided) have been delivered to and received by the Secretary of the Corporation. (E) Exceptions.



 

23 (1) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 1.12, the Corporation may omit from its proxy statement any Stockholder Nominee and any information concerning such Stockholder Nominee (including a Nominating Stockholder’s Supporting Statement) and no vote on such Stockholder Nominee will occur (notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the Corporation), and the Nominating Stockholder may not, after the last day on which a Nomination Notice would be timely, cure in any way any defect preventing the nomination of such Stockholder Nominee, if (a) the Corporation receives a notice pursuant to the advance notice requirements set forth in Section 1.10 of these Bylaws that a stockholder intends to nominate a candidate for director at the annual meeting of stockholders, whether or not such notice is subsequently withdrawn or made the subject of a settlement with the Corporation; (b) the Nominating Stockholder (or, in the case of a Nominating Stockholder consisting of a group of Eligible Stockholders, the Eligible Stockholder that is authorized to act on behalf of the Nominating Stockholder), or any qualified representative thereof, does not appear at the annual meeting of stockholders to present the nomination submitted pursuant to this Section 1.12, the Nominating Stockholder withdraws its nomination or the chairman of the meeting declares that such nomination was not made in accordance with the procedures prescribed by this Section 1.12 and shall therefore be disregarded; (c) the Board determines that such Stockholder Nominee’s nomination or election to the Board would result in the Corporation violating or failing to be in compliance with these Bylaws or the Certificate of Incorporation or any applicable law, rule or regulation to which the Corporation is subject, including any rules or regulations of any stock exchange on which the Corporation’s securities are traded; (d)
such Stockholder Nominee was nominated for election to the Board pursuant to this Section 1.12 at one of the Corporation’s two (2) preceding annual meetings of stockholders and withdrew from or became ineligible or unavailable for election at such annual meeting of stockholders or received a vote of less than twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares of capital stock cast in his or her favor for election; (e) such Stockholder Nominee has been, within the past three (3) years, an officer or director of a competitor, as defined for purposes of Section 8 of the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, as amended; or (f) the Corporation is notified, or the Board determines, that the Nominating Stockholder or the Eligible Stockholder has failed to continue to satisfy the eligibility requirements described in Section 1.12(C), any of the representations and warranties made in the Nomination Notice ceases to be true and accurate in all material respects (or omits a material fact necessary to make the statements made not misleading), such Stockholder Nominee becomes unwilling or unable to serve on the Board or any material violation or breach occurs of any of the obligations, agreements, representations or warranties of the Nominating Stockholder or such Stockholder Nominee under this Section 1.12. (2) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 1.12, the Corporation may omit from its proxy statement, or may supplement or correct, any information, including all or any portion of the Supporting Statement or any other statement in support of a Stockholder Nominee included in the



 

24 Nomination Notice, if the Board determines that (a) such information is not true in all material respects or omits a material statement necessary to make the statements made not misleading; (b) such information directly or indirectly impugns the character, integrity or personal reputation of, or directly or indirectly makes charges concerning improper, illegal or immoral conduct or associations, without factual foundation, with respect to, any individual, corporation, partnership, association or other entity, organization or governmental authority; (c) the inclusion of such information in the proxy statement would otherwise violate the Securities and Exchange Commission’s proxy rules or any other applicable la w, rule or regulation; or (d) the inclusion of such information in the proxy statement would impose a material risk of liability upon the Corporation. The Corporation may solicit against, and include in the proxy statement its own statement relating to, any Stockholder Nominee. ARTICLE II DIRECTORS 2.1. General Powers. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board, which may exercise all of the powers of the Corporation except as otherwise provided by law or the Certificate of Incorporation. 2.2. Number, Election and Qualification. The total number of directors constituting the Board shall be such number as may be fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board. At any meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected, directors shall be elected by a majority of the votes cast with respect to that nominee’s election at any meeting for the election of directors at which a quorum is present: provided, however, that if as of the tenth (10th) day preceding the date the Corporation first mails its notice of meeting for such meeting to the stockholders of the Corporation, the number of nominees for director exceeds the number of directors to be elected, the directors shall be elected by the
plurality vote of the votes cast by the holders of shares present or represented at the meeting and entitled to vote thereon. Election of directors need not be by written ballot. Directors need not be stockholders of the Corporation. For purposes of this Section 2.2, a majority of votes cast means that the number of votes cast “for” a director’s election exceeds the number of votes cast “against” that director’s election. 2.3. Chairman of the Board; Vice Chairman of the Board. The Board may appoint from its members a Chairman of the Board and a Vice Chairman of the Board, neither of whom need be an employee or officer of the Corporation. If the Board appoints a Chairman of the Board, such Chairman shall perform such duties and possess such powers as are assigned by the Board and, if the Chairman of the Board is also designated as the Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer, shall have the powers and duties of the Chief Executive Officer prescribed in Section 3.7 of these Bylaws. If the Board appoints a Vice Chairman of the Board, such Vice Chairman shall perform such duties and possess such powers as are assigned by the Board. Unless otherwise provided by the



 

25 Board, the Chairman of the Board or, in the Chairman’s absence, the Vice Chairman of the Board, if any, shall preside at all meetings of the Board. 2.4. Terms of Office. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, each director shall serve for a term of one year, ending on the date of the next annual meeting of stockholders following the date of such director ‘ s election or appointment; provided that the term of each director shall continue until the election and qualification of his or her successor, subject to his or her earlier death, resignation, disqualification or removal. 2.5. Quorum. The greater of (a) a majority of the directors at any time in office and (b) one-third of the whole Board shall constitute a quorum of the Board. If at any meeting of the Board there shall be less than a quorum, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present. 2.6. Action at Meeting. Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as the act of the Board, unless a greater number is required by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these Bylaws. 2.7. Removal. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock, directors of the Corporation may be removed as provided in the Certificate of Incorporation. 2.8. Vacancies. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation and the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock, any newly created directorship that results from an increase in the number of directors or any vacancy on the Board that results from the death, resignation, disqualification or removal of any director or from any other cause shall be filled solely by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, and shall
not be filled by the stockholders. 2.9. Resignation. Any director may resign by delivering a resignation in writing or by electronic transmission to the Corporation at its principal office or to the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Secretary. Such resignation shall be effective upon delivery unless it is specified to be effective at some later time or upon the happening of some later event. 2.10. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board may be held without notice at such time and place as shall be determined from time to time by the Board: provided that any director who is absent when such a determination is made shall be given notice of the determination. A regular meeting of the Board may be held without notice immediately before or after and at the same place as the annual meeting of stockholders. 2.11. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chairman of the Board, by the Chief Executive Officer, by the affirmative vote of a



 

26 majority of the directors then in office or by one director in the event that there is only a single director in office. 2.12. Notice of Special Meetings. Notice of the date, place and time of any special meeting of the Board shall be given to each director by the Secretary or by the officer or one of the directors calling the meeting. Notice shall be duly given to each director (a) in person or by telephone at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the meeting, (b) by sending written notice by reputable overnight courier, telecopy, facsimile or other means of electronic transmission, or delivering written notice by hand, to such director’s last known business, home or means of electronic transmission address at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the meeting, or (c) by sending written notice by first-class mail to such director’s last known business or home address at least seventy- two (72) hours in advance of the meeting. A notice or waiver of notice of a meeting of the Board need not specify the purposes of the meeting. 2.13. Meetings by Conference Communications Equipment. Directors may participate in meetings of the Board or any committee thereof by means of conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at such meeting. 2.14. Action by Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board or committee, as the case may be, consent to the action in writing or by electronic transmission, and the writing or writings or electronic transmission or transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or committee thereof. Such filing shall be in paper form if the minutes are maintained in paper form and shall be in electronic form if the minutes are maintained in
electronic form. 2.15. Committees. The Board may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the Corporation, with such lawfully delegable powers and duties as the Board thereby confers, to serve at the pleasure of the Board. The Board may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members of the committee present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board who meets the requirements for membership on the committee to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member. Any such committee, to the extent permitted by the DGCL and provided in the resolution of the Board, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it. Each such committee shall keep minutes and make such reports as the Board may from time to time request. Except as the Board may otherwise determine, any committee may make rules for the conduct of its business, but unless otherwise provided by the committee or in such rules, its business shall be conducted as nearly as possible in



 

27 the same manner as is provided in these Bylaws for the Board. Except as otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws or the resolution of the Board designating the committee, a committee may create one or more subcommittees, each subcommittee to consist of one or more members of the committee, and delegate to a subcommittee any or all of the powers and authority of the committee. 2.16. Compensation of Directors. Directors may be paid such compensation for their services and such reimbursement for expenses of attendance at meetings as the Board may from time to time determine. No such payment shall preclude any director from serving the Corporation or any of its parent or subsidiary entities in any other capacity and receiving compensation for such service. 2.17. Interested Transactions. No contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or between the Corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association or other organization in which one or more of the Corporation’s directors or officers are directors or officers or have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, or solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the Board or committee thereof that authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because any such director’s or officer’s vote is counted for such purpose if: (a) the material facts as to the director’s or officer’s relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board or the committee and the Board or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative vote of a majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum; (b) the material facts as to the director’s or officer’s relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the stockholders entitled
to vote thereon and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or (c) the contract or transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved or ratified by the Board, a committee thereof or the stockholders. Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board or of a committee that authorizes the contract or transaction. ARTICLE III OFFICERS 3.1. Titles. The officers of the Corporation may consist of a Chief Executive Officer, a President, a Chief Financial Officer, a Treasurer and a Secretary and such other officers with such other titles as the Board shall from time to time determine. The Board may appoint such other officers, including one or more Vice Presidents and one or more Assistant Treasurers or Assistant Secretaries, as it may deem appropriate from time to time. 3.2. Election. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected annually by the Board at its first meeting following the annual meeting of stockholders.



 

28 3.3. Qualification. Subject to such rules and policies as may be adopted by the Board and in effect from time to time, no officer need be a stockholder. To the extent permitted by the DGCL, any two or more offices may be held by the same person. 3.4. Tenure. Except as otherwise provided by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these Bylaws, each officer shall hold office until such officer’s successor is duly elected and qualified, unless a different term is specified in the resolution electing or appointing such officer, or until such officer’s earlier death, resignation, disqualification or removal. 3.5. Resignation and Removal. Any officer may resign by delivering a written resignation to the Corporation at its principal office or to the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Secretary. Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at some later time or upon the happening of some later event. Any officer may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office. 3.6. Vacancies. The Board may fill any vacancy occurring in any office for any reason and may, in its discretion, leave unfilled, for such period as it may determine, any offices. Each such successor shall hold office for the unexpired term of such officer’s predecessor and until a successor is duly elected and qualified, or until such officer’s earlier death, resignation, disqualification or removal. 3.7. President; Chief Executive Officer. Unless the Board has designated another person as the Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer, the President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. The Chief Executive Officer shall have general charge and supervision of the business of the Corporation subject to the direction of the Board, and shall perform all duties and have all powers that are commonly incident to the office of chief executive or that are delegated to such officer by the
Board. The President shall perform such other duties and shall have such other powers as the Board or the Chief Executive Officer (if the President is not the Chief Executive Officer) may from time to time prescribe. In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Chief Executive Officer or the President (if the President is not the Chief Executive Officer), one or more Executive Vice Presidents (as authorized by resolutions of the Board) shall perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer and when so performing such duties shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chief Executive Officer. 3.8. Vice Presidents. Each Vice President shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board or the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time prescribe. The Board may assign to any Vice President the title of Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President or any other title selected by the Board. 3.9. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries. The Secretary shall perform such duties and shall have such powers as the Board or the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time prescribe. In addition, the Secretary shall perform such duties and have such powers as are incident to the office of the secretary, including without limitation the duty



 

29 and power to give notices of all meetings of stockholders and special meetings of the Board, to attend all meetings of stockholders and of the Board and keep a record of the proceedings thereof, to maintain a stock ledger and prepare lists of stockholders and their addresses as required, to be custodian of corporate records and the corporate seal and to affix and attest to the same on documents. The Secretary may appoint Assistant Secretaries and Attesting Secretaries, each of whom shall have the power to affix and attest the corporate seal of the Corporation, and to attest the execution of documents on behalf of the Corporation and who shall perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Secretary. In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Secretary, the Assistant Secretary (or if there shall be more than one, the Assistant Secretary designated by the Board) shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Secretary. The chairman of any meeting of the Board or of stockholders may designate a temporary secretary to keep a record of any meeting. 3.10. Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers. The Treasurer shall perform such duties and shall have such powers as may from time to time be assigned by the Board or the Chief Executive Officer. In addition, the Treasurer shall perform such duties and have such powers as are incident to the office of treasurer, including without limitation the duty and power to keep and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Corporation, to deposit funds of the Corporation in depositories selected in accordance with these Bylaws, to disburse such funds as authorized by the Board or the Chief Executive Officer, to make proper accounts of such funds, and to render as required by the Board statements of all such transactions and of the financial condition of the Corporation. The Assistant Treasurers shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the
Treasurer may from time to time prescribe. In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer (or if there shall be more than one, the Assistant Treasurers in the order determined by the Board) shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Treasurer. 3.11. Delegation of Authority. The Board may from time to time delegate the powers or duties of any officer to any other officer or agent, notwithstanding any provision hereof. ARTICLE IV CAPITAL STOCK 4.1. Issuance of Stock. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, the whole or any part of any unissued balance of the authorized capital stock of the Corporation or the whole or any part of any shares of the authorized capital stock of the Corporation held in the Corporation’s treasury may be issued, sold,



 

30 transferred or otherwise disposed of by vote of the Board in such manner, for such lawful consideration and on such terms as the Board may determine. 4.2. Stock Certificates: Uncertificated Shares. The shares of the Corporation shall be represented by certificates, provided that the Board may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of the Corporation’s stock shall be uncertificated shares. Every holder of stock of the Corporation represented by certificates shall be entitled to have a certificate, in such form as may be prescribed by law and by the Board, representing the number of shares held by such holder registered in certificate form. Each such certificate shall be signed in a manner that complies with Section 158 of the DGCL. Each certificate for shares of stock which are subject to any restriction on transfer pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws, applicable securities laws or any agreement among any number of stockholders or among such holders and the Corporation shall have conspicuously noted on the face or back of the certificate either the full text of the restriction or a statement of the existence of such restriction. If the Corporation shall be authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than one series of any class, the powers, designations, preferences and relative participating, optional or other special rights, and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of each class of stock or series thereof shall be set forth in full or summarized on the face or back of each certificate representing shares of such class or series of stock: provided that in lieu of the foregoing requirements there may be set forth on the face or back of each certificate representing shares of such class or series of stock a statement that the Corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special
rights, and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of each class of stock or series thereof. Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of uncertificated shares, the Corporation shall send to the registered owner thereof a written notice containing the information required to be set forth or stated on certificates pursuant to Sections 151, 156, 202(a) or 218(a) of the DGCL or, with respect to Section 151 of DGCL, a statement that the Corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests the powers, designations, preferences and relative participating, optional or other special rights, and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of each class of stock or series thereof. 4.3. Transfers. Shares of stock of the Corporation shall be transferable in the manner prescribed by law, the Certificate of Incorporation and in these Bylaws. Transfers of shares of stock of the Corporation shall be made only on the books of the Corporation or by transfer agents designated to transfer shares of stock of the Corporation. Subject to applicable law, shares of stock represented by certificates shall be transferred only on the books of the Corporation by the surrender to the Corporation or its transfer agent of the certificate representing such shares properly endorsed or accompanied by a written assignment or power of attorney properly executed, and with such proof of authority or the authenticity of signature as the Corporation or its transfer



 

31 agent may reasonably require. Except as may be otherwise required by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these Bylaws, the Corporation shall be entitled to treat the record holder of stock as shown on its books as the owner of such stock for all purposes, including the payment of dividends and the right to vote with respect to such stock, regardless of any transfer, pledge or other disposition of such stock until the shares have been transferred on the books of the Corporation in accordance with the requirements of these Bylaws. 4.4. Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. The Corporation may issue a new certificate or uncertificated shares in place of any previously issued certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon such terms and conditions as the Board may prescribe, including the presentation of reasonable evidence of such loss, theft or destruction and the giving of such indemnity and posting of such bond as the Board may require for the protection of the Corporation or any transfer agent or registrar. 4.5. Record Date. In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, the Board may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board, and which record date shall, unless otherwise required by law, not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting. If the Board so fixes a date, such date shall also be the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting unless the Board determines, at the time it fixes such record date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting shall be the date for making such determination. If no record date is fixed by the Board, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the
day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board may fix a new record date for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the adjourned meeting, and in such case shall also fix as the record date for stockholders entitled to notice of such adjourned meeting the same or an earlier date as that fixed for determination of stockholders entitled to vote in accordance herewith at the adjourned meeting. In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board, and which record date shall not be more than sixty (60) days prior to such action. If no such record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders for any such purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board adopts the resolution relating thereto.



 

32 In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, the Board may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board, and which date shall not be more than ten (10) days after the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board. If no record date has been fixed by the Board, the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, when no prior action by the Board is required under the DGCL, shall be the first date on which a signed written consent setting forth the action taken or proposed to be taken is delivered to the Corporation by delivery to its registered office in the State of Delaware, its principal place of business or an officer or agent of the Corporation having custody of the book in which proceedings of meetings of stockholders are recorded. Delivery made to the Corporation’s registered office shall be by hand or certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. If no record date has been fixed by the Board and prior action by the Board is required under the DGCL, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board adopts the resolution taking such prior action. ARTICLE V GENERAL PROVISIONS 5.1. Fiscal Year. Except as from time to time otherwise designated by the Board, the fiscal year of the Corporation shall begin on the first day of January of each year and end on the last day of December in each year. 5.2. Corporate Seal. The corporate seal shall be in such form as shall be approved by the Board. 5.3. Waiver of Notice. Whenever notice is required to be given by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these Bylaws, a written waiver signed by the person
entitled to notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person entitled to notice, whether before, at or after the time of the event for which notice is to be given, shall be deemed equivalent to notice required to be given to such person. Neither the business nor the purpose of any meeting need be specified in any such waiver. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. 5.4. Voting of Securities. Except as the Board may otherwise designate, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, the Chief Financial Officer or the Treasurer may waive notice, vote, consent, or appoint any person or persons to waive notice, vote or consent, on behalf of the Corporation, and act as, or appoint any person or persons to act as, proxy or attorney-in-fact for this Corporation (with or without power of substitution), with respect to the securities of any other entity which may be held by this Corporation.



 

33 5.5. Evidence of Authority. A certificate by the Secretary, an Assistant Secretary, an Attesting Secretary, or a temporary Secretary, as to any action taken by the stockholders, directors, a committee or any officer or representative of the Corporation shall as to all persons who rely on the certificate in good faith be conclusive evidence of such action. 5.6. Certificate of Incorporation. All references in these Bylaws to the Certificate of Incorporation shall be deemed to refer to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, as it may be amended and/or restated and in effect from time to time. 5.7. Severability. If any provision or provisions (or any part thereof) of these Bylaws shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable as applied to any circumstance for any reason whatsoever: (a) the validity, legality and enforceability of such provisions in any other circumstance and of the remaining provisions of these Bylaws (including, without limitation, each portion of any paragraph of these Bylaws containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable that is not itself held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby; and (b) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of these Bylaws (including, without limitation, each such portion of any paragraph of these Bylaws containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to permit the Corporation to protect its directors, officers, employees and agents from personal liability in respect of their good faith service or for the benefit of the Corporation to the fullest extent permitted by law. 5.8. Pronouns. All pronouns used in these Bylaws shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine or neuter, singular or plural, as the identity of the person or persons may require. 5.9. Electronic Transmission. For purposes of these Bylaws, “electronic transmission” means any form of
communication, not directly involving the physical transmission of paper, that creates a record that may be retained, retrieved, and reviewed by a recipient thereof, and that may be directly reproduced in paper form by such a recipient through an automated process. 5.10. Certain Definitions. For purposes of these Bylaws: the terms “affiliate” and “associate” are used as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. ARTICLE VI AMENDMENTS These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed, in whole or in part, or new Bylaws may be adopted, by the Board or by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in voting power of the shares of the capital stock of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereon.



 

34 ARTICLE VII INDEMNIFICATION AND ADVANCEMENT 7.1. Right to Indemnification. The Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as it presently exists or may hereafter be amended, any person (a “Covered Person”) who was or is made or is threatened to be made a party or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a “proceeding”), by reason of the fact that he or she, or a person for whom he or she is the legal representative, is or was a director or officer of the Corporation or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries, or has or had agreed to become a director or officer of the Corporation or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries, or, while a director or officer of the Corporation or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries, is or was serving at the request of the Corporation or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or of a limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, enterprise or nonprofit entity, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, against all liability and loss suffered and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) reasonably incurred by such Covered Person. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, except as otherwise provided in Section 7.5, the Corporation shall be required to indemnify a Covered Person in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) commenced by such Covered Person only if the commencement of such proceeding (or part thereof) by the Covered Person was authorized in the specific case by the Board. 7.2. Prepayment of Expenses. The Corporation shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by applicable law, as the same exists or may hereafter be amended, pay the expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by a Covered Person in defending any proceeding in advance of its final disposition; provided, however,
that, to the extent required by law, such payment of expenses in advance of the final disposition of the proceeding shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Covered Person to repay all amounts advanced if it should be ultimately determined that the Covered Person is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article VII or otherwise. 7.3. Authorization of Indemnification. Any indemnification under this Article VII (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the Corporation only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the director or officer is proper in the circumstances because such person has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth under applicable law and is otherwise consistent with applicable law. Such determination shall be made, with respect to a person who is a director or officer at the time of such determination, (a) by a majority vote of the directors who are not parties to such act ion, suit or proceeding, even though less than a quorum, or (b) by a committee of such directors designated by a majority vote of such directors, even though less than a quorum, or (c) if there are no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion or (d) by the stockholders. Such determination shall be made, with respect to former directors and officers, by any person or persons having the authority to act on the matter on behalf of the Corporation. To the extent, however, that a



 

35 present or former director or officer of the Corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding set forth in Section 7.1 or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith, without the necessity of authorization in the specific case. 7.4. Good Faith Defined. For purposes of any determination under Section 7.3, a person shall be deemed to have acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, or, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, to have had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful, if such person’s action was based on good faith reliance on the records or books of account of the Corporation or another enterprise, or on information supplied to such person by the officers of the Corporation or another enterprise in the course of their duties, or on the advice of legal counsel for the Corporation or another enterprise or on information or records given or reports made to the Corporation or another enterprise by an independent certified public accountant or by an appraiser or other expert selected with reasonable care by the Corporation or another enterprise. The term “another enterprise” as used in this Section 7.4 shall mean any other corporation or any partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise of which such person is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent. The provisions of this Section 7.4 shall not be deemed to be exclusive or to limit in any way the circumstances in which a person may be deemed to have met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in the DGCL. 7.5. Right of Claimant to Bring Suit. If a claim for indemnification
(following the final disposition of such proceeding) or advancement of expenses under this Article VII is not paid in full within thirty (30) days after a written claim therefor by the Covered Person has been received by the Corporation, the Covered Person may file suit to recover the unpaid amount of such claim and, if successful in whole or in part, shall be entitled to be paid the expense (including attorneys’ fees) of prosecuting such claim. In any such action the Corporation shall have the burden of proving that the Covered Person is not entitled to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses under applicable law. It shall be a defense to any such action brought to enforce a right to indemnification (but not in an action brought to enforce a right to an advancement of expenses) that the claimant has not met the standards of conduct which make it permissible under the DGCL (or other applicable law) for the Corporation to indemnify the claimant for the amount claimed, but the burden of proving such defense shall be on the Corporation. Neither a contrary determination in the specific case under Section 7.3 nor the absence of any determination thereunder shall be a defense to such application or create a presumption that the claimant has not met any applicable standard of conduct. 7.6. Nonexclusivity of Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses. The rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by or granted pursuant to this Article VII shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under the Certificate of Incorporation, any agreement, or pursuant to any vote of stockholders or



 

36 disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in such person’s official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, it being the policy of the Corporation that, subject to the last sentence of Section 7.1, indemnification of the persons specified in Section 7.1 shall be made to the fullest extent permitted by law. The provisions of this Article VII shall not be deemed to preclude the indemnification of or advancement of expenses to any person who is not specified in Section 7.1 but whom the Corporation has the power or obligation to indemnify under the provisions of the DGCL, or otherwise. 7.7. Priority of Corporation Obligations. In the event that a Covered Person has rights of indemnification or advancement of expenses from any person (an “Other Indemnitor”) other than the Corporation or an affiliate of the Corporation in respect of a proceeding and also has rights of indemnification or advancement of expenses from the Corporation under this Article VII, the Corporation shall be primarily liable for indemnification and advancement of expenses to such Covered Person in respect of such proceeding and any obligation of an Other Indemnitor to provide indemnification or advancement of expenses shall be secondary to the obligations of the Corporation under this Article VII. If any Other Indemnitor pays or causes to be paid, for any reason, any amounts otherwise indemnifiable or subject to advancement under this Article VII, then (i) such Other Indemnitor shall be fully subrogated to all rights of the Covered Person with respect to the payments actually made and (ii) the Corporation shall reimburse such Other Indemnitor for the payments actually made. 7.8. Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power or the obligation to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of this Article VII. 7.9. Certain Definitions. For purposes of this Article VII: references to “the Corporation” shall include, in addition to the resulting corporation, any constituent corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had continued, would have had power and authority to indemnify its directors, officers, employees or agents so that any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of such constituent corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Article VII with respect to the resulting or surviving corporation as such person would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued; references to “fines” shall include any excise taxes assessed on a person with respect to any employee benefit plan; references to “serving at the request of the Corporation” shall include any service as a director, officer, employee or agent of



 

37 the Corporation which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer, employee or agent with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner “not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation” as referred to in this Article VII. 7.10. Survival of Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Article VII shall, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified, continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or officer and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such person. 7.11. Contract Rights. The obligations of the Corporation under this Article VII to indemnify, and advance expenses to, a Covered Person shall be considered a contract between the Corporation and such person, and no modification or repeal of any provision of this Article VII shall affect, to the detriment of such person, such obligations of the Corporation in connection with a claim based on any act or failure to act occurring before such modification or repeal.



 



Exhibit 10.49
ELT Award

Baker Hughes Company Performance Share Unit Award Agreement For [●]

1. Capitalized Terms. Each capitalized term used but not defined in this Award Agreement (including Appendix A) shall have the meaning ascribed to such
term in the Baker Hughes Company 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).

2. Grant. The Committee of Baker Hughes Company (the “Company”) has granted Performance Share Units (“PSUs”) to the individual named in this Award
Agreement (the “Participant”) on [●] (the “Grant Date”). Each PSU entitles the Participant an opportunity to earn and receive from the Company one share of
Class A common stock of the Company, par value $0.0001 per share (“Share”), for which the restrictions set forth in paragraph 4 lapse in accordance with the terms
of this Award Agreement, the Plan, any country specific addendums and any rules and procedures adopted by the Committee. The target number of PSUs reflected in
the Participant’s Plan account maintained by Fidelity Stock Plan Services (the “Target PSUs”) is the number of PSUs that the Participant may earn if the
Performance Condition is satisfied at the target level. The actual number of PSUs that the Participant may earn may be less than or more than the Target PSUs,
depending upon actual performance and the service of the Participant, as specified in paragraph 4. Shares may be adjusted or converted into other property or cash
pursuant to the provisions of the Plan.

3. Dividend Equivalents. Until such time as the restrictions lapse or the PSUs are cancelled, whichever occurs first, the Company shall establish an amount to
be paid to the Participant equal to the number of PSUs that are ultimately earned pursuant to this Agreement times the per Share quarterly dividend payments made to
stockholders of the Company’s Shares during the period from the Grant Date until the date that the restrictions lapse (“Dividend Equivalent”). The Company will
pay the Participant an amount equal to the Dividend Equivalents unpaid as of the date that the restrictions lapse (without interest) upon such lapse date.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any unpaid Dividend Equivalents attributable to PSUs that are cancelled will not be paid and are immediately forfeited upon
cancellation of the PSUs. Dividend Equivalents will be paid in cash or in Shares, or in a combination of cash and Shares, as determined by the Committee in its
discretion.

4. Restrictions.

a. Lapse of Restrictions Generally. Except as specified in paragraph 6(a), restrictions on the PSUs will lapse to the extent that both the Service
Condition and the Performance Condition are satisfied and once the Committee has certified the Performance Condition has been satisfied (the “Normal Restriction
Lapse Date”). Subject to paragraphs 5 and 6, the “Service Condition” will be satisfied with respect to the PSUs only if the Participant has been continuously
employed by the Company or one of its Subsidiaries through the Normal Restriction Lapse Date, and the “Performance Condition” will be satisfied with respect to
between 0% and 150% of the Target PSUs based on the attainment of Cumulative ROIC and Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted
EBITDA performance conditions, adjusted by the Relative TSR modifier, in accordance with Appendix A. Prior to the issuance of any Shares pursuant to paragraph
7, except as specified in this Award Agreement (for example, in the event of an Involuntary Termination due to a Change in Control as described in paragraphs 5b
and 6a), the Committee shall certify the extent, if any, to which the Performance Condition was achieved. In no event will payment under this Award be made later
than the date that is 2 ½ months after the calendar year in which both the Service Condition and the Performance Condition have been satisfied (or deemed satisfied)
under the terms of this Award Agreement.

b. Maximum Shares Limitation. The maximum number of Shares the Participant may earn under this Award is Shares equal to 225% of the Target
PSUs.
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c. Maximum Value Limitation. In addition to any other limitation specified in this Award Agreement, notwithstanding anything in this Award
Agreement to the contrary, if the Final Value of the Shares otherwise issuable on lapse of the restrictions on the PSUs, as determined in accordance with this Award
Agreement, exceeds the applicable Maximum Value, the number of Shares issued to the Participant will be reduced so that the Final Value of the number of Shares
issued is equal to such Maximum Value. “Final Value” means the closing price of a Share on the End Date, multiplied by the number of Shares otherwise issuable on
lapse of the restrictions applicable to the PSUs (assuming for such purpose that the immediately preceding sentence did not apply). “Maximum Value” means the
closing price of a Share on the Grant Date multiplied by the Target PSUs, multiplied by 5.

5. Termination of Employment. If the Participant’s employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries terminates prior to the Normal Restriction Lapse
Date, the PSUs shall be immediately cancelled, except as follows:

a. Employment Termination Due to Death. If the Participant’s employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries terminates prior to the Normal
Restriction Lapse Date as a result of the Participant’s death, the Service Condition shall be deemed fully satisfied as of the date of such termination, and, subject to
paragraph 6a, the PSUs shall remain subject to the Performance Condition.

b. Involuntary Termination Following Certain Transactions. If prior to the Normal Restriction Lapse Date (1) the Participant incurs an Involuntary
Termination during the 24-month period following a Change in Control or (ii) during the 24-month period following a Covered Transaction the Participant incurs an
Involuntary Full Severance of Employment in Connection With a Covered Transaction (in each case, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion), the
Service Condition shall be deemed to be fully satisfied for all PSUs awarded hereby on the date of the Participant’s Involuntary Termination.

For the avoidance of doubt, the 24-month period following a Change in Control or a Covered Transaction includes the date of the consummation of the Change in
Control or the Covered Transaction.

c. Occurrence of Total Disability. If on or after the first anniversary of the Grant Date and prior to the Normal Restriction Lapse Date, the Participant
incurs a Total Disability, the Service Condition shall be deemed fully satisfied as of the date of such termination, and, subject to paragraph 6a, the PSUs shall remain
subject to the Performance Condition.

d.  Other Involuntary Termination. If on or after the first anniversary of the Grant Date and prior to the Normal Restriction Lapse Date, the Participant
incurs an Involuntary Termination, and paragraph 5b does not apply, then as of the date of such Involuntary Termination, the Service Condition shall be deemed
satisfied with respect to the applicable Pro-Rata Portion, and such Pro-Rata Portion of the PSUs shall remain subject to the Performance Condition (except as
specified in paragraph 6a).

e. Termination of Employment Due to Other Reasons. If the Participant incurs a Termination of Employment for any reason other than as specified in
paragraphs 5a, 5b, 5c, or 5d then the PSUs shall be immediately cancelled.

f.  Definitions. For purposes of this Award Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

(i)  “Company Group” means the Company and entities that, at the relevant times through the date of the Participant’s Termination of Employment, are
Subsidiaries.
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(ii)  “Covered Transaction” means a transaction other than a Change in Control that, in the determination of the Committee in its sole discretion,
involves either (i) the formation of a joint venture to which the Company contributes assets or businesses comprising at least 30% of the Company (as measured in
terms of assets, revenue, cash flow, net income and/or other parameters, in the discretion of the Committee) (a “Covered Business”) and in which the Company
retains an equity interest of at least 40%, or (ii) the disposition to the Company’s shareholders of a Covered Business.

(iii) “Involuntary Full Severance of Employment in Connection With a Covered Transaction” means an Involuntary Termination incurred in
connection with the Covered Transaction as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion; provided, however, that a Participant shall not incur an Involuntary
Full Severance of Employment in Connection With a Covered Transaction if, prior to the Normal Restriction Lapse Date, (i) the Participant receives an offer of
employment from a Qualifying Successor (whether or not the Participant accepts such offer of employment) unless such offer of employment is for materially
diminished base salary as compared to the Participant’s base salary in effect immediately prior to the consummation of the Covered Transaction as determined by the
Committee in its sole discretion, or (ii) the Participant transfers to, or continues the employment with, a Qualifying Successor on or following a Covered Transaction.

(iv) “Involuntary Termination” means the Termination of Employment of the Participant (i) because the Participant’s position with the Company Group
is eliminated, (ii) because the Participant and the Company, or any Subsidiary (or, upon or following a Change in Control, any of their successors), terminates the
employment of the Participant without Cause, (iii) because the Participant is no longer employed within the Company Group because the Participant becomes or
remains employed by a Qualifying Successor, (iv) because on or within 24 months following and in connection with a Covered Transaction (as determined by the
Committee in its sole discretion) the Participant resigns from employment with the Company, or any Subsidiary due to a material diminution of the Participant’s base
salary (as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion) within such period; provided that the Participant delivers written notice to the Participant’s employer,
either the Company or a Subsidiary (as applicable), of Participant’s intention to terminate employment within 30 days following the occurrence of such material
diminution of base salary and the Company or Subsidiary (as applicable) has not, within 30 days following receipt of such written notice, corrected such diminution
(in which case such resignation shall be effective immediately upon the expiration of the cure period or such other date that would remain within the short term
deferral period for purposes of Section 409A as agreed in writing by the Participant and such employer), or (v) because, on or within 24 months following a Change
in Control, the Participant resigns from employment with the Company, or any Subsidiary (or, upon or following a Change in Control any of their successors), due to
a reason that would qualify as an event that is a “Good Reason” within the meaning of the Baker Hughes Company Executive Change in Control Severance Plan (as
determined by the Committee), whether or not the Participant is a participant in the Baker Hughes Company Executive Change in Control Severance Plan; provided,
however, that the Participant delivers written notice to the Committee of Participant’s intention to terminate employment within 30 days following the occurrence of
the Good Reason event and the Company or Subsidiary (or, upon or following a Change in Control any of their successors) as applicable, has not, within 30 days
following receipt of such written notice, corrected such Good Reason event (in which case such resignation shall be effective immediately upon the expiration of the
cure period or such other date that would remain within the short term deferral period for purposes of Section 409A as agreed in writing by the Participant and the
Participant’s employer) (for the avoidance of doubt, treating all references to Committee for purposes of this clause (v) as the “Committee” within the meaning of the
Baker Hughes Company Executive Change in Control Severance Plan). For purposes of this Award Agreement, an “Involuntary Termination” does not include (i) a
Termination of Employment for Cause, (ii) the Participant’s death or Termination of
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Employment due to disability or retirement, (iii) a voluntary Termination of Employment by the Participant, or (iv) the transfer or continuation of the employment of
the Participant to or with the Company or an entity that is then a Subsidiary (or, following a Change in Control, any of their successors).

(v) “Pro-Rata Portion” shall mean the total number of PSUs covered by this Award multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the total number
of complete months which have elapsed between the Grant Date and the date of Involuntary Termination and the denominator of which is 36.

(vi) “Qualifying Successor” means (1) an entity (or entities) holding assets or businesses comprising a Covered Business that is disposed of to the
Company’s shareholders in a Covered Transaction and entities that are affiliated with such entity under section 414 of the Code, (2) a joint venture to which the
Company contributes assets or businesses comprising a Covered Business and entities that are affiliated with such entity under section 414 of the Code.

(vii) “Termination of Employment” means the Participant is no longer employed by the Company or any entity that is then a Subsidiary without a
contemporaneous transfer of employment to the Company or an entity that is then a Subsidiary.

(viii) “Total Disability” means the Participant is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to
result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, receiving income replacement benefits for a period of not less than three
months under an accident or health plan covering employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

6. Transactions Involving the Company or Peers.

a. Change in Control of the Company. In the event of a Change in Control, the Performance Condition shall be deemed satisfied at the target level of
performance with respect to the Target PSUs that have not theretofore been forfeited, and, except as specified above in this Award Agreement, the Target PSUs shall
remain subject to the Service Condition.

b. Covered Transaction. In the event of a Covered Transaction, if paragraph 5b or paragraph 5d applies to the Participant and the Committee has
determined in its sole discretion that the Participant has incurred an Involuntary Termination in connection with the Covered Transaction, the Performance Condition
shall be deemed satisfied at the greater of (1) the target level of performance or (2) the actual performance through the date of the Covered Transaction (calculated
based upon the most recent results that have then been reported through the calendar quarter immediately preceding the date of the Covered Transaction) with respect
to the Target PSUs that have not theretofore been forfeited.

c. Transactions Involving Peers. Notwithstanding anything in this Award Agreement (other than Section 3d of Appendix A) to the contrary, for
purposes of the Performance Condition in Appendix A, in the event that, prior to the End Date, there occurs:

(i) a merger, acquisition or business combination transaction of a Peer with or by another Peer, only the surviving entity shall remain a Peer;

(ii) a merger of a Peer with an entity that is not a Peer, or the acquisition or business combination transaction by or with a Peer, or with an entity that is not
a Peer, in each case where such Peer is the surviving entity and remains publicly traded, such Peer shall remain a Peer;
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(iii)a merger or acquisition or business combination transaction of a Peer by or with an entity that is not a Peer or a “going private” transaction involving a
Peer where such Peer is not the surviving entity or is otherwise no longer publicly traded, such Peer shall no longer be a Peer;

(iv)a stock distribution from a Peer consisting of the shares of a new publicly traded company (a “spin-off”), such Peer shall remain a Peer, such
distribution shall be treated as a dividend from such Peer based on the closing price of the shares of the spun-off company on its first day of trading and the
Cumulative Free Cash Flow of the spun-off company and the Adjusted EBITDA of the spun-off company shall not thereafter be tracked for purposes of calculating
Cumulative Free Cash Flow and Adjusted EBITDA, and the performance of the shares of the spun-off company shall not thereafter be tracked for purposes of
calculating TSR, and the performance of the shares of the spun-off company shall not thereafter be tracked for purposes of calculating TSR; or

(v)  a bankruptcy or liquidation of a Peer, the Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA of such Peer shall be ranked last for
purposes of determining the Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA, and the TSR of such Peer shall be ranked last for
purposes of determining the Relative TSR.

7. Issuance and Withholding Tax. Upon such date as both the Service Condition and the Performance Condition restrictions lapse pursuant to this Award
Agreement, the Company shall issue to the Participant such Shares with respect to the portion, if any, of the PSUs for which the restrictions lapse in accordance with
this Award Agreement. No later than the date as of which an amount with respect to the PSUs first becomes includable in the gross income of the Participant for
applicable income tax purposes, the Participant shall pay to the Company or make arrangements satisfactory to the Company regarding payment of any federal, state,
local or foreign taxes of any kind required or permitted to be withheld with respect to such amount.

8. Amendment/Termination. The Company shall have the right at any time in its sole discretion to amend, alter, or terminate the PSUs without the consent of
the Participant; provided, however, that no such amendment, alteration or termination shall occur if reasonably likely to significantly diminish the rights of the
Participant without the Participant’s consent; provided further that no such consent shall be required with respect to any amendment, alteration or termination of the
PSUs if the Board determines in its sole discretion that such amendment, alteration, or termination either (i) is required or advisable to satisfy or conform to any
applicable law, regulation or accounting standard or (ii) is in accordance with paragraph 9. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment of the PSUs may be made
that would cause the Participant to become subject to additional taxes under Section 409A of the Code (“Section 409A”). Also, the PSUs shall be null and void to the
extent the grant of PSUs or the lapse of restrictions thereon is prohibited under the laws of the country of residence of the Participant.

9. Recoupment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Award to the contrary, the PSUs, any Shares issued in settlement of the PSUs, and any amount
received with respect to any sale of any such Shares, shall be subject to potential cancellation, recoupment, rescission, payback or other action in accordance with any
recoupment policy that the Company may adopt from time to time.

10. Plan Terms. All terms used in this Award have the same meaning as given such terms in the Plan, a copy of which will be furnished upon request. This
Award is subject to the terms of the Plan, which terms are incorporated by reference.

11. Data Privacy. The Company, the stock brokerage or other financial or administrative services firm designated by the Company (the “Stock Plan
Administrator”), or such other stock
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plan service provider as may be selected by the Company in the future, which is assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management of
the Plan administer and maintain the data regarding the Plan, the participants and the awards granted to Participant who is an employee in the group consisting of the
Company and its Subsidiaries (the “Company Group”) worldwide. Participant authorizes the Company, the Stock Plan Administrator that may assist the Company
(presently or in the future) with implementing, administering and managing the Plan to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer Employee Personal Data (as defined
below), in electronic or other form, for the sole purpose of implementing, administering and managing Participant’s participation in the Plan. The data administered
and maintained by the Company, the Stock Plan Administrator and any other possible recipients that may assist the Company (presently or in the future) with
implementing, administering and managing the Plan includes information that may be considered personal data, including Participant’s name, home address, email
address and telephone number, date of birth, social security or insurance number, passport number or other identification number, salary, nationality, and any Shares
or directorships held in the Company, and details of this Award or any other entitlement to Shares, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in
Participant’s favor (“Employee Personal Data”). Participant further acknowledge that Participant understands that the countries to which Participant’s Employee
Personal Data may be transferred may have data protection standards that are different than those in Participant’s home country and that offer a level of data
protection that is less than that in Participant’s home country. Further, Participant understand that Participant is providing the consents herein on a purely voluntary
basis. If Participant does not consent, or if Participant later seeks to revoke Participant’s consent, Participant’s service status and career will not be affected; the only
consequence of refusing or withdrawing Participant’s consent is that the Company would not be able to grant Participant the PSUs or other equity awards or
administer or maintain such awards. Therefore, Participant understands that refusing or withdrawing Participant’s consent may affect Participant’s ability to
participate in the Plan.

12. Repatriation; Compliance with Law. Participant agrees to repatriate all payments attributable to the Shares acquired under the Plan in accordance with
applicable foreign exchange rules and regulations in Participant’s country of employment (and country of residence, if different). In addition, Participant agrees to
take any and all actions, and consent to any and all actions taken by the Company and any of its Subsidiaries and affiliated companies, as may be required to allow
the Company and any of its Subsidiaries and affiliated companies to comply with local laws, rules and/or regulations in Participant’s country of employment (and
country of residence, if different). Finally, Participant agrees to take any and all actions as may be required to comply with Participant’s personal obligations under
local laws, rules and/or regulations in Participant’s country of employment and country of residence, if different.

13. Electronic Delivery. Participant agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, in lieu of receiving documents in paper format, to accept electronic delivery
of any documents that the Company and its Subsidiaries or affiliated companies may deliver in connection with this grant and any other grants offered by the
Company, including prospectuses, grant notifications, account statements, annual or quarterly reports, and other communications. Electronic delivery of a document
may be made via the Company’s email system or by reference to a location on the Company’s intranet or website or a website of the Company’s agent administering
the Plan. By accepting this Award, Participant also hereby consents to participate in the Plan through such system, intranet, or website, including but not limited to
the use of electronic signatures or click-through electronic acceptance of terms and conditions.

14. Nontransferability. Except as specified in this Award Agreement, this Award and this Award Agreement are not transferable or assignable by Participant
other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution or pursuant to a “qualified domestic relations order” as defined by the
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Code or Title I of the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or similar order.

15. Section 409A. This Award is intended to be exempt from Section 409A. To the extent applicable, the Plan and any award document governing an award
granted under the Plan (“Award Document”) shall be interpreted in accordance with Section 409A and interpretive guidance issued thereunder. Notwithstanding any
contrary provision in the Plan or an Award Document, if the Committee determines that any provision of the Plan or an Award Document contravenes any regulations
or guidance promulgated under Section 409A or would cause an Award to be subject to additional taxes, accelerated taxation, interest and/or penalties under Section
409A, the Committee may modify or amend such provision of the Plan or Award Document without consent of the Participant in any manner the Committee deems
reasonable or necessary. In making such modifications the Committee shall attempt, but shall not be obligated, to maintain, to the maximum extent practicable, the
original intent of the applicable provision without contravening the provisions of Section 409A. Moreover, any discretionary authority that the Committee may have
pursuant to the Plan shall not be applicable to an Award that is subject to Section 409A to the extent such discretionary authority would contravene Section 409A.

16. Adjustments to Award. This Award is subject to adjustments pursuant to Section 4b of the Plan. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the
Plan and any Award Document, the Award Document shall govern and the Plan shall be interpreted to minimize or eliminate any such conflict or inconsistency.

17. Entire Agreement. This Award, the Plan, country specific addendums and the rules and procedures adopted by the Committee contain all of the provisions
applicable to the PSUs and no other statements, documents or practices may modify, waive or alter such provisions unless expressly set forth in writing, signed by an
authorized officer of the Company and delivered to the Participant.

This document constitutes part of a prospectus covering securities that have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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Appendix A

Performance Condition

Section 1. Definitions. As used in this Appendix A, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

(a) “Adjusted EBITDA” means operating income adjusted for restructuring, separation, impairments, and certain other charges, plus depreciation and
amortization.

(b) “Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA” of the Company or a Peer, as applicable, means the cumulative Adjusted EBITDA of the Company or the Peer for
the three years in the Performance Period.

(c) “Cumulative Free Cash Flow” of the Company or a Peer, as applicable, means cumulative Free Cash Flow for the three years in the Performance
Period.

(d) “Cumulative ROIC” of the Company means the quotient obtained by dividing the cumulative Net Operating Profit After Tax of the Company for the
three years of the Performance Period by the quarterly average of the Invested Capital of the Company across the Performance Period, divided by three.

(e) “Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA” of the Company or a Peer, as applicable, means the cumulative Free
Cash Flow of the Company or a Peer for the three years in the Performance Period, divided by the Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA of the Company or the Peer for the
three years in the Performance Period.

(f) “End Date” means December 31, [●].

(g) “End Price” with respect to a Share or a Peer Share means the average of the closing price of such Share or Peer Share on the applicable Principal
Exchange on each trading day in December [●]  assuming dividends distributed during the period beginning December 1, [●]  were reinvested in additional shares of
the issuing company’s stock on the ex-dividend date. The Committee shall adjust equitably the End Price with respect to a Share or Peer Share, as calculated in
accordance with the preceding sentence, to reflect any corporate transaction or event set forth in Section 4(b) of the Plan that affects such Share or Peer Share if such
adjustment is appropriate to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under this Award.

(h) “Free Cash Flow” of the Company or a Peer for a calendar year or fiscal year, as applicable, means cash flow from operations less expenditures for
capital assets plus proceeds from the disposal of assets.

(i) “Invested Capital” means the sum of (i) accounts receivable, (ii) inventory, (iii) property, plant and equipment, (iv) accounts payable, (v) goodwill,
(vi) intangibles, (vii) progress collections and deferred income and (viii) contract and other deferred assets, each as recorded on the balance sheet of the Company.

 Insert the last year of the Performance Period.

 Insert the last year of the Performance Period.

 Insert year that precedes the year of the Start Date.

1

2 3

1

2

3
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(j) “Net Operating Profit After Tax” of the Company for a calendar year or fiscal year or across the Performance Period, as applicable, means reported
operating income, plus other income minus reported tax expense adjusted for unrealized gains or losses associated with investment portfolio.

(k) “Peer” means [●]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of the calculation of Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative
Adjusted EBITDA, the definition of “Peer” shall not include the companies listed on the S&P 500 Industrials Sector Index.

(l) “Peer Share” means the share of common stock of a Peer that is quoted or traded on a national securities exchange.

(m) “Performance Period” means the period beginning on the Start Date and ending on the End Date.

(n) “Principal Exchange” means the principal U.S. securities exchange on which a Share or Peer Share is quoted or traded as of an applicable date. For
the avoidance of doubt, a Share or Peer Share that is quoted or traded only over the counter shall not be deemed to be quoted or traded on a Principal Exchange.

(o) “Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA” means the percentile ranking of the Cumulative Free Cash
Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA of the Company in relation to the Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA of each of
the Peers, as calculated by the Committee in good faith applying a reasonable statistical method.

(p) “Relative TSR” means the percentile ranking of the TSR of a Share in relation to the TSR of each of the Peers’ Shares, as calculated by the
Committee in good faith applying a reasonable statistical method.

(q) “Start Date” means January 1, [●].

 Insert TechnipFMC plc and list each company that, as of the Start Date, is included in (1) the PHLX Oil Service Sector (OSX) index which on January 1, 2024 includes: ChampionX Corporation;
USA Compression Partners, LP; Cactus, Inc.; Core Laboratories N.V.; Golar LNG Limited; Halliburton Company; Helmerich & Payne, Inc.; Nabors Industries Ltd.; NOV Inc.; Oceaneering
International, Inc.; Oil States International, Inc.; Dril-Quip, Inc.; Schlumberger N.V.; Weatherford International plc and Transocean Ltd. and (2) the S&P 500 Industrials Sector Index (SRIN) which
on January 2, 2024 includes: 3M Co; A O Smith Corp; Allegion plc; American Airlines Group Inc; AMETEK Inc; Automatic Data Processing Inc; Axon Enterprise Inc; Boeing Co/The; Broadridge
Financial Solutions Inc; Builders FirstSource Inc; Carrier Global Corp; Caterpillar Inc; Ceridian HCM Holding Inc; CH Robinson Worldwide Inc; Cintas Corp; Copart Inc; CSX Corp; Cummins Inc;
Deere & Co; Delta Air Lines Inc; Dover Corp; Eaton Corp PLC; Emerson Electric Co; Equifax Inc; Expeditors International of Washington Inc; Fastenal Co; FedEx Corp; Fortive Corp; Generac
Holdings Inc; General Dynamics Corp; General Electric Co; Honeywell International Inc; Howmet Aerospace Inc; Hubbell Inc; Huntington Ingalls Industries Inc; IDEX Corp; Illinois Tool Works
Inc; Ingersoll Rand Inc; Jacobs Solutions Inc; JB Hunt Transport Services Inc; Johnson Controls International plc; L3Harris Technologies Inc; Leidos Holdings Inc; Lockheed Martin Corp; Masco
Corp; Nordson Corp; Norfolk Southern Corp; Northrop Grumman Corp; Old Dominion Freight Line Inc; Otis Worldwide Corp; PACCAR Inc; Parker-Hannifin Corp; Paychex Inc; Paycom Software
Inc; Pentair PLC; Quanta Services Inc; Republic Services Inc; Robert Half Inc; Rockwell Automation Inc; Rollins Inc; RTX Corp; Snap-on Inc; Southwest Airlines Co; Stanley Black & Decker Inc;
Textron Inc; Trane Technologies PLC; TransDigm Group Inc; Uber Technologies Inc; Union Pacific Corp; United Airlines Holdings Inc; United Parcel Service Inc; United Rentals Inc; Veralto Corp;
Verisk Analytics Inc; Waste Management Inc; Westinghouse Air Brake Technologies Corp; WW Grainger Inc; and Xylem Inc/NY.

 Insert the first year of the Performance Period.

4

5

4

5
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(r) “Start Price” with respect to a Share or a Peer Share means the average of the closing price of such Share or Peer Share on the applicable Principal
Exchange on each trading day in December [●] , assuming dividends distributed during December [●] were reinvested in additional shares of the issuing company’s
stock on the ex-dividend date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall adjust equitably the Start Price with respect to a Peer Share, as calculated in
accordance with the preceding sentence, to reflect any corporate transaction or event set forth in Section 4(b) of the Plan that affects such Peer Share if such
adjustment is appropriate to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under this Award Agreement.

(s) “TSR” with respect to a Share or Peer Share means total shareholder return with respect to such Share or Peer Share, expressed as a percentage, which
will be calculated by (i) dividing (x) the End Price of such Share or Peer Share plus total of all dividends paid on one share of stock during the Performance Period by
(y) the Start Price such Share or Peer Share and (ii) subtracting one from the quotient.

Section 2. Weighting of Performance Conditions.

    The payout for the number of Performance Units awarded to a Participant under a Performance Unit Award will be determined under Section 3 and will be based
in part upon the achievement of the following weighted Performance Goals: (1) Cumulative ROIC and (2) Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by
Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA. The (1) Cumulative ROIC and (2) Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA Performance
Goals are equally weighted. That is, the Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA Performance Goal has a weighting of 50
percent and the Cumulative ROIC Performance Goal has a weighting of 50 percent.

Section 3. Performance Condition Attainment.

(a) Cumulative ROIC. The Cumulative ROIC will determine the preliminary Performance Condition attainment (prior to adjustment under paragraph (c) below
by the Relative TSR modifier), with respect to 50 percent of the Target PSUs. The following table sets forth the percentage of the Target PSUs, prior to adjustments
pursuant to paragraph (c) below (the “Preliminarily Adjusted Units”) for which the Performance Condition will be deemed satisfied based on the attainment of
Cumulative ROIC indicated in the corresponding row of the table:

Cumulative ROIC Performance Condition Attainment
≥ 15.0% 150%
12.5% 100%
10.0% 50%

<10.0% 0%

If Cumulative ROIC exceeds 10% and is less than 12.5%, or if Cumulative ROIC exceeds 12.5% and is less than 15.0%, the percentage of the PSUs for which the
Performance Condition will be deemed satisfied will be subject to straight-line interpolation between the applicable corresponding percentages set forth in the table.

(b) Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA. Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative
Adjusted EBITDA will be

 Insert year that precedes the year of the Start Date.

6

6
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measured independently and then compared against the Peers. The average of those results will determine the preliminary Performance Condition attainment (prior to
adjustment under paragraph (c) below by the Relative TSR modifier), with respect to 50 percent of the Target PSUs. The following table sets forth the percentage of
such Target PSUs, prior to adjustments pursuant to paragraph (c) below the Preliminarily Adjusted Units, for which the Performance Condition will be deemed
satisfied based on the attainment of Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA indicated in the corresponding row of the table:

Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted
EBITDA

(Percentile v. Peers)

Performance 
Condition 

Attainment for Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted
EBITDA

≥ 75 150%
50 100%
25 50%

<25 0%

If Relative Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA exceeds the 25  percentile and is less than the 50  percentile, or if Relative
Cumulative Free Cash Flow Divided by Cumulative Adjusted EBITDA exceeds the 50  percentile and is less than the 75  percentile, the percentage of the PSUs for
which the Performance Condition will be deemed satisfied will be subject to straight-line interpolation between the applicable corresponding percentages set forth in
the table.

(c) Relative TSR Modifier. The final number of Shares to be paid under this Award Agreement will be calculated by adjusting the Participant’s total
Preliminarily Adjusted Units upwards or downwards based on the Company’s Relative TSR performance compared to the Peers. The adjustment will be based on the
table below.

Relative TSR Percentile Rank TSR Modifier
25th Percentile or Less -50%
50th Percentile 0%
75th Percentile or Greater 50%

If Relative TSR percentile rank exceeds the 25  percentile and is less than the 50  percentile, or if Relative TSR percentile rank exceeds the 50  percentile and is less
than the 75  percentile, the TSR Modifier will be determined by straight-line interpolation between the applicable corresponding percentages set forth in the table.

The total Award earned is calculated by first multiplying the number of the Preliminarily Adjusted Units by the TSR Modifier. The sum of (1) the Preliminarily
Adjusted Units and (2) the product of the Preliminarily Adjusted Units and the TSR Modifier, not in excess of 225% of the Target Shares, is the Final Adjusted Units.
Subject to the maximum value limitation set forth in paragraphs 4c of the Award Agreement, each Final Adjusted Unit represents a right to receive one Share. In no
event will the Final Adjusted Units be less than zero. In no event will the number of Shares issued to the Participant under the Award exceed the maximum value
limitation set forth in paragraph 4c of the Award Agreement.

th th
th th

th th th
th
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(d)      Adjustments for Unusual or Nonrecurring Events. The Committee shall be authorized to remove a Peer or make adjustments to any of the
performance metrics set forth in Appendix A as they apply to such Peer or Company in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events affecting such Peers or
Company, or the financial statements of such Peers or Company, or of changes in applicable laws, regulations, or accounting principles, whenever the Committee
determines that such removal or adjustments are appropriate in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits to be made available
under this Award Agreement.

    (e)    Determination of Satisfaction of Performance Conditions Where Insufficient Data Filed by a Peer or Peers. If the Compensation Committee determines the
Company’s ability to timely pay no later than March 15 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which occurs the End Date would otherwise be
jeopardized because the Compensation Committee does not have sufficient data to determine the extent to which the Performance Conditions have been satisfied due
to a Peer’s or Peers’ delinquent filings with the Securities Exchange Commission, the Compensation Committee may determine the extent to which the Performance
Conditions have been satisfied based upon the information that is available to the Compensation Committee and such determination shall be binding on all persons.
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Insider Trading Policy
Purpose

This Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) provides guidelines with respect to transactions in the Securities of Baker Hughes Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Baker
Hughes” or the “Company”) and the handling of confidential information about the Company, affiliates and the third party companies with which the Company does business.

Scope
This Policy applies globally regardless of location or nationality and covers all employees and directors of the Company and affiliates and his or her immediate family members
and members of his or her household.

This Policy applies to any and all transactions in the Company’s Securities (as defined below) as well as other publicly traded companies while in possession of material
nonpublic information.

Insider Trading
1. Prohibition of Trading on Insider Information

1.1. It is illegal for any employee or director of the Company to trade in the Securities of the Company while in possession of material nonpublic information about the
Company. It is also illegal for any employee or director of the Company to give material nonpublic information to others who may trade on the basis of that information. This
is because the employee or director knows information that may cause the share price to change, and it would be unfair for the employee or director to have an advantage
(knowledge that the share price will change) that the rest of the investing public does not have. Civil and criminal penalties for this kind of activity are severe.

1.2. This Policy also precludes you from trading in the Securities of another company while you are aware of material nonpublic information relating to a possible significant
transaction between Baker Hughes and that company which is likely to affect the value of that company’s Securities.

1.3. “Trading” includes buying or selling (long or short) securities; exercising options or converting convertible securities; or cancelling your participation in the Baker Hughes
Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

1.4. “Securities” of a company include any securities issued by that company, including common stock, preferred stock, options, warrants, convertible debentures, and
derivative securities (whether or not that company issues the derivative securities) such as publicly traded options, including puts and calls.

2. Definition of Material Nonpublic Information  
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2.1. When Information is Considered Material. Information is considered “material” if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider the
information important in deciding whether to buy, sell or hold Securities. Any information that could be expected to affect the Company’s stock price, whether it is positive or
negative, should be considered material. There is no bright-line standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an assessment of all of the facts and
circumstances, and is often evaluated by enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. While it is not possible to define all categories of material information, some
examples of information that ordinarily would be regarded as material are:

• Projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance;
• A pending or proposed merger, significant acquisition or tender offer;
• A pending or proposed acquisition or disposition of a significant asset;
• A pending or proposed joint venture;
• A Company restructuring;
• A change in dividend policy, the declaration of a stock split, or an offering of additional securities;
• Bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course;
• The establishment of a repurchase program for the Company’s securities;
• A change in executive management;
• A change in auditors or notification that the auditor’s reports may no longer be relied upon;
• Development of a significant new product, process, or service;
• Pending or threatened significant litigation, or the resolution of such litigation;
• Impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems; and/or
• The discovery of a significant cybersecurity incident.

2.2. When Information is Considered Public. Information that has not been disclosed to the public is generally considered to be nonpublic information. In order to establish
that the information has been disclosed to the public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the information has been widely disseminated. Information generally would
be considered widely disseminated if it has been disclosed through the Dow Jones “broad tape,” newswire services, a broadcast on widely-available radio or television
programs, publication in a widely-available newspaper, magazine or news website, or public disclosure of documents published on our website or filed with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) that are available on the SEC’s website. By contrast, information would likely not be considered widely disseminated
if it is available only to the Company’s employees, or if it is only available to a select group of analysts, brokers and institutional investors.

2.3. Once information is widely disseminated, it is still necessary to afford the investing public with sufficient time to absorb the information. As a general rule, information
should not be considered fully absorbed by the marketplace until the first business day after the day on which the information is released. Depending on the particular
circumstances, the Company may determine that a longer or shorter period should apply to the release of specific material nonpublic information.

3. Special and Prohibited Transactions
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The Company has determined that there is a heightened legal risk and/or the appearance of improper or inappropriate conduct if the persons subject to this Policy engage in
certain types of transactions.
3.1. Short-Term Trading. Short-term trading (i.e., trading in securities where the time duration between entry and exit is within a few minutes or weeks) of Company Securities

by directors or executive officers subject to Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (“Section 16 D&O”) as well as executive officers reporting to the CEO
(collectively with the Section 16 D&O, the “Directors and Executive Officers”) is prohibited.

3.2. Short Sales. A short sale of a security is the sale of a security that the seller does not own at the time of the sale. Short sales of Company Securities (i.e., the sale of a
security that the seller does not own) may evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore have the potential to signal
to the market that the seller lacks confidence in the Company’s prospects. Directors, and employees, including Executive Officers of the Company are prohibited in
engaging in short sales.

3.3. Publicly-Traded Options. Given the relatively short-term of publicly-traded options, transactions in options may create the appearance that a director or employee is
trading based on material nonpublic information and focus a director’s or other employee’s attention on short-term performance at the expense of the Company’s long-term
objectives. Accordingly, transactions by Directors and Executive Officers in put options, call options or other derivative securities, on an exchange or in any other organized
market, are prohibited by this Policy.

3.4. Hedging Transactions. Hedging or monetization transactions can be accomplished through a number of possible mechanisms, including through the use of financial
instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds. Such hedging transactions may permit a director or employee to continue to own
Company Securities obtained through incentive plans or otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the director or employee may no
longer have the same objectives as the Company’s other shareholders. Therefore, Directors and Executive Officers are prohibited from engaging in any such transactions.

3.5. Margin Accounts and Pledged Company Securities. Company Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the broker without the
customer’s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledger is aware of material
nonpublic information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in Company Securities, Directors and Executive Officers are prohibited from holding Company Securities in a
margin account or otherwise pledging Company Securities as collateral for a loan.

3.6. Standing and Limit Orders. Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10b5-1 Plans) create heightened risks for insider trading
violations similar to the use of margin accounts. There is no control over the timing of purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result
the broker could execute a transaction when a director or employee is in possession of material nonpublic information. Directors and Executive Officers are prohibited from
placing standing and limit orders. Employees on the insider trading list may place standing limit orders, but they must be cancelled prior to the beginning of the regular
quarterly closed window period described below.

4. Transactions Under Company Benefit Plans
4.1. Restricted Stock. This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock or the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which you elect to have the Company

withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of any restricted stock. The Policy does apply to any market sale of restricted stock.
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4.2. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) resulting from your
periodic contribution of money to the ESPP pursuant to the election you made at the time of your enrollment in the ESPP. This Policy does apply to your cancellation of
your participation in the ESPP and to your sales of Company Securities purchased pursuant to the ESPP.

4.3. Stock Option Exercises. This Policy does not apply to the exercise of an option via a stock swap or cash exercise. This Policy does apply to any sale of stock as part of a
broker-assisted cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale for the purpose of generating cash needed to pay the exercise price of an option.

5. Transactions by Family Members
5.1. This Policy applies to your family members who reside with you (including a spouse, a child, stepchildren, parents, stepparents, siblings and in-laws), anyone else who

lives in your household, and any family members who do not live in your household but whose transactions in Company Securities are directed by you or are subject to
your influence or control, such as parents or children who consult with you before they trade in Company Securities (collectively referred to as “Family Members”). You are
responsible for the transactions of these other persons and therefore should make them aware of the need to confer with you before they trade in Company Securities, and
you should treat all such transactions for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if the transactions were for your own account.

6. Confidentiality of Nonpublic Information
6.1. You must maintain the confidentiality of nonpublic information relating to Baker Hughes. You should share that information inside Baker Hughes only as necessary to

support the business objectives of the Company. Nonpublic information should be disclosed outside the Company only through established Company practices (such as
press releases and public earnings calls) or, if it is of significance, under a confidentiality agreement approved by the legal department.

6.2. Please keep in mind that the Company’s policy is not to comment publicly on market rumors. You should avoid any such comments and direct all inquiries regarding Baker
Hughes from investors, brokers, the press, securities analysts or investment advisors to the Investor Relations department. Do not respond to these inquiries otherwise.
When such nonpublic information is “material” additional duties attach to its handling.

6.3. Federal law and this Policy prohibit you from disclosing material nonpublic information relating to the Company to anyone who is likely to trade in the Company’s Securities
(“Tipping”).

6.4. Under federal law, private, selective disclosure of material, nonpublic information relating to the Company to anyone outside of the Company may give rise to an obligation
to publicize that information immediately. You should avoid these disclosures except on the advice of the Chief Legal Officer. This requires you to use discretion in
electronic communications and in public places where you may be overheard. To avoid serious violations of law, you must report any inadvertent disclosure of material,
nonpublic information to the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary immediately.

7. Trading Windows
7.1. Directors and employees that have been designated as insiders on the insider trading list (the “Insider Group”) are prohibited from trading in the Company’s Securities

during regularly scheduled closed window periods. The regularly scheduled closed window period will be communicated by the Legal Department through a published
trading calendar on an annual basis. Any changes to the trading calendar will be communicated promptly.
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7.2. Event-Specific Trading Restrictions. From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company and is known by only a few directors and employees. So
long as the event remains material and nonpublic, the persons designated by the Chief Legal Officer may not trade Company Securities. In addition, material developments
impacting the Company may occur in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the judgment of the Chief Legal Officer, make it advisable that designated persons should refrain
from trading in Company Securities outside of the regularly scheduled closed window periods described above. In that situation, the Chief Legal Officer or Corporate
Secretary may notify these persons that they should not trade in the Company’s Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction.

8. Pre-Clearance of Trades and 10b5-1 Plans
8.1. Section 16 D&O and members of the executive leadership team (the “ELT Members”) are required to pre-clear any trading in the Company’s Securities or Rule 10b5-1

plans with the Chief Legal Officer or Corporate Secretary.
8.2. Requests for pre-clearance of a trade or Rule 10b5-1 plan must be made via the Company Pre-Clearance Form managed by the Corporate Secretary’s office. The Pre-

Clearance Form must be completed at least 3 days before a trade or Rule 10b5-1 plan adoption.
8.3. When a request for pre-clearance is made, the requestor should carefully consider whether he or she may be aware of any material nonpublic information about the

Company. Section 16 D&O and ELT Members using Rule 10b5-1 plans must act in good faith with respect to the contract with the broker executing the trades, trading
instructions and the Rule 10b5-1 plan as a whole. A Section 16 D&O requestor should also indicate whether he or she has affected any non-exempt “opposite-way”
transactions (e.g., an open market sale would be “opposite” any open market purchase, and vice versa) within the past six months, and should be prepared to report the
proposed transaction on an appropriate Form 4 or Form 5. The requestor should also be prepared to comply with SEC Rule 144 and file Form 144, if necessary, at the time
of any sale.

8.4. Rule 10b5-1 plans submitted for pre-clearance must satisfy the below requirements:
• Material Nonpublic Information Certification. An individual desiring to enter into a Rule 10b5-1 plan must enter into the plan at a time when he or she is not

aware of any material nonpublic information about the Company. All Rule 10b5-1 plans must include a representation in the plan certifying that the Section 16
D&O or ELT Member requesting the new or modified plan, at the time of the adoption of the new or modified Rule 10b5-1 plan: (1) is not aware of material
nonpublic information about the Company or its securities, and (2) is adopting the contract, instruction, or plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme
to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b-5.

• Trading Window. Section 16 D&O and ELT Members may only establish a Rule 10b5-1 plan when the Company’s trading window is open.
• No Outside Trades. Once a plan is established, Section 16 D&O or ELT Members cannot enter into a corresponding or hedging position, as those may be

deemed a plan modification. Trades outside the Rule 10b5-1 plan cannot involves securities subject to such Rule 10b5-1 plan.
In addition, Section 16 D&O and ELT Members may not have another outstanding (and may not subsequently enter into any additional) contract, instruction or
plan that would qualify for the affirmative defense under Rule 10b5-1 for trades in any class of securities of the Company on the open market during the same
period.

 

 
Uncontrolled when printed or transmitted electronically Page 5 Baker Hughes – Company Confidential



BH-LGL-049 Rev: 3
Effective Date: 25 Jan 2023

Insider Trading Policy

 
 

• Waiting Period. To avoid even the appearance of impropriety, the Company requires a waiting period of (i) as to Section 16 D&O and ELT Members, the longer
of (a) 90 days between the date the Rule 10b5-1 plan is adopted or modified and the date of the first possible transaction under the plan and (b) the period that
ends two business days following filing of a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K by the Company covering the financial reporting period in which the plan was adopted or
modified, but in no event longer than 120 days, and (ii) as any other individuals with a Rule 10b5-1 plan, 30 days between the date the Rule 10b5-1 plan is
adopted or modified and the date of the first possible transaction under the plan.

• Stock Ownership Requirements. Directors and Executive Officers may not adopt Rule 10b5-1 plans that will prevent their compliance with the stock ownership
requirements outlined in the Company’s Governance Principles.

• Amendments, Suspensions and Early Terminations. Amendments, suspensions or early terminations of Rule 10b5-1 plans are strongly discouraged, as they
may interfere with the affirmative defense under Rule 10b5-1 and are only permitted under exceptional circumstances at a time when the person is not aware of
material nonpublic information. Any such amendments, suspensions or early terminations must be operated in good faith, and are subject to preclearance and
must be approved by the Chief Legal Officer or Corporate Secretary. If approved, the Section 16 D&O or ELT Member making the request will be subject to a
waiting period in accordance with the provision above between the date of the amendment or early termination and the date of the first trade thereafter, whether
under the original, amended or subsequent Rule 10b5-1 plan.
Amendments to Rule 10b5-1 plans that do not change the sales or purchase prices or price ranges, the amount of securities to be sold or purchased, or the
timing of the transactions under a Rule 10b5-1 plan (such as an adjustment for stock splits or a change in account information) will not trigger a new waiting
period.

8.5. The Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary are under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance and may determine not to permit a
transaction, even if it would not violate the federal securities laws or a specific provision of this Policy. The fact that a particular intended trade has been denied pre-
clearance should be treated as confidential information and should not be disclosed to any person unless authorized by the Chief Legal Officer or Corporate Secretary.

8.6. Those individuals who cease to be Section 16 D&O and/or ELT Members and continue to be employed by or associated with the Company shall remain on the pre-
clearance list for a period of 90 days from the time their access to ELT Member related information was terminated and/or that individual ceased to be a Section 16 D&O.

9. Section 16 SEC Reporting
9.1. Form 3, 4 and 5. Federal securities law requires the Company’s Section 16 D&O to make filings with the SEC upon becoming a Section 16 D&O and in connection with

any trading in the Company’s Securities (as well as on the grant of options or awards of restricted stock). Under federal law and this Policy, it is the responsibility of each
Section 16 D&O to timely make all required filings. There is no provision for an extension of the filing deadlines, and the SEC can take enforcement action against Section
16 D&Os who do not comply fully with the filing requirements. The Corporate Secretary’s office will explain the filing requirements to Section 16 D&O and assist with these
filings.
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9.2. Disgorgement of “Short-Swing” Transactions. Any profit realized by a Section 16 D&O on a “short-swing” transaction (i.e., a purchase and sale, or sale and purchase,
of the Company’s equity securities within a period of less than six months) must be disgorged to the Company upon demand by the Company or a stockholder acting on its
behalf. By law, the Company cannot waive or release any claim it may have under Section 16(b) or enter into an enforceable agreement to provide indemnification for
amounts recovered under the section. Liability under Section 16(b) is imposed in a mechanical fashion without regard to whether the Section 16 D&O intended to violate
the section.

9.3. The Section 16 rules are complicated and present ample opportunity for inadvertent error. To avoid unnecessary costs and potential embarrassment for insiders and the
Company, officers and directors are strongly urged to consult with the Company’s Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary, prior to engaging in any transaction or other
transfer of Company equity securities regarding the potential applicability of Section 16(b).

10. Prevention of Insider Trading Through Managerial Oversight
10.1. It is incumbent on each Baker Hughes’ supervisor to maintain an awareness of possible insider trading violations by persons under his or her control and to take

measures where appropriate to prevent those violations. If you become aware of the possibility of a violation, you should contact the Chief Legal Officer immediately.
11. Penalties for Violation

11.1. Employees who violate this Policy are subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. Violation of this Policy can also mean breaking the
law, subjecting you to criminal penalties (fines or jail sentences) or civil sanctions (damage awards or fines). The Company could also be subjected to significant civil
liability and fines.

12. Reporting of Violations
12.1. Any person who violates this Policy or any federal or state law governing insider trading or tipping, or who knows of or reasonably suspects any such violation by another

person, should report the matter immediately to the Chief Legal Officer. Employees are obligated to report suspected and actual violations of Company policy or the law.
Doing so brings the concern into the open so that it can be resolved quickly and more serious harm can be prevented. Failure to do so could result in disciplinary action up
to and including termination of employment.

Prior Policies Superseded
12.2. This Policy amends and supersedes any and all prior policies pertaining to securities trading.

Reporting Concerns
If you are concerned there may have been violations in conformance with this procedure or others please report your concern to your manager. If you do not feel comfortable
going to your manager, contact HR, Legal, Compliance, the Ombuds, or use the Open Reporting Center.
Remember that Baker Hughes does not tolerate retaliation in any form. If you feel you have been retaliated against for raising a concern, please report it using one of the
channels above. Baker Hughes takes all allegations of retaliation very seriously.

Reference
• BH-QUA-002 BH QMS Transition Policy
• BH-QUA-003 BH Quality Manual
• BH-QUA-013 Control of Records
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Compliance Requirements
Refer to BH-QUA-002 for details on Baker Hughes QMS Transition.
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Exhibit 21.1

Baker Hughes Company
SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES

December 31, 2023
 

 
Subsidiary

 
Jurisdiction Percentage Ownership

EHHC NewCo LLC Delaware 100%
CFC Holdings LLC Delaware 100%
    Baker Hughes Holdings LLC Delaware 100%

Baker Hughes Energy Services LLC Delaware 100%
Baker Hughes Energy Manufacturing LLC Delaware 100%

Baker Hughes International Branches LLC Delaware 100%
Baker Hughes International Holdings LLC Delaware 100%

Baker Hughes Holdings SECS LLC Delaware 100%
Baker Hughes Energy International B.V. Netherlands 100%

Baker Hughes Energy Europe B.V. Netherlands 100%
Nuovo Pignone Holding S.p.a. Italy Note (1)

Nuova Pignone International S.r.l. Italy 100%
Nuovo Pignone S.r.l. Italy 100%

Notes:

(1) Nuovo Pignone Holding S.p.a.
Baker Hughes Energy Europe B.V.             83.7387    %
Other subsidiaries of Baker Hughes Holdings LLC             16.2458    %
Third Party 0.0155    %



EXHIBIT 23.1

 
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-256119) on Form S-8 and (No. 333-275865) on Form S-3 of our reports dated February 5,
2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Baker Hughes Company and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas

February 5, 2024

    

 



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Lorenzo Simonelli, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Baker Hughes Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 5, 2024 By: /s/ Lorenzo Simonelli
Lorenzo Simonelli
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Nancy Buese, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Baker Hughes Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 5, 2024 By: /s/ Nancy Buese
Nancy Buese
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Baker Hughes Company (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Lorenzo Simonelli, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Nancy Buese, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, each of the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(i) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(ii) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the

periods expressed in the Report.

The certification is given to the knowledge of the undersigned.

/s/ Lorenzo Simonelli
Name: Lorenzo Simonelli
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 5, 2024

/s/ Nancy Buese
Name: Nancy Buese
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 5, 2024



Exhibit 95

Mine Safety Disclosure

The following disclosures are provided pursuant to Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K, which require certain
disclosures by companies required to file periodic reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that operate mines regulated under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977.

The table that follows reflects citations, orders, violations and proposed assessments issued by the Mine Safety and Health Administration (the “MSHA”) for each mine of which Baker Hughes
Company and/or its subsidiaries is an operator. The disclosure is with respect to the full year 2023. Due to timing and other factors, the data may not agree with the mine data retrieval system
maintained by the MSHA at www.MSHA.gov.

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Mine or Operating Name/MSHA 
 Identification Number

Section 
 104 S&S 
 Citations

Section 
 104(b) 
 Orders

Section 
 104(d) 
 Citations 
 and 

 Orders

Section 
 110(b)(2) 
 Violations

Section 
 107(a) 
 Orders

Proposed
 MSHA

 Assessments 

Mining 
 Related 
 Fatalities

Received 
 Notice of 
 Pattern of 
 Violations 
 Under 

 Section 
 104(e) 
 (yes/no)

Received 
 Notice of 
 Potential to

Have 
 Pattern 
 Under 
 Section 
 104(e) 
 (yes/no)

Legal 
 Actions 
 Pending 
 as of Last 
 Day of 

 Period

Legal 
 Actions 
 Initiated 
 During 
 Period

Legal 
 Actions 
 Resolved 
 During 

 Period

Morgan City Grinding Plant/1601357 3 — — — — $ 1,097 — N N — — —
Argenta Mine and Mill/2601152 — — — — — $ — — N N — — —

Amounts included are the total dollar value of proposed assessments received from MSHA on or before December 31, 2023 for citations and orders occurring during the year ended December 31, 2023, regardless of whether the
assessment has been challenged or appealed. Citations and orders can be contested and appealed, and as part of that process, are sometimes reduced in severity and amount, and sometimes dismissed. The number of citations, orders, and
proposed assessments vary by inspector and also vary depending on the size and type of the operation.

(1)

(1)



Exhibit 97

BAKER HUGHES COMPANY
RECOVERY OF COMPENSATION POLICY

Adopted October 25, 2023

INTRODUCTION
This Recovery of Compensation Policy adopted by the Board of Directors of Baker Hughes Company on the recommendation of the Human Capital and Compensation Committee
of Baker Hughes Company outlines the general principles the Human Capital and Compensation Committee or, as appropriate, the Board of Directors, will apply in requiring
certain compensation to be repaid to Baker Hughes Company or its subsidiary in the event of:

• Certain accounting restatements of the Company’s financial statement(s) without regard to fault; or
• Fraud, embezzlement or other misconduct detrimental to the Company.

DEFINITIONS
For purposes of this Policy, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

• “Accounting Restatement” shall mean an accounting restatement of the Company due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting
requirement under securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a
material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period.

• “Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.
• “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and regulations thereunder.
• “Covered Executive” means the Company’s current and former executive officers as determined by the Company in accordance with the definition of executive officer

set forth in Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act and related listing standards of the Exchange or Association.
• “Company” shall mean Baker Hughes Company.
• “Dodd-Frank Act” shall mean the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the rules and regulations issued by the Securities

Exchange Commission thereunder.
• “Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation” shall mean the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation Received During the Relevant Recovery Period

that exceeds the amount of Incentive- Based Compensation that otherwise would have been Received for the relevant recovery period had it been determined based on
the restated amounts, and must be computed without regard to any



taxes paid. For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of erroneously awarded compensation is not subject
to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in an Accounting Restatement (1) the amount must be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the
Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received, and (2) the Company must maintain
documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the Exchange or Association.

• “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and the rules and regulations issued by the Securities Exchange Commission
thereunder.

• “Exchange or Association” shall mean the national securities exchange or a national securities
association on which the Company has a class of securities issued.

• “Financial Reporting Measure” shall mean a measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s
financial statements, and any measure that is derived wholly or in part from such a measure. Stock price and total shareholder return are also financial reporting
measures. A Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented within the financial statements or included in a filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

• “HCC Committee” shall mean the Human Capital and Compensation Committee of Baker Hughes
Company.

• “Incentive-Based Compensation” shall mean all compensation from the Company and any of its Subsidiaries that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in
part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

• “Incentive-Based Compensation Received During the Relevant Recovery Period” means all Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a person (1) after
beginning service as an Covered Executive, (2) who served as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance period for that Incentive-Based Compensation,
(3) while the Company has a class of securities listed on an Exchange or Association, and (4) during the three completed fiscal years of the Company immediately
preceding the date the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement or during any Transition Period. For purposes of determining the relevant recovery
period, the date that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement is the earlier to occur of (1) the date the Board, a committee of the Board, or the
officer or officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is
required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (2) the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting
Restatement.

• “Misconduct” shall mean fraud, embezzlement or other misconduct that is detrimental to the Company. Determinations of Misconduct for purposes of this Policy shall
be made by the Board (or its delegate) in its sole and absolute discretion. The Board (or its delegate) shall not be bound by any determination by management that a
Covered Executive has or has not met any particular standard of conduct under law or Company policy.



• “Overpayment’” shall mean the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that the HCC Committee determines is subject to Recoupment under this Policy.
• “Policy” shall mean this Recovery of Compensation Policy.
• “Received” shall have the meaning ascribed to that term in 17 CFR 240.10D-1(d) (commonly referred to as Section 10D of the Exchange Act). Accordingly, Incentive-

Based Compensation is deemed received in the Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation
award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the Incentive- Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

• “Recoupment” shall mean forfeiture, repayment or other recovery, as applicable.
• “Relevant Administrator” shall mean the HCC Committee in the case of the enforcement and administration of this Policy related to Recovery of Erroneously Awarded

Incentive-Based Compensation pursuant to Section 954 and related listing standards of the Exchange or Association. “Relevant Administrator” shall mean the Board (or
its delegate) in the case of the enforcement and administration of this Policy for all other recoveries.

• “Section 954” shall mean Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Act, which added Section 10D of the Exchange Act.
• “Subsidiaries” shall mean any firms, partnerships, associations, corporations, limited liability companies, companies, or entities that, directly or indirectly are controlled

by, or is under common control with, the Company. The term “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”) as used in the preceding
sentence means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of management and policies of the entity, whether through the
ownership of voting securities, by contract, or otherwise.

• “Transition Period” shall mean any transition period that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year within or immediately following the three completed fiscal
years identified in clause (4) of the definition of “Incentive-Based Compensation Received During the Relevant Recovery Period.” However, a transition period between
the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year end and the first day of its new fiscal year that comprises a period of nine to 12 months shall be deemed to be a
completed fiscal year for purposes of clause (4) of the definition of “Incentive-Based Compensation Received During the Relevant Recovery Period.”

EFFECTIVE DATE

This Policy shall apply to all Incentive-Based Compensation Received on or after October 2, 2023 irrespective of the dates of grant of such Incentive-Based Compensation.



RECOUPMENT OF INCENTIVE-BASED COMPENSATION
Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation Pursuant to Section 954 and Related Listing Standards of the
Exchange or Association: No Fault Required Except as specified herein, if the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, the Company will
recover reasonably promptly the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation of all persons who are, or were, Covered Executives. The Company’s
obligation to recover Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation is not dependent on if or when the restated financial statements are filed.

The Company is not required to recover Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation to the extent one of the conditions specified in the following sentence is satisfied
and the HCC Committee has made a determination that recovery would be impracticable. The conditions referred to in the preceding sentence are: (1) the direct expense paid to
a third party to assist in enforcing this policy would exceed the amount to be recovered, (2) recovery would violate home country law where the law was adopted prior to
November 28, 2022, or (3) recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company and its
Subsidiaries to fail to meet the requirements of section 401(a)(13) or section 411(a) of the Code. Before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of
Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation based on expense of enforcement, the Company must make a reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded
Incentive-Based Compensation, document such reasonable attempt(s) to recover, and provide that documentation to the Exchange or Association. Before concluding that it
would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation based on violation of home country law, the Company must obtain an
opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to the Exchange or Association, that recovery would result in such a violation, and must provide such opinion to the Exchange or
Association.

Fraud, Embezzlement or Other Misconduct
Without limiting the foregoing provisions relating to Recoupments pursuant to Section 954 and related listing standards of the Exchange or Association, if the Board (or its
delegate) determines that a Covered Executive committed Misconduct and that such Misconduct resulted in a material inaccuracy in the Company’s financial statements or a
material inaccuracy in the performance metrics used for Incentive- Based Compensation of the Covered Executive, the Board (or its delegate) will have discretion to seek
Recoupment of all, a portion, or no portion, of such Incentive-Based Compensation that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that otherwise would have been
received for the relevant recovery period had it been determined based on the restated or correct amounts, and may be computed without regard to any taxes paid. In
determining the extent to which it will seek Recoupment due to Misconduct (if at all), the Board (or its delegate) may take into account such factors as it deems appropriate in its
sole discretion. Such factors may include, without limitation, whether the amounts of the excess Incentive-Based Compensation is material, whether the Board (or its delegate)
believes that the expenses of pursuing Recoupments may exceed potential recoveries, and whether the Board (or its



delegate) believes that pursuing Recoupments may disrupt positive working relationships and distractions of focus to the possible financial detriment of the Company.

MEANS OF RECOVERY
If the Relevant Administrator determines Recoupment of Incentive-Based Compensation is required under this Policy, or if it determines that Recoupment is not required but is
appropriate under this Policy, without limiting any other provisions of this Policy, the Relevant Administrator has discretion to determine how to accomplish recovery of Incentive-
Based Compensation under this Policy. In the discretion of the Relevant Administrator, for a given overpayment, in addition to other available remedies and to the extent
allowable under applicable law, the Relevant Administrator may demand that the Covered Executive reimburse the Company or its Subsidiary for some or all of the Overpayment,
cancel outstanding stock-based awards with a value equivalent to some or all of the Overpayment or enforce the repayment through the reduction or cancellation of outstanding
and future Incentive-Based Compensation. The Relevant Administrator shall strive to take into account whether a particular means of recovery would result in a prohibited
acceleration of payment of deferred compensation under section 409A of the Code or could otherwise result in adverse tax consequences for a person but the Relevant
Administrator’s discretion concerning the means of recovery is not limited to those means of recovery that would not result in adverse tax consequences for the affected person.

PROHIBITION AGAINST INDEMNIFYING COVERED EXECUTIVES AGAINST THE LOSS OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED
INCENTIVE-BASED COMPENSATION
Notwithstanding the provisions of any agreement, the Company will not indemnify, or purchase insurance for, any current or former Covered Executive against the loss of
Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
In the discretion of the Company, future awards of Incentive-Based Compensation may be conditioned upon a grantee acknowledging and accepting this Policy in writing.

ENFORCEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION
The HCC Committee is responsible for the enforcement and administration of this Policy related to Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation pursuant to
Section 954 and related listing standards of the Exchange or Association. The Board is responsible for the enforcement and administration of this Policy related to all other
recoveries. The Board may delegate its responsibilities and authorities under this Policy to a committee of the Board. The determinations of the HCC Committee, or the Board (or



its delegate) in the enforcement and administration of this Policy shall be final and binding on all persons to the maximum extent permitted under applicable laws.

SEVERABILITY
If any provision of this Policy or the application of any such provision to any Covered Executive shall be adjudicated to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such
invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Policy, and the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions shall be deemed amended to the
minimum extent necessary to render any such provision or application enforceable.

NO IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER REMEDIES
This Policy does not preclude the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from taking any other action to enforce a Covered Executive’s obligations to the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, including the institution of civil or criminal proceedings. Further, this Policy does not preclude the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from terminating the
employment of any Covered Executive as a result of the misconduct of the Covered Executive.

This Policy is in addition to the requirements of Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that are applicable to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer.

This Policy does not nullify any forfeiture for cause provisions of Incentive-Based Compensation awards.

WAIVERS AND AMENDMENTS
This Policy may be waived, amended, modified or rescinded at any time at the sole discretion of the HCC Committee; provided, however, that no such waiver, amendment,
modification or rescission shall be effected that would result in a violation of Section 954 and related listing standards of the Exchange or Association.

INTERPRETATIONS
The provisions of this Policy relating to Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation are to be interpreted to be coextensive with the requirements of Section 954
and related listing standards of the Exchange or Association.


